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Independent Auditor Ċs Report  

 

Paredes, Burga & Asociados  
Sociedad Civil de Responsabilidad Limitada  

To the Shareholders of Intercorp Perú Ltd.  

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Intercorp Perú Ltd. (a 

holding company incorporated in The Bahamas) and its Subsidiaries, which comprise the 

consolidated statements of financial position  as of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, and the 

consolidated income statements , the consolidated statement s of other  comprehensive income, the 

consolidated statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the 

years then ended, and the summary of significant accounting policie s and other explanatory notes.  

 

bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ¨z©¦¥¤©~w~¢~ª¯ {¥¨ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy financial statements  

 

Management of Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries is responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with  the International 

Financial Reporting Standards  issued by the International Accounting Standards Board , and for such 

internal control that  Management deems necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whet her due to fraud or error .  

 

V«y~ª¥¨Ċ© responsibility  

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing approved 

for application in Per u by the Board of Deans of Associations of Peruvian Certified Public 

Accountants . Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements are free from mat erial misstatements.   

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditorĊs judgment, including the assessment of the r isk of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making th is risk assessment, 

the auditor considers the internal control that is relevant to the Company in the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate under the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control  of t he Company and its Subsidiaries. Our audit  also include 

evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated fin ancial statements.  
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Independent Auditor Ċs Report (continued)  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion.  

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion , the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly , in all  material  

respects, the consolidated financial position of Intercorp  Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries as of December 

31, 201 6 and 2015 , as well as the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated 

cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

 

 

Lima, Peru,   

March 24 , 20 17 

 

 

Countersigned by:  

 

 

 

 

  

Antonio Benites  

C.P.C.C. Register No. 12-157 7 



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish ą Note 37  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements . 

Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries  

Consolidated statements of financial position  
As of December 31 , 201 6 and 2015  

 Note  2016  2015  
   S/(000)  S/(000)  
    

Assets     

Cash and due from banks  4   

Cash and clearing  1,575,924  1,714,916  

Deposits in the Central Reserve Bank of Peru  5,331,244  6,090,647  

Deposits in local and foreign banks   1,828,881  1,163,985  

Restricted funds   3,315,482  3,693,643  
  ____________ ____________ 

      12,051,531  12,663,191  

    

Inter -bank funds  5,002  245,028  

Trading securities   220,333  131,794  

Available-for -sale investments  5(a) 9,454,014  8,080,230  

Held-to-maturity investments  5(h) 611,293  479,561  
    

Loans, net  6 27,285,678  26,035,932  
    

Investment property  7 3,208,769  3,038,549  
    

Inventories, net  8 1,462,307  1,322,598  
    

Property, furniture  and equipment, net  9 5,631,179  5,247,601  
    

Due from customers on acceptances   16,392  25,357  
    

Accounts receivable and other assets, net  10  1,685,461  1,867,596  
    

Goodwill, trademark and other intangible assets, net  10(j) 1,876,932  1,807,518  
    

Deferred Income Tax asset, net  15 199,967  184,347  
  ____________ ____________ 

  51,657,327  48,466,111  
  ____________ ____________ 

    

Total assets   63,708,858  61,129,302  
  ____________ ____________ 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 Note  2016  2015  
  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

Liabilities     

Deposits and obligations  11 29,933,851  28,282,113  
    

Inter -bank funds  332,255  - 
    

Due to banks and correspondents  12 6,948,688  7,768,674  
    

Bonds, notes and other obligations  13 8,375,513  8,399,537  

Due from customers on acceptances  16,392  25,357  

Insurance contract liabilities  14 5,010,513  4,477,089  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  10 3,839,757  3,806,151  

Deferred Income Tax liability, net  15 383,211  356,862  
  ____________ ____________ 

Total liabilities   54,840,180  53,115,783  
  ____________ ____________ 
    
    
    
    

Equity , net  16   

Z§«~ª¯ vªª¨~w«ªvw¢z ª¥ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨Ò aªyCĉ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©O    

Capital stock  3,041,307  2,536,133  

Reserves   2,336,014  2,336,014  

Unrealized results   (44,648)  (323,250)  

Retained earnings  996,324  1,056,746  
  ____________ ____________ 

  6,328,997  5,605,643  
    
    
    
    

    

Non-controlling interest   2,539,681  2,407,876  
  ____________ ____________ 

Total equity , net   8,868,678  8,013,519  
  ____________ ____________ 

    

Total liabilities and equity  net   63,708,858  61,129,302  
  ____________ ____________ 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries  

Consolidated income statements  
For the years ended December 31, 201 6 and 201 5 

 Note  2016  2015  
  S/(000)  S/(000)  
    

Interest and similar income  19  4,028,805  3,576,470  

Interest and similar expenses  19  (1,461,139)  (1,380,808)    ___________ ___________ 

Net Interest and similar income   2,567,666  2,195,662  

Provision for loan losses, net of recoveries  6(c) (864,539)  (718,505)    ___________ ___________ 

Net interest after provision for loan losses, net of recoveries   1,703,127  1,477,157      

Gross profit from retail business  22  2,360,594  2,116,828  

Fee income from financial services, net  23  859,052  817,534  

Net gain on foreign exchange transactions   264,184  521,194  

Net gain on sale of securities   102,559  127,602  

Net loss on trading securities   (39,159)   (111,255)  

Income from educational services   470,439  359,706  

Income from rental of investment property   255,594  248,686  

Gain on sale and valuation of investment property, net   4,707  117,825  

Others 26  134,588  140,770    ___________ ___________ 

Total other income   4,412,558  4,338,890    ___________ ___________ 

Insurance premiums and claims     

Net premiums earned  24  70,120  363,503  

Claims and benefits incurred for life insurance contracts and others  25  (318,200)  (258,911)    ___________ ___________ 

Total net premiums earned minus  claims and benefits   (248,080)  104,592    ___________ ___________ 

Other expenses     

Salaries and employee benefits  20  (1,820,584)  (1,674,654)  

Selling and administrative expenses  21  (2,015,293)  (1,908,043)  

Depreciation and amortization  9-10(j)  (421,214)  (360,869)  

Impairment loss on available -for -sale investments   5(c) (28,616)  (97,957)  

Expenses related to rental income   (1,091)  (811)  

Others 26  (157,158)   (138,848)    ___________ ___________ 

Total other expenses   (4,443,956)  (4,181,182)    ___________ ___________ 

Income before translation result and Income Tax   1,423,649  1,739,457  

Translation result   7,537  (346,875)  

Income Tax  (512,650)  (426,371)    ___________ ___________ 

Net profit for the year   918,536  966,211    ___________ ___________ 

Attributable to:     

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨Òĉ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©  654,539  665,356  

Non-controlling interest   263,997  300,855    ___________ ___________ 

  918,536  966,211    ___________ ___________ 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (A and B classes) attributable 

ª¥ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨ÒĊ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨© =~¤ h¥¢z©> 27 4.39  4.50    ___________ ___________ 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares (A and B classes) 

adjusted for stock split (in thousands)  27 149,019  147,985    ___________ ___________ 



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in  

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiari es 

Consolidated statements of  other  comprehensive income  
For the years ended December 31, 201 6 and 201 5 

 Note 2016  2015  
  S/(000)  S/(000)  
    

Net profit for the year   918,536  966,211  

    

Other comprehensive income     

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to the 

consolidated income statements in subsequent periods:  16(e)    
    

Net gain (loss) on available-for -sale investments   372,149  (539,871)  

Income Tax  (3,803)  1,813  
  __________ __________ 

  368,346  (538,058)  

    

Net movement on cash flow hedges  16(e)  2,324  3,867  

Income Tax  (568)  (896)  
  __________ __________ 

  1,756  2,971  

    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  16(e)  (10,079)  57,243  
  __________ __________ 

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to the 

consolidated income statements in subsequent periods, net 

of Income Tax  360,023  (477,844)    __________ __________ 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of Income Tax  1,278,559  488,367  
  __________ __________ 

    

Attributable to:     

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨Òĉ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©  933,141  302,748  

Non-controlling interest   345,418  185,619  
  __________ __________ 

    

  1,278,559  488,367    __________ __________ 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries  

Consolidated statements of changes in equity  
For the years ended December 31, 201 6 and 2015  

 
Number of shares  

   
Unrealized results  

  
  

 _______________________________    ___________________________________________________     

 
Issued In treasury  Capital stock  Treasury stock  Reserves 

Available -for -

sale investments  

Cash flow 

hedges 

Exchange 

differences on 
translation of 

foreign 

operations  

Retained 

earnings  Total  

Non-controlling 

interest  Total equity  

 
(in thousands) (in thousands)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

             

Balance as of January 1, 2015  149,019  (1,834)  2,079,390  (19,347)  2,282,757  55,646  (2,629)  (13,659)  975,372  5,357,530  2,319,527  7,677,057  

Net profit for the year  - - - - - - - - 665,356  665,356  300,855  966,211  

Other comprehensive income  - - - - - (407,170)  2,275  42,287  - (362,608)  (115,236)  (477,844)  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total other comprehensive income - - - - - (407,170)  2,275  42,287  665,356  302,748  185,619  488,367  

Dividends declared, Note 16(a)  - - - - - - - - (95,490)  (95,490)  - (95,490)  

Dividends declared to non-controlling interest of Subsidiaries  - - - - - - - - - - (128,719)  (128,719)  

Capital contribution from non -controlling interest in 

Subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 50,109  50,109  

Net change of treasury stock held by Subsidiaries, net of 

dividends received - - - - - - - - (28,137)  (28,137)  (8,425)  (36,562)  

Capitalization and transfer to reserve, Notes 16(a) y (c)  - - 456,743  - 53,257  - - - (510,000)  - - - 

Z{{zxª ¥{ x}v¤|z ~¤ h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ ©}v¨z}¥¢y~¤| - - - - - - - - 17,874  17,874  (17,874)  - 

Purchase of treasury stock  - (351)  - (7,405)  - - - - - (7,405)  (2,217)  (9,622)  

Sale of treasury stock  - 2,185  - 26,752  - - - - 32,379  59,131  17,705  76,836  

Others - - - - - - - - (608)  (608)  (7,849)  (8,457)  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Balance as of December 31, 2015  149,019  - 2,536,133  - 2,336,014  (351,524)  (354)  28,628  1,056,746  5,605,643  2,407,876  8,013,519  

             

Net profit for the year  - - - - - - - - 654,539  654,539  263,997  918,536  

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 284,879  1,377  (7,654)  - 278,602  81,421  360,023  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total other comprehensive income - - - - - 284,879  1,377  (7,654)  654,539  933,141  345,418  1,278,559  

Dividends declared, Note 16(a)  - - - - - - - - (101,700)  (101,700)  - (101,700)  

Dividends declared to non-controlling interest of Subsidiaries  - - - - - - - - - - (108,879)  (108,879)  

Capital contribution from non -controlling interest in 

Subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 47,964  47,964  

Net change of treasury stock held by Subsidiaries, net of 

dividends received - - - - - - - - (190,748)  (190,748)  (59,253)  (250,001)  

Income capitalization , Note 16(a)  - - 505,174  - - - - - (505,174)  - - - 

Z{{zxª ¥{ x}v¤|z ~¤ h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ ©}v¨z}¥¢y~¤| - - - - - - - - 87,933  87,933  (87,933)  - 

Others - - - - - - - - (5,272)  (5,272)  (5,512)  (10,784)  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

             

Balance as of December 31, 2016  149,019  - 3,041,307  - 2,336,014  (66,645)  1,023  20,974  996,324  6,328,997  2,539,681  8,868,678  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 

 



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in  

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

 

Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries  

Consolidated statements of cash flows  
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015  

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Reconciliation of net profit with cash from operating activities    

Net profit  for the year  918,536  966,211  

Adjustments to net profit    

Plus (minus )   

Provision for loan losses, net of recoveries  864,539  718,505  

Depreciation of property, furniture  and equipment  325,720  291,571  

Amortization of intangible assets  95,494  69,298  

Deferred Income Tax 9,215  (10,601)  

Gain on sale of securities (102,559)  (127,602)  

Impairment loss on available -for -sale investments  28,616  97,957  

Net loss on trading securities  39,159  111,255  

Gain on sale and valuation of investment property , net (4,707)  (117,825)  

Translation result  (7,537)  346,875  

Provision for impairment of inventories  net of recoveries  18,880  19,553  

Decrease in accrued interest  payable  (18,795)  (27,526)  

Increase in accrued interest receivable (23,307)  (72,489)  

   

Net changes in assets and liabilities    

Net increase in loans (2,099,100)  (4,210,975)  

Net increase in trading securities  (88,539)  (95,489)  

Net increase of inventories  (158,589)  (127,045)  

Decrease (increase) in restricted funds  378,161  (2,669,200)  

Net increase in deposits and obligations  1,674,987  5,113,240  

Net decrease in other assets  222,633  26,748  

Net increase in other liabilities  558,925  1,004,839  
 __________ __________ 

   

Net cash provided by operating activities  2,631,732  1,307,300  
  __________ __________ 
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Consolidated statements of cash flows  (continued)  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   
Cash flow from investing activities    

Net purchase of available -for -sale investment and held -to-maturity  (1,094,933)  (984,470)  

Net purchases of investment property  (159,857)  (286,946)  

Purchase of property, furniture  and equipment  (740,502)  (712,953)  

Purchase of intangible assets  (177,033)  (135,549)  
 ___________ ___________ 

   

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,172,325)  (2,119,918)  
 ___________ ___________ 

   

Cash flow from financing activities    

Net (decrease) increase in due to banks and correspondents  (802,617)  3,580,703  

Net (decrease) increase in bonds, notes and other obligations  (45,847)  528,251  

Net decrease in inter -bank funds assets 240,026  65,002  

Net increase in inter -bank funds liabilities  332,255  - 

Payment of dividends to shareholders  (102,075)  (70,732)  

Payment of dividends to non -controlling interest of Subsidiaries  (108,879)  (128,719)  

Net income for purchase/sale of treasury stock of Subsidiaries  (250,001)  (36,562)  

Capital contribution from non -controlling interest  47,964  50,109  

Sale of treasury stock  - 67,214  

Purchase of non-controlling interest  (3,732)  - 
 __________ __________ 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  (692,906)  4,055,266  
 __________ __________ 

   

Net (decrease) increase of cash and cash equivalent  (233,499)  3,242,648  

Cash at the beginning of the year  8,969,548  5,726,900  
 __________ __________ 

   

Cash at the end of the year  8,736,049  8,969,548  
  __________ __________ 
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Intercorp Perú Ltd. and Subsidiaries  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
As of December 31, 201 6 and 2015  

  1. Business activity  

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨Ò aªyCA }z¤xz{¥¨ª} ć^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨ÒĈ ¥¨ ćª}z X¥£¦v¤¯ĈA ~© v ¢~£~ªzy ¢~vw~¢~ª¯ }¥¢y~¤| 

company incorporated in November 1997 in The Commonwealth of the Bahamas. Intercorp Perú 

pz¨{¥¨£© v© v }¥¢y~¤| ¥{ ª}z |¨¥«¦ ¥{ h«w©~y~v¨~z© ¥{ ª}z yz¤¥£~¤vªzy ć^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦ĈA ª}«© 

coordinating their policies and management. Intercorp Perú also operates as an investm ent company, 

investing in all  types of securities.  

 

i}z X¥£¦v¤¯Ċ© ¢z|v¢ vyy¨zss is Sassoon House Shirley Street & Victoria Avenue, Nassau, the Bahamas. 

Management and its administrative offices are located at Av. Carlos Villarán 140, Urb. Santa Catalina, 

La Victoria, Lima, Peru.  

 

The operations of Intercorp Perú and its Subsidiarie s are concentrated mainly  in Peru, the Bahamas and 

the Republic of Panama; with activities in the financial, insurance, retail,  real estate  and educational 

industries . The most important activities and data of the  Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 

2015 , are disclosed in Note 2.  

 

The consolidated financial statements of Intercorp Per ú and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015, 

and for the year then ended,  were approved by the Board of Directors on May 24, 2016. The 

consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2016 , and for the year then ended, were 

approved by Management on February 22, 2017, and they will be submitted for approval by the Board 

of Directors within the deadline established by law. In Management's opinion, the accomp anying 

consolidated financial statements will be approved by the Board of D irectors without modifications.  

 

2. Organization of Intercorp Perú Group 

Below is the information about  the entities  that are part of Intercorp  Group. 

 

2.1 Financial and insurance entities  

Intercorp Financial Services Inc.  (}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ć^[hĈ) 

It is a limited liability holding, incorporated in September 2006 in the Republic of Panama, in 

order to group the companies of Intercorp Group engaged in financial and insurance business. 

 

As of December 31, 2016, the Company holds directly and indirectly 79.78 percent of the issued 

capital stock of IFS and 78.61 percent of the outstanding capital of IFS (as of December 31, 

2015, the Company held direct and indirectly 78 .08 percent and 77.22 percent, respectively). 

i}z ¦z¨xz¤ªv|z ¥{ ~¤y~¨zxª ¦v¨ª~x~¦vª~¥¤ ¥¬z¨ ^[hĊ xv¦~ªv¢ ©ª¥x¡ ~© }z¢y w¯ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨Ò ª}¨¥«|} 

its subsidiaries IFH Capital Corp. and Intercorp Capital Investments Inc., in which Intercorp Perú 

holds 100 pe rcent of their capital stock and, at the same time, each of these subsidiaries hold 

MCKG ¦z¨xz¤ª ¥{ ^[hĊ xv¦~ªv¢ ©ª¥x¡C 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

 

2 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, IFS holds 99.30 percent of the outstanding capital stock of 

Banco Internacional del Perú S.A.A. ą Interbank (henceforth ć^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ĉ ¥¨ ćª}z Wv¤¡Ĉ> and 100 

percent of the outstanding capital stock of Interseguro Compañía de Seguros S.A. (henceforth 

ć^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ĉ> v¤y ¥{ ª}z xv¦~ªv¢ ©ª¥x¡ ¥{ ^¤ªz¢~|¥ \¨¥«¦ =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ć^¤ªz¢~|¥Ĉ>C 

 

The Subsidiaries of IFS and their economic activit ies are presented below: 

 

(i) Banco Internacional del Perú S.A.A. - Interbank and Subsidiaries  

Interbank is incorporated in Peru and is authorized by the Superintendence of Banking, 

Insurance and Private Pension Funds Administrato ¨© =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ćhWhĈA w¯ ~ª© h¦v¤~©} 

acronym) to operate as a universal bank in accordance with Peruvian legislation. 

Interbank's operations are governed by the General Act of the Financial and Insurance 

System and the Organic Act of the Superintendence of  Banks and Insurance SBS - Act 

GKLEG =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ª}z ćWv¤¡~¤| v¤y ^¤©«¨v¤xz VxªĈ>A ª}vª z©ªvw¢~©}z© ª}z ¨z§«~¨z£z¤ª©A 

rights, obligations, restrictions and other operating conditions that Peruvian financial and 

insurance entities must comply with . 

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Interbank had 282 and 290 offices, respectively, 

and a branch established in the Republic of Panama. Additionally, it holds 100 percent of 

the shares of the following Subsidiaries : 

 

Entity  Activity    

Interfondos  S.A. Sociedad Administradora de Fondos Management of mutual funds and investment 

funds.  

  

Internacional de Títulos Sociedad Titulizadora S.A. - 

Intertítulos S.T.  

Management of securitization funds.  

  

Inversiones Huancavelica S.A. Real estate activities.  

  

Contacto Servicios Integrales de Créditos y Cobranzas 

S.A. 

Collection services.  

  

Corporación Inmobiliaria de La Unión 600 S.A.  Real estate activities.  

  

Compañía de Servicios Conexos Expressnet S.A.C. Services related to credit card transactions or 

¦¨¥y«xª© ¨z¢vªzy ª¥ ª}z w¨v¤y ćV£z¨~xv¤ 

Z®¦¨z©©ĈC  

  

IBK DPR Securitizadora A consolidated special purpose entity (SPE), by 

which Interbank issued negotiable long -term 

notes which matured in 2016.  
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(ii)  Interseguro Compañía de Seguros S.A. and Subsidiaries 

Interseguro is incorporated in Peru and its operations are governed by the Banking and 

Insurance Act. It is authorized by the SBS to issue life and general risk insurance 

contracts.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Interseguro controls the following Subsidiaries:  

 
Entity  Activity    

Centro Comercial Estación Central S.A.  Administration of the "Estación CentralĈ Shoping 

Mall, located in downtown Lima; as of December 

31, 2016 and 2015, Interseguro  holds 75 

percent of its capital stock and Real Plaza S.R.L., 

a Subsidiary belonging to the retail and real 

estate business of the Group (see Note 2.2) holds 

the remaining 25 percent.  

  

Empresa Administradora Hipotecaria IS S.A.  Was incorporated in February 2014 in Peru. It does 

not have operations and is in the process of 

liquidation. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

Interseguro holds 100 percent of its shares and 

has a paid in capital of S/1 and S/2,550, 

respectively.  

 

Likewise, Interseguro  holds contributions in Patrimonio Fideicometido D.S.093 -2002 -EF, 

^¤ªz¨¦¨¥¦z¨ª~z© ez¨Ò =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ćevª¨~£¥¤~¥ [~yz~x¥£zª~y¥ ą ^¤ªz¨¦¨¥¦z¨ª~z© ez¨ÒĈ>A ª}vª 

is a structured entity, incorporated in April 2008, and in which several investors (related 

parties to the Intercorp Group) contributed investment properties; each investor or 

investors have ownership of and specific control over the contributed investment 

¦¨¥¦z¨ª¯C [¥¨ vxx¥«¤ª~¤| ¦«¨¦¥©z© v¤y «¤yz¨ ^[gh FE ćX¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy [~¤v¤x~v¢ 

hªvªz£z¤ª©ĈA ª}z v©©zª© ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ©v~y ©ª¨«xª«¨z v¨z x¥¤©~yz¨zy ć©~¢¥©ĈA wzxv«©z ª}z¯ 

are ring -fenced parts of the wider structured entity (the Patrimonio Fideicometido - 

Interproperties Perú). Intercorp Group has ownership  and decision making power over 

these properties, and the Group has the exposure or rights to their returns; therefore, the 

Group has consolidated the silos containing the investment properties that it controls.  

 

^¤ ª}z j¤~¬z¨©v¢ h}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ bzzª~¤| }z¢y ¥¤ Yzxz£wz¨ GFA GEFKA ~ª ­v© v¦¦¨¥¬zy v 

¦¨¥ zxª ¥{ ć©~£¦¢z ¨z¥¨|v¤~°vª~¥¤Ĉ wzª­zz¤ ^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥ v¤y bv¦{¨z ez¨« k~yv X¥£¦vÌÈv 

yz hz|«¨¥© ¯ gzv©z|«¨¥© hCVC =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ćbv¦{¨zĈA v¤ «¤¨z¢vªzy ¦v¨ª¯>A ª}¨¥«|} ­}~x} 

Interseguro is committed to the acquisition of an equity block comprised of assets, 

liabilities, r ights, obligations and legal matters related to an annuity retirement insurance 

policies portfolio issued by Mapfre. The mentioned assets and liabilities have the same 

wv¢v¤xz© v£¥«¤ªzy ª¥ hDFNLAGIFAEEEP ~¤ ª}vª ©z¤©zA y«z ª¥ ª}z ¤zª z§«~ª¯ w¢¥x¡Ċ© ¬v¢«z ~s 

zero, Interseguro will not recognize a capital surplus. At the date of this report, the 

approval of this transaction by the SBS is pending.   
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On the other hand, in April 2016, the plenary session of the Congress of the Republic of 

Peru approved an amendment to the Act of the Private Pension System, in which the 

affiliates of the Private Pension Fund Administration  Companies (ćAFPĈ - for its Spanish  

acronym) who are 65 years old and retire, can choos e an additional retirement scheme in 

addition to the optio ns in force, which are: a) Planned Retirement, managed by an AFP; 

and b) the acquisition of an annuity retirement insurance plan, managed by a life 

insurance company; such is the case of Interseguro. This new retirement scheme allows 

the affiliate to dispo ©z ª}z NJCJ ¦z¨xz¤ª ¥{ ª}z~¨ ^¤y~¬~y«v¢ Xv¦~ªv¢~°vª~¥¤ Vxx¥«¤ª =ćX^XĈA 

for its Spanish  acronym). 

 

V© v ¨z©«¢ª ¥{ ª}z v£z¤y£z¤ª ª¥ ª}z Vxª ¥{ ª}z e¨~¬vªz ez¤©~¥¤ h¯©ªz£A ^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© 

income related to premiums earned  from annuities has decreased by  approximately 38 

percent compared to 2015; while in the Peruvian insurance market premiums earned from 

annuities have decreased by approximately 60 percent . 

 

(iii)  Inteligo Group Corp. and Subsidiaries  

 Inteligo Group Corp. is an entity incorporated in the Repub lic of Panama. As of December 

31, 2016 and 2015, it holds 100 percent of the shares of the following Subsidiaries : 

 

Entity  Activity  
  

Inteligo Bank Ltd.  It is incorporated in the Commonwealth of the 

Bahamas and has a branch established in the 

Republic of Panama that operates under an 

international license issued by the 

Superintendence of Banks of the Republic of 

Panama. Its main activity is to provide private 

and institutional banking services mainly to 

Peruvian citizens.  

  

Inteligo Sociedad Agente de Bolsa S.A. Brokerage firm incorporated in Peru.  

 

(iv) San Borja Global Opportunities S.A.C.   

Its corporate purpose is the acquisition and holding of shares and securities. As of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, it did not have operations and had paid in capital of 

S/1,000.  
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2.2 Retail and real estate  businesses 

(i) Intercorp Retail Inc.  

It is a limited liability holding company, incorporated in the Republic of Panama in 

December 2010, in order to group the entities of Intercorp Group engaged in the ret ail 

business in Peru. 

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company holds 100 percent of the capital stock 

of Intercorp Retail Inc., which owns the following Subsidiaries : 

 

Entity  Activity    

InRetail Perú Corp. 

(As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

Intercorp Retail Inc. holds 58.72 and 

58.11 percent, respectively, of its 

outstanding capital stock. Also, Intercorp 

Perú, through its Subsidiaries, holds 

71.16 and 70.38 percent, respectively 

(directly and indirectly) of  InRetail Peru 

Corp.'s outstanding capital stock.  

 

Holding incorporated in the Republic of Panama in January 

2011, which holds 100 percent of the capital stock of the 

following Subsidiaries, which operate several businesses:  

(a) Shopping malls: Developed by InRetail Real Estate 

Corp., owner of Patrimonio en Fideicomiso InRetail 

Shopping Malls, which in turn is owner of (i) Real 

Plaza S.R.L. and (ii) Patrimonio en Fideicomiso ą 

D.S. No. 093-2002 -EF-Interproperties Holding and 

Patrimonio en Fideicomiso -D.S. No. 093 -2002 -EF 

Interproperties Holding II, equity trusts which are 

special-purpose entities; see description in 

paragraph 2.2(v);  

 

(b) Patrimonio en Fideicomiso Inretail Consumer: 

Equity trust i ncorporated in August 2014, which 

develops the following retail bus inesses: 

(i) Supermarkets: Developed by Supermercados 

Peruanos S.A. and Subsidiaries, a company 

that, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

¥¦z¨vªz© ©ª¥¨z© «¤yz¨ ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡© će¢v°v 

kzvĈA će¢v°v kzv hÒ¦z¨ĈA ćk~¬v¤yvĈ v¤y 

ćbv©©ĈC 

(ii)  Pharmacies: Developed by Eckerd Perú S.A. 

and Subsidiaries, a company that, as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, operates 

1,020 and 843 stores, respectively, under 

ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡ ć^¤¡v{v¨£vĈC 

 

(c) InRetail Management S.R.L., company dedicated to 

the administration of personnel and operations of 

the aforementioned equity trusts.  
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Entity  Activity    

IFH Retail Corp. 

(As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

Intercorp Retail Inc. holds 63.54 percent 

of its capital stock)  

Holding incorporated in the Republic of Panama in 

September 2006, owner as of December 31, 2016 and 

2015, of 44.23 percent of Tiendas Peruanas S.A. and 

Subsidiaries; see Note 2.2(ii), a company engaged in 

retail business through department stores under the  

ª¨vyz£v¨¡ ćdz©x}¢zĈ =GI v¤y GF ¦¨z£~©z© as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively) and of 96 

percent of Financiera Oh! S.A.  (hence{¥¨ª} ć[~¤v¤x~z¨vĈ>, 

as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, a company that 

provides financial support to the companies of Int ercorp 

Group dedicated to the retail business.  

 

HPSA Corp. 

(As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

Intercorp Retail Inc. holds 64.99 percent 

of its capital stock)  

Holding incorporated in the Republic of Panama, owner of 

Homecenters Peruanos S.A. and Subsidiary, a company 

engaged in the operation of the business of home 

~£¦¨¥¬z£z¤ª ©ª¥¨z© «¤yz¨ ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡ će¨¥£v¨ªĈ =GH 

and 21 stores as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively).  

  

Lince Global Opportunities Corp.  

(As of December 31, 20 16 and 2015, 

Intercorp Retail Inc. holds 100 percent of 

its capital stock)  

Holding incorporated in the Republic of Panama in 

December 2010, which holds 98.71 percent of the 

capital stock of Inmobiliaria Milenia S.A., a company 

engaged in the real estate bu siness.  

 

(ii)  Callao Global Opportunities   

Subsidiary of Intercorp Perú, incorporated in 2011 as a limited liability holding company in 

the Republic of Panama. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, holds 54.29 percent of the 

capital stock of Tiendas Peruanas  S.A. and Subsidiaries. 

 

On the other hand, as indicated in Note 2.2(i), Intercorp Perú holds 63.54 percent of IFH 

Retail Corp which, in turn, holds 44.23 percent of Tiendas Peruanas S.A., and therefore 

the joint shareholding of Intercorp Perú , through Cal lao Global Opportunities Corp. and 

IFH Retail Corp. in Tiendas Peruanas is equivalent to 82.39 percent of its capital stock as 

of December 31, 2016 and 2015 . 

 

(iii)  Intercorp Investments Perú Inc.   

It is a limited liability holding company incorporated in September 2006 in the Republic of 

Panama. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company holds 100 percent of its 

capital stock. Intercorp Investments Perú Inc. is the sole shareholder of Horizonte Global 

Opportunities Corp., a holding company incorporated in the Republic of Panama, owner of 

Horizonte Global Opportunities Perú S.A.C., whose sole asset is a land lot located in the 

district of Independencia in Lima . 
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(iv) Urbi Propiedades S.A.  

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company holds 100 percent of the capital stock 

of this entity, incorporated in Peru in 1998, engaged in real estate management and in 

the provision of structuring and real estate project management. In addition and through 

its Subsidiaries, it is developing a number of real estate projects.  

 

In January 2016, Urbi Propiedades S.A. split an equity block in the amount of 

S/6,019,000 in favor of Urbi Proyectos S.A., a Subsidiary of Intercorp, established in 

September 2015, engaged in real estate projects.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 20 15, Urbi holds 100 percent of the following Subsidiaries : 

 

Entity  Activity  

Alameda Colonial S.A. Incorporated in Lima in May 2006, to build apartments 

«¤yz¨ ª}z \¥¬z¨¤£z¤ªĊ© ¦¨¥|¨v£ ćb~ k~¬~z¤yvĈC 
  

Domus Hogares del Norte S.A. Incorporated in Lima  in June 2009, to develop a real 

z©ªvªz ¦¨¥ zxª xv¢¢zy ćY¥£«© ]¥|v¨z© yz¢ c¥¨ªzĈC 
  

Club de Socios S.A. Incorporated in Lima in August 2007 in order to 

engage in the management, administration and 

organization of recreational, sports and social 

activities, among others. As of December 31, 2016, 

Urbi Propiedades S.A. and Intercorp Perú maintain 

75.48 and 24.5 1 percent, respectively, (61.76 and 

38.24 percent, respectively as of December 31, 

2015) of the capital stock of this entity.  
  

Urbi Solutions S.A.C. Incorporated in Lima in June 2014 to engage in the 

construction of real estate projects.  

 

(v) Patrimonio en Fideicomiso ą D.S. No. 093-2002 -EF, Interproperties Holding and 

Interproperties Holding II - 

In September 2011 and May 2012, Patrimonio en Fideicomiso ą D.S. No. 093-2002 -EF, 

Interproperties Holding and Patrimonio en Fideicomiso ą D.S. No. 093-2002 -EF, 

^¤ªz¨¦¨¥¦z¨ª~z© ]¥¢y~¤| ^^ =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} v¤y x¥¢¢zxª~¬z¢¯ ć^¤ªz¨¦¨¥¦z¨ª~z© ]¥¢y~¤|Ĉ> ­z¨z 

incorporated with the purpose of creating autonomous equity trusts, independent from 

each investor constituted as originator.  
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Through these equity trusts,  investments in real estate projects are made, and their yields 

back (i) the certificates of participation issued, and (ii) the compliance with other 

obligations assumed directly or through third parties in order to obtain the resources that 

are necessary to make said investments. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 

company that consolidates financial information with Intercorp Perú and that holds 100 

percent of the participations in Interproperties Holding is InRetail Perú Corp.  

 

Through these equity tru sts, Intercorp Group holds the ownership of the property where 

ª}z ©}¥¦¦~¤| £v¢¢© xv¢¢zy ćgzv¢ e¢v°vĈ ¥¦z¨vªzC V© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA GEFK v¤y GEFJA 

there were 21 and 20 shopping malls, respectively, located in the cities of Chiclayo, 

Trujillo, Huancayo, Arequ ipa, Juliaca, Nuevo Chimbote, Huánuco, Cajamarca, Piura, 

Pucallpa, Cusco, Sullana and Lima. 

 

(vi) Intercorp Re Inc.  

It is a limited liability holding incorporated in August 2015 in the Republic of Panama. As 

of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company hold s 100 percent of its capital stock and, 

in turn, Intercorp Re Inc. is the sole shareholder of Inteligo Real Estate Corp., a holding 

company incorporated in the Republic of Panama, owner of Inteligo Real Estate Perú 

S.A.C., whose sole asset is an interest in a land lot controlled by Interseguro and located in 

the district of San Isidro in the city of Lima . 

 

2.3 Educational business 

(i) NG Education Holdings Corp.  

It is a limited liability holding company incorporated in January 2011 in the Republic of 

Panama, whose purpose is to group the Subsidiaries of Intercorp Group engaged in the 

educational business in Peru.  

 

As of December 31, 2016, NG Education Holdings Corp. sold 50 percent of its 

participation in Colegios Peruanos (equivalent to 10,585,563 sha res) to NG Education 

Holdings IV Corp. (a related entity). After this operation, NG Education Holdings Corp. 

reduced its capital; therefore, as of December 31, 2016, Intercorp Perú holds 67.89 

percent of its capital stock (50 percent as of December 31, 201 5). 
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NG Education Holdings Corp. has the following Subsidiaries: 

 

Entity  Activity  
  

Colegios Peruanos S.A. 

(As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, NG 

Education Holdings Corp. holds 39.56 

and 91.45 percent, respectively, of its 

capital stock)  

As of December 31, 2016, it operates 35 schools under 

ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡ ć^¤¤¥¬v hx}¥¥¢©Ĉ =GN ©x}¥¥¢© v© ¥{ 

December 31, 2015).  

NG Education S.A.C. 

(As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, NG 

Education Holdings Corp. holds 99.9 

percent of its capital stock)  

Holding incorporated in  Peru in November 2011. NG 

Education S.A.C. holds 50 percent plus one share of 

the following Subsidiaries:  

(a) Universidad Tecnológica del Perú S.A.C.: 

Incorporated  in Lima in February 1998. It has the 

following 3 business units: UTP University, IDAT 

Institute and Post -Graduate School. 

(b) Promotora de la Universidad Tecnológica de 

Chiclayo S.A.C.: An entity with operations in Peru 

which as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, has 1 

premise. 

 

(ii)  NG Education Holdings II Corp.  

It is a limited liability holding company incorporated in October 2013 in the Republic of 

Panama. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Intercorp Perú holds 50 percent of the 

capital stock of NG Education Holdings II Corp., which in turn owns the following 

Subsidiary: 

 

Entity  Activity  
  

Servicios Educativos Perú S.A.C. 

(As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, NG 

Education Holdings II Corp. holds 100 

percent of its capital stock)  

Company incorporated in Peru in October 2013. 

As of December 2016 and 2015, it holds 80 

percent of the capital stock of Servicios 

Educativos Empresariales S.A.C., incorporated 

in Lima in February 2012, which operates 4 

¦¨z£~©z© «¤yz¨ ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡ ćoz|z¢ ą ^eVZĈC 
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(iii)  NG Education Holdings III Corp.  

It is a limited liability holding company incorporated in July 2013 in the Republic of 

Panama. As of December 31, 2016, Intercorp Perú holds 76.93 percent of its capital 

stock and, in turn, it holds 12.28 percent of the capital stock of Colegios Peruanos S .A. 

(50.0 and 6.55 percent as of December 31, 2015 respectively) . 

 

2.4 Other entities  

As of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, the Company holds 100  percent of the capital stock of the 

following Subsidiaries:  

 

Company Activity  Country of incorporation  

   

Inversiones Río Nuevo S.A.C. Real estate business Peru 

San Miguel Global Opportunities S.A.C. Real estate business Peru 

Intercorp Management S.A.C.  Administrative  services Peru 

Puente de San Miguel Arcángel S.A. Holding Republic of Panama 

Centro Cívico S.A. Real estate business Peru 

Ronepeto S.A. Real estate business Peru 

La Punta Global Opportunities Corp.  Specialized investments  Republic of Panama 

Urbi Proyectos S.A.  Real estate projects  Peru 
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The following table  presents the  financial information  of the  main Subsidiaries, before  eliminations for consolidation  purposes with Intercorp Perú , as of December 31, 20 16 and 2015: 

 

 Total assets  Total liabilities  Net equity  Net profit  (loss)  ________________________________ ________________________________ ________________________________ ________________________________ 

Entity  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         

Intercorp Financial Services Inc. and Subsidiaries  51,719,359  50,000,869  46,721,013  45,539,938  4,998,346  4,460,931  833,721  1,238,804  

         

Intercorp Retail Inc. and Subsidiaries (*)  10,963,561  10,148,266  6,772,519  6,167,047  4,191,042  3,981,219  167,949  28,906  

         

NG Education Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries 1,371,668  1,198,517  771,297  679,001  600,371  519,516  (24,477)  (5,384)  

         

La Punta Global Opportunities Corp.  144,216  64,026  - - 144,216  64,026  (6) 26  

         

Urbi Propiedades S.A. and Subsidiaries 243,558  241,792  129,166  108,195  114,392  133,597  (6,611)  6,509  

         

Intercorp Investments Perú Inc. and Subsidiaries  138,996  142,610  32,551  28,832  106,445  113,778  (9,387)  2,925  

         

Callao Global Opportunities Corp.  92,631  111,457  - - 92,631  111,457  (18,828)  (23,131)  

         

Intercorp Re Inc. and Subsidiaries  93,263  92,639  4,626  3,444  88,637  89,195  (558)  714  

         

San Miguel Global Opportunities S.A.C. 47,612  48,395  9,112  8,009  38,500  40,386  (1,885)  11,709  

         

NG Education Holdings II Corp. and Subsidiaries 51,381  53,745  28,866  23,084  22,515  30,661  (6,925)  (603)  

 

(*)  Unaudited amounts at the date of issuance of this report; net profit corresponds to profit attributable to Intercorp Perú Ltd.  
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3. Significant accounting principles and practices  

3.1 Basis of presentation, consolidation and use of estimates  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards ( henceforth ć^[ghĈ> ~©©«zy w¯ ª}z ^¤ªz¨¤vª~¥¤v¢ 

Vxx¥«¤ª~¤| hªv¤yv¨y© W¥v¨y =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ć^VhWĈ>C  

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Intercorp Perú and its 

Subsidiaries (see Note 2). For consolidation purpose s, control is achieved when Intercorp Group 

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involv ement with the investee and has the 

ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, Intercorp Group 

controls an investee if and only if the Group has:  

 

- Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the curre nt ability to direct ing the 

relevant activities of the investee);  

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.  

 

In General, it is presumed that a majority of voting rights entitles to control. In order to support 

this presumption and when Intercorp Per ú has less than the majority of votes or simi lar rights in 

the investee, Intercorp Per ú considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether 

it has power over an investee  or not , including : 

 

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;  

- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and  

- Intercor p \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¬¥ª~¤| ¨~|}ª© v¤y ¦¥ªz¤ª~v¢ ¬¥ª~¤| ¨~|}ª©C 

 

Intercorp  Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 

indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of 

a Subsidiary begins when Intercorp  Group obtains control over the Subsidiary and ceases when 

the Group loses control of the subsidiary.  

 

For consolidation purposes, profit and loss and each component of other comprehensive income 

=ćdX^Ĉ> v¨z vªª¨~w«ªzy ª¥ ª}z z§«~ª¯ holders of the parent of the Group and to the non -controlling 

interests, even if this results in the non -controlling interests having a deficit balance. When 

necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of Subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© vxx¥«¤ª~¤| ¦¥¢~x~z©C V¢¢ ~¤ª¨v-group assets and 

liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between companies of 

Intercorp Group are fully eliminated.  
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A change in the ownership inte rest of a Subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as 

an equity transaction . 

 

Assets in custody or managed by Intercorp  Group, such as investment funds and others, are not 

part of Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy {~¤v¤x~v¢ ©ªvªz£z¤ª©A ©zz c¥ªz 3.3(af). 

 

The non-controlling  interests of the Subsidiaries in which they are owners are presented 

separately in the consolidated statements of financial position, the consolidated income 

statements, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and  the consolidated 

statements of changes in equity.  

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the IFRS requires 

Management to make estimations and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, revenu es and expenses and the disclosure of significant events in the Notes to the 

consolidated financial statements . The consolidated financial statements are presented in Soles 

and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (S/(000)), except when otherwise  indicated.  

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost 

basis, except for investment property, derivative financial instruments, investments at fair value 

through profit or loss (trading securities) and avail able-for -sale investments that have been 

measured at fair value.  

 

Estimates and criteria are continually assessed and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the  

current circumstances. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, 

}¥­z¬z¨A £v¯ x}v¤|z y«z ª¥ £v¨¡zª©Ċ wz}v¬~¥¨ ¥¨ x~¨x«£©ªv¤xz© v¨~©~¤| wz¯¥¤y ª}z x¥¤ª¨¥¢ ¥{ 

Intercorp Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they o ccur. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates comprised in the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements are related to the valuation and impairment determination of 

investments, allowance for loan losses, inve ntories loss allowance, fair value measurement of 

investment properties, useful life and residual value of property, furniture  and equipment, and 

intangible assets, the valuation of derivative instruments, the estimate of the value in use of non -

financial assets, insurance contract liabilities, and the calculation of the deferred Income Tax. 

The accounting criteria used for each of these items are described in this Note. 
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The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous periods, except that 

the Group has adopted the new IFRS and revised IAS mandatory for periods beginning on or after 

_v¤«v¨¯ FA GEFKA v© yz©x¨~wzy wz¢¥­P }¥­z¬z¨A y«z ª¥ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ©ª¨«xª«¨z v¤y 

operations, the adoption of the new and revised accounting stand ards did not have any 

significant impact on its consolidated financial position and results:  

 

- V£z¤y£z¤ª© ª¥ ^Vh F će¨z©z¤ªvª~¥¤ ¥{ [~¤v¤x~v¢ hªvªz£z¤ª©Ĉ 

The amendments clarify the materiality requirements in IAS 1 indicating that (i) certain 

items of the statements of income and the statements of other comprehensive income 

and the statement s of financial position may be disaggregated, (ii) entities have flexibility 

to choose the order in which they present the Notes to financial statements, and (iii) the 

share of the entity in the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is 

accounted for using the equity method must be presented by grouping separately the 

items that are reclassified and which are not reclassified in the consolidated state ments of 

comprehensive income.  

 

- V£z¤y£z¤ª© ª¥ ^Vh FK će¨¥¦z¨ª¯A Furniture  v¤y Z§«~¦£z¤ªĈ v¤y ^Vh HM ć^¤ªv¤|~w¢z 

V©©zª©ĈO X¢v¨~{~xvª~¥¤ ¥{ Vxxz¦ªvw¢z bzª}¥y© ¥{ Yz¦¨zx~vª~¥¤ v¤y V£¥¨ª~°vª~¥¤C i}z 

amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that r evenue reflects a pattern of 

economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is 

part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a 

result, a revenue -based method cannot be used to depreciate property, furniture  and 

equipment and may only be used when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of 

revenue or it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic 

benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.  

 

- V£z¤y£z¤ª© ª¥ ^[gh FE ćX¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy [~¤v¤x~v¢ hªvªz£z¤ª©ĈA ^[gh FG ćY~©x¢¥©«¨z© ¥{ 

^¤ªz¨z©ª© ~¤ dª}z¨ Z¤ª~ª~z©Ĉ v¤y ^Vh GM ć^¤¬z©ª£z¤ª© ~¤ V©©¥x~vªz© v¤y _¥~¤ª kz¤ª«¨z©ĈO 

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception.  

 

The amendments clarify which subsidiaries of an investment entity should be consolidated 

instead of being measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

 

The amendments also clarif y that the exemption from presenting consolidated financial 

statements continues to apply to subsid iaries of an investment entity that are themselves 

parent entities. This is so even if that subsidiary is measured at fair value through profit or 

loss by the higher level investment entity parent.  
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Furthermore, the amendments provide an exemption to apply the equity method, through 

which an investor, which is not an investment entity, may decide to retain the fair value 

measurement through profit or loss applied by its associates and joint ventures which are 

investment entities, to the subsidiaries.  

 

- V£z¤y£z¤ª© ª¥ ^[gh FF ć_¥~¤ª V¨¨v¤|z£z¤ª©ĈO Vxx¥«¤ª~¤| {¥¨ Vx§«~©~ª~¥¤© ¥{ ^¤ªz¨z©ª 

These amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation 

and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation. IFR S 11 

requires that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint 

operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business , must apply 

the relevant IFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting.  

 

The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not 

remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while 

joint control is retained. In addition, scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 1 1 to specify 

that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the 

reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party.  

 

- Improvements to IFRS (2012 -2014 cycle)  

The IASB issued the following improvements that will be effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2016:  

 

- ^[gh J ćc¥¤-x«¨¨z¤ª v©©zª© }z¢y {¥¨ ©v¢z v¤y y~©x¥¤ª~¤«zy ¥¦z¨vª~¥¤©ĈO x¢v¨~{~z© 

that the change in methods of disposal of the assets or group of assets is not 

considered as a new plan of disposal. 

-  ^[gh L ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©O Y~©x¢¥©«¨z©ĈO x¢v¨~{~z© ª}vª =~> v x¥¤ª¨vxª ¥{ 

management service that includes a fee may be continuing involvement in a 

financial asset; and (ii) the requirements on compensation disc losures do not apply 

to the condensed interim financial statements.  

-  ^Vh FN ćZ£¦¢¥¯zz Wz¤z{~ª©ĈO x¢v¨~{~z© ª}vª }~|} §«v¢~ª¯ x¥¨¦¥¨vªz w¥¤y© «©zy ª¥ 

estimate the discount rate in the calculation of liabilities for post -employment 

benefits should be denom inated in the same currency in which said liability is 

denominated . 

- ^Vh HI ć^¤ªz¨~£ {~¤v¤x~v¢ ¨z¦¥¨ª~¤|ĈO x¢v¨~{~z© ª}z £zv¤~¤| ¥{ y~©x¢¥©«¨z ~¤{¥¨£vª~¥¤ 

7z¢©z­}z¨z ~¤ ª}z ~¤ªz¨~£ {~¤v¤x~v¢ ¨z¦¥¨ªĈ v¤y ¨z§«~¨z© ª}z ~¤ª¨¥y«xª~¥¤ ¥{ x¨¥©© 

reference in the interim financial statements to locate this information.  

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

 
 

16 

3.2 Business combinations  

Acquisitions are recorded using the accounting purchase method, as established by IFRS 3 

ćW«©~¤z©© X¥£w~¤vª~¥¤©ĈC V©©zª© v¤y ¢~vw~¢~ª~z© v¨z ¨zx¥¨yzy vª ª}z~¨ £v¨¡zª ¬v¢«es as estimated 

at the purchase date, including the identified intangible assets not recorded  in the statements of 

financial position of the acquired entity, the highest value paid over the fair value of the assets 

acquired is recorded as goodwill; see Not e 10 (j-1). The acquisition costs incurred are recorded as 

expenses and they  v¨z ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z ćSelling and administrative expensesĈ xv¦ª~¥¤ of the 

consolidated income statements .  

 

When Intercorp  Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed 

for their adequate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, the 

economic circumstances and the relevant conditions at the acquisition date.  

 

Business combinations and other sales of companies or businesses between entities under 

common control have been recorded using the pooling -of-interest method, because there has not 

been any effective change in control over said companies or businesses. In accordance with the 

pooling-of-interest method, the balances of the financial statements of the merged companies or 

businesses, both in the period in which the merge occurs as well as in the other periods 

presented for comparative purposes, are presented as if they had been merg ed since the 

beginning of the oldest period that is presented, and they are realized at book values without 

generating any effects on Intercorp Per úĊ© v¤y ~ª© h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ retained earnings.  

 

The difference between the amount paid (received) and the net assets acquired (sold) from the 

acquisitions (sales) of the shares of Subsidiaries that do not imply loss of control, is recorded as 

an equity transaction. Therefore, the entity shall not record any additional goodwill for  the 

purchase of non-controlling in terests nor recognize any gain or loss upon the sale of non -

controlling interests.  

 

Put and call opt ions do not grant Intercorp Perú  or its Subsidiaries access to benefits associated 

to shareholding participation.  

 

Put options granted to the non -controllin g interests generate a financial liability amounting to the 

present value of the amount to disburse. When the financial liability is initially recognized, the 

present value of the amount payable for the execution  of the option is reclassified from equity , 

see Note 10(h) . Due to the updating of the present value of the amount payable for the execution  

of the option , subsequent changes of the liabil ~ª¯Ċ© w¥¥¡ ¬v¢«z v¨z ¨zx¥¨yzy v© income. 

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

 
 

17 

Call options are initially recorded as a financial asset at fair value; subsequent changes in fair 

value are recorded in income. If the options are executed, the fair value of the option at the 

execution date shall be included as part of the acquisition co st of the non -controlling interests. If 

the call options have not been executed, any amount in books shall be considered as expense in 

the consolidated income statements. Management has determined that the call option has a non -

significant fair value.  

 

3.3 Summary of significant accounting policies   

(a) Foreign currency  translation  - 

Functional and presentation currency:  

Intercorp  \¨¥«¦ }v© yzªz¨£~¤zy ª}vª ~ª© {«¤xª~¥¤v¢ v¤y ¦¨z©z¤ªvª~¥¤ x«¨¨z¤x¯ ~© ª}z ćh¥¢ĈA 

because it reflects reflects the economic subst ance of the underlying events and 

x~¨x«£©ªv¤xz© ¨z¢z¬v¤ª ª¥ £¥©ª ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© z¤ª~ª~z©, insofar as its main 

operations and/or transactions, such as loans granted, financing obtained, sale of 

insurance premiums, interest and similar income, sale of goods, rental services , 

educational services , interest and similar expenses and an important percentage of its 

purchases are established and settled in Soles.  

 

Because Inteligo Bank has a functional currency different from the Sol, its financial 

statements  were translated for consolidation purposes using the methodology established 

~¤ ^Vh GF ći}z Z{{zxª© ¥{ X}v¤|z© ~¤ [¥¨z~|¤ Z®x}v¤|z gvªz©ĈA v© {¥¢¢¥­©O 

 

- Assets and liabilities at the closing rate at the date of each consolidated statements 

of financial p osition.  

- Income and expenses at the average exchange rate for each month of the year.  

 

As a result of the translation, Intercorp  Group has recorded the difference in the caption 

ćExchange differences on translation of foreign operations Ĉ ~¤ ª}z consolidated 

statements of other comprehensive income.  

 

Foreign currency balances and transactions:  

Foreign currency transactions and balances are those performed  in currencies different 

from the functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in 

the functional currency using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional 

currency using the exchange rate in effect on the repor ting date. The effect of differences 

between the closing rate at the date of each consolidated statement s of financial position 

presented and the exchange rate initially used to record the transactions are recognized in 

the consolidated income statements i n the period in which they arise, in the caption 

ći¨v¤©¢vª~¥¤ ¨z©«¢ªĈC c¥¤-monetary assets and liabilities acquir ed in foreign currency are 

recorded at the exchange rate at the date of the initial transaction.  
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(b) Income and expense recognition of bankin g Subsidiaries - 

Interest, dividends, gains and losses generated by a financial instrument classified as 

asset or liability  are recorded as income or expense, respectively. Financial instruments 

are offset when Intercorp Per ú and its Subsidiaries have a legally enforceable right to 

offset them and Management has the intention to either settle them on a net basis or to 

realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

  

Revenues from loan interest are recorded in the results of the period in which they are 

accrued, based on the effective term of the operations that generate them and the 

interest rates freely agreed with clients; except for interest generated by loans that are 

refinanced, restructured , due and loans under legal collection; as well as interest on loans 

classified as doubtful or loss, which are recognized as income when collected. When  

bv¤v|z£z¤ª yzªz¨£~¤z© ª}vª ª}z yzwª¥¨Ċ© {~¤v¤x~v¢ x¥¤y~ª~¥¤ }v© ~£¦¨¥¬zy v¤y ª}z ¢¥v¤ ~© 

reclassified as a standing loan and/ or to the categories of normal, with  a potential 

problem or substandard, such interest is recorded on an accrual basis.  

 

Interest income is suspended when collection of loans becomes doubtful; namely, when 

loans are overdue for  more than 90 days or when the borrower or the securities issuer 

defaults even if the loan is not overdue more than 90 days;  the corresponding interest 

income is not recognized in interest income until collected. Uncollected accrued income on 

such loans is ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤zyC l}z¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ª yzªz¨£~¤z© ª}vª ª}z yzwª¥¨Ċ© {~¤v¤x~v¢ 

condition has improved, the recording of interest thereon is reestablished on an accrual 

basis. 

 

Interest income includes yield  accrued on fixed income investments classified as available -

for -sale and held-to-maturity investments, as well as the recognition of the discount  and 

premium on financial instruments of Intercorp  Perú and its Subsidiaries. Dividends are 

recognized as income when declared.  

 

Commissions on financial services related  to the maintenance of credits granted are 

recognized as income when collected.  

 

Commissions on indirect loans are recorded as income based on their accrual, within  the 

term of the corresponding  contracts.  
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(c) Income and expenses recognition from other a ctivities (except insurance ; see paragraph 

3.3(d)) - 

Income from sales of goods  is recognized when all the risks and benefits inherent  to the 

title over the good  are transferred to the buyer, it is probable that the economic benefits 

related to the transac tion will flow to Intercorp Per ú and its Subsidiaries, and the income 

amount can be reliably  measured. Retail sales are generally made in cash or through 

credit card transactions, thus income is  recorded for  the gross amount of the sale, 

including the paya ble commissions of the credit card transactions, at the moment the 

goods are delivered to the client. Credit card commissions are recognized at the same 

time of the sale as sales expenses. 

 

Lease revenues obtained from investment properties are recorded us ing the straight -line 

method for the contract terms, and they are recorded as revenue in the consolidated 

income statement s due to their operating  nature, except for contingent lease revenues, 

which are recognized when realized.  

 

The lease term is the non-cancelable period, together with any other additional period for 

which the lessee has the option of continuing with the lease. As of the start date of the 

lease, Management is reasonably confident that the lessee will exercise such option.  

 

Service charges, administration charges, and other recoverable expenses paid by lessees 

and revenues resulting from expenses charged to lessees are recognized in the period in 

which the compensation becomes an account receivable. Charges for services, 

administration and other services are included in the gross revenue from rentals of the 

related costs, since Management considers that Intercorp Group acts as a principal party.  

 

Revenues from enrollment rights and tuition fees are billed monthly and are recog nized in 

the period in which the services are rendered. Revenues from past due tuition fee 

payments are recognized in the consolidated income statements when collected and are 

¨zx¥¨yzy ~¤ ª}z ćdª}z¨ ~¤x¥£zĈ xv¦ª~¥¤C 

 

Income from services billed but not yet  provided to customers as of the date of the 

consolidated statements of financial position are recognized as deferred income in the 

ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¦v¯vw¢zA ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤© v¤y ¥ª}z¨ ¢~vw~¢~ª~z©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ©ªvªz£z¤ª© 

of financial position.  

 
Income and costs related to apartment sales (a real estate operation) are presented in the 

ć\¨¥©© ¦¨¥{~ª {¨¥£ ¨zªv~¢ w«©~¤z©©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C 

 

Other income and expenses are recorded in the period in which they accrue . 
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(d) Insurance contracts  - 

Accounting policies for insurance activities : 

[¥¨ ª}z vy¥¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ^[gh I ć^¤©«¨v¤xz X¥¤ª¨vxª©ĈA Intercorp Per ú and its Subsidiaries 

(Interseguro)  decided to continue applying to insurance contracts the existing accounting 

policies that were applicable prior to the adoption of IFRS (i.e., accounting standards 

established by the SBS for financial and insurance enti ties in Peru) with certain 

modifications as described below:  

 

- Incurred but not reported claims reserve (IBNR): IBNR reserves were calculated and 

applied retrospectively at each recording period using the Chain Ladder 

methodology (an actuarial method gene rally accepted) which considers past 

experience based on cumulative claims losses to estimate future claims 

developments.  

 

- Technical reserves for annuities and retirement, disability and survival insurances: 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries considered current mortality and morbidity 

tables which differ from those established by the SBS and set the interest rate to 

discount the future cash flows of these liabilities as the current interest rate that 

reflects the interest rate performance of the debt instruments in the portfolio, 

adjusted by credit risk (see detail of tables an d interest rates used in Note 14  (e)). 

 

Product classification:  

Insurance contracts are those contracts where Intercorp  Group (the insurer) has accepted 

significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate 

the policyholder for a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) that adversely 

affects the policyholder. As a general guideline, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 

determine whether it has significant insurance risk by comparing benefits paid with 

benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.  

 

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance 

contract for the  remainder of its life, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during 

this period, unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or expire.  

 

Life insurance contracts offered by Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries include retirement, 

disability and survival insurance, annuities and group and individual life. Non -life insurance 

contracts mainly include SOAT (mandatory car accident insurance) and debit and credit 

card insurance.  

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

 
 

21 

Insurance receivables: 

Insurance receivables are initially recognized when due and are measured at the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable. Subsequent to the initial recognition, 

insurance receivables are measured at amortized cost. As o f December 31, 2016 and 

201 5, the carrying value of the ins urance receivables is similar to their  fair value due to 

their  short term maturity. The carrying value of insurance receivables is reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 

be recoverable, with the i mpairment loss recorded in the consolidated  income statements.  

 

Reinsurance: 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries cede the insurance risk in the normal course of its 

operations mainly due to pension fund risks (group insurance contract  in force since 

2015, which is ceded in its entirety) and life insurance risks (individual and group). The 

reinsurance assets represent balances due and payable by reinsurance companies. 

Reinsurance is ceded on a proportional basis.  

 

The amounts recoverable from the contracts  with reinsurers are estimated consistently 

with the loss reserve pending settlement or losses settled and with the premiums ceded, 

associated with policies ceded, in accordance with the clauses established in the related 

reinsurance contracts.  

 

Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each date of the consolidated 

statement s of financial position or more frequently when a sign of impairment arises 

during the year. Impairment arises when there is objective evidence as a result of an event 

that occur red after the initial recognition of the asset from a reinsurance contract, for 

which Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries cannot receive all of the outstanding amounts 

receivable under the contract terms and the event has a reliably measurable impact on th e 

amounts that Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries will obtain from the reinsurer. 

Impairment loss is registered in the consolidated income statement s. 

 

Reinsurance contracts ceded do not release Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries from their  

obligations to the  insured. 

 

The liabilities from reinsurance contracts represent balances due and payable to 

reinsurance companies. The amounts payable are estimated consistently with the related 

reinsurance contract.  
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Premiums and losses are presented as gross amounts for the reinsurance ceded. 

Reinsurance assets or liabilities are written off when the contractual rights are 

extinguished, expire, or when the contract is transferred to a third party.  

 

Reinsurance commissions: 

The commissions from the rei nsurance contracts for premiums ceded are amortized on a 

straight line basis over the term of the related insurance contract.  

 

Insurance contract liabilities:  

Life insurance contract liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered into.  

 

The technical reserves for retirement, disability and survival insurance and annuities are 

determined as the sum of the discounted value of expected future pensions to be paid 

during a defined or non -defined period, computed on the basis of current mortality and 

morbidity tables and current discount int erest rates described in Note 14 (e). 

 

Individual life technical reserves are determined as the sum of the discounted value of 

expected future benefits, administration expenses, policyholder options and guarantees 

and investment income, less the discounted value of the expected premiums that would be 

required to meet the future cash outflows. Furthermore, the technical reserves for group 

life insurance contracts comprise the provision for unearned premiums and unexpired 

risks. 

 

Insurance claims reserves include reserves for reported claims and an estimate of IBNR. 

IBNR reserves as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , were determined on the basis of the 

Chain Ladder methodology (a generally accepted actuarial method) , as explained in this 

Note, whereby the weighted average of past claim development is projected into the 

future. Adjustments to the liabilities at each reporting date are recorded in the 

consolidated income statements. The liability is derecognized when the obligation expires, 

is discharged or is cancelled.  

 

At each reporting date, an assessment is made on whether the recognized life insurance 

liabilities are adequate, by using an existing liability adequacy test as established by IFRS 

4. In the case of annuities and re tirement, disability and survival insurance, this test was 

conducted by using current assumptions for mortality and morbidity tables and interest 

rates. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Management determined that liabilities were 

adequate and therefore, i t has not recorded any additional insurance liability.   
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The accounts payable to reinsurers and coinsurers arise from the ceded premiums issued 

based on the evaluation of the risk assumed and the losses coming from the reinsurance 

contracts accepted as well as from the clauses executed for the coinsurance received, and 

v¨z ¨z|~©ªz¨zy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćVxx¥«¤ª© ev¯vw¢z ª¥ gz~¤©«¨z¨© v¤y X¥~¤©«¨z¨©ĈA ¦v¨ª ¥{ ª}z 

ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¦v¯vw¢zA ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤© v¤y ¥ª}z¨ ¢~vw~¢~ª~z©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy statements 

of fi nancial position . 

 

Income recognition:  

Life insurance contracts:  

Gross premiums on life insurance are recognized as revenue when due from policyholder. 

For single premium products, revenue is recognized on the date when the policy is 

effective. The net pre miums earned include the annual variation of technical reserves.  

 

Property, casualty and group life insurance contracts:  

Unearned premiums are those proportions of premiums written in a year that relate to 

periods of risk after wards the reporting date. Une arned premiums are calculated on a 

daily pro rata basis. The proportion attributable to subsequent periods is deferred as a 

provision for unearned premiums.  

 

Recognition of benefits, claims and expenses:  

 

(i) Gross benefits and claims 

Gross benefits and claims for life insurance contracts include the cost of all claims 

arising during the year, including internal and external claims handling costs that 

are directly related to the processing and settlement of claims.  

 

Death, survival and disability claims ar e recorded on the basis of notifications 

received. Annuities payments are recorded monthly, when due.  

 

(ii)  Reinsurance premiums 

 Reinsurance premiums comprise the total premiums payable for the whole 

coverage provided by contracts entered into in the peri od and are recognized at 

the date at which the policy is effective. Unearned ceded premiums are deferred 

during the period of the related insurance contract.  

 

(iii)  Reinsurance claims 

 Reinsurance claims are recognized when the related gross insurance clai m is 

recognized according to the terms of the relevant contract.  

 

(iv) Acquisition costs  

    Acquisition costs related to the sale of new policies are recognized when incurred.  

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

 
 

24 

(e) Financial instruments: Initial recognition and subsequent measurement  - 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of an entity and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  

 

^¤ vxx¥¨yv¤xz ­~ª} ^Vh HN ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ ^¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©O gzx¥|¤~ª~¥¤ v¤y bzv©«¨z£z¤ªĈA v¢¢ 

financial assets and liabilities, including derivative financial instruments (see paragraph (i) 

below), are recognized in the statements of financial position and measured based on the 

category into which the instrument is classified.  

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries determined, at the moment of the initial recognition, 

the classification of their financial instruments in one of the following categories:  

 

- Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;  

- Available-for -sale financial assets; 

- Held-to-maturity financial assets;  

- Loans and receivables; or  

- Financial liabilities at amortized cost.  

 

The classification of financial instruments at ini ª~v¢ ¨zx¥|¤~ª~¥¤ yz¦z¤y© ¥¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© 

purpose and intention when the financial instruments were acquired and their 

characteristics. All financial instruments are measured initially at their fair value plus any 

incremental cost related to the transaction  directly attributable to the acquisition or 

issuance of the instrument, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value 

through profit or loss.  

 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame 

established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (i.e., regular way trades) are 

recognized on their trading date, which is the date at which Intercorp Perú  and its 

Subsidiaries commit to purchase or sell the asset. Derivatives are recognized at their 

trading date.  

 

(i) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value  

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value include fi nancial assets held for trading 

and hedge.  
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A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is  acquired for the purpose of 

selling or repurchasing it in the near term and it is  presented in the caption 

ći¨vy~¤| ©zx«¨~ª~z©Ĉ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ¥{ {~¤v¤x~v¢ ¦¥©~ª~¥¤C X}v¤|z© 

~¤ {v~¨ ¬v¢«z v¨z ¨zx¥|¤~°zy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćczª loss on trading securitiesĈ ¥{ ª}z 

consolidated income statements. Interest and dividend s earned are accrued in the 

x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ Ĉ^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£zĈA 

according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment has be en 

established. 

 

(ii)  Available-for -sale financial assets 

Available-for -sale financial investments include equity investments and debt 

securities. Equity investments classified as available -for -sale are those that are 

neither classified as held for trading  (trading securities) nor designated at a fair 

value through profit or loss. Debt securities classified in this category are those 

that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and that may be sold in 

response to needs for liquidity or in r esponse to changes in market conditions . 

 

After initial recognition, available -for -sale investments are measured at fair value 

and unrealized gains or losses are recognized as other comprehensive income in 

the available -for -sale investments reserve, net of  their corresponding deferred 

Income Tax and non-controlling interest, until the investment is sold, when the 

cumulative gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated income statements in the 

xv¦ª~¥¤ ćczª |v~¤ ¥¤ ©v¢z ¥{ ©zx«¨~ª~z©ĈA ¥¨ yzªz¨£~¤zy ª¥ wz ~mpaired, which is 

¨zx¥|¤~°zy ~¤ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ć^£¦v~¨£z¤ª ¢¥©© 

on available-for -©v¢z ~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª©Ĉ v¤y ¨z£¥¬zy {¨¥£ ª}z v¬v~¢vw¢z-for -sale 

investments reserve.   

 

Interest and dividends earned are recognized in the consol idated income 

©ªvªz£z¤ª© ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£zĈC ^¤ªz¨z©ª zv¨¤zy ~© ¨z¦¥¨ªzy 

as interest income by using the effective interest rate method and dividends earned 

are recognized when collection rights are established.  

 

Changes in classification category   

In the case of changes in classification category from available -for -sale investments 

into held -to-maturity investments, the fair value of the carrying amount of the 

financial asset at that date becomes its new amortized cost. Any previo us gain or 

loss on that asset that has been recognized in other comprehensive income should 

be amortized over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest 

rate method.  
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If the asset subsequently becomes impaired, any gain or loss rema ining in  net 

equity should be reclassified into profit or loss in the consolidated income 

statements.  

 

During 2016 and 2015, Interbank reclassified a group of available -for -sale 

investments into held -to-maturity investments for an amount of S/129,548,000 

and S/295,041,000, respectively ; see Note 5(h).  

 

(iii)  Held-to-maturity financial assets  

Held-to-maturiry investment s are non derivative financial assets with fixed or 

variable payments and fixed maturity, for which Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 

have the intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After their initial 

measurement, held -to maturity investments are valued at the amortized cost, using 

the effective interest rate. The amortized cost is calculated taking into a ccount any 

discount or premium acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective 

~¤ªz¨z©ªC i}z v£¥¨ª~°vª~¥¤ ~© ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£zĈ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ 

the consolidated income statements. Losses  arising from the impairment of the se 

investments are recognized in consolidated income statements.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have not 

recognized any impairment loss on held -to-maturity investments ; see policy of 

impairment of financial assets ca rried at amortized cost in Note 3.3(h)(i).  

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries are prohibited from classifying any financial 

assets as held-to-maturity investment if, during the current financial year or during 

the two preceding financial years, it has s old before maturity or has reclassified 

more than an insignificant amount of held -to-maturity investments (in relation with 

the total amount of held -to-maturity investments).  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries do not 

plan to sell, before maturity, or reclassify any of its held -to-maturity investments.  

 

(iv) Loans and accounts receivable  

Loans and accounts receivable are non -derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market.  
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After their initial recognition , loans and receivables are measured at amortized 

cost using the effective interest rate method, less any allowance for impairment. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 

acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest 

rate. The effective interest rate amortization is recognized in the consolidated 

~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£zĈC a¥©©z© {¨¥£ 

impairment are r ecognized in the consolidated income statements in the caption 

ćProvision {¥¨ ¢¥v¤ ¢¥©©z©A ¤zª ¥{ ¨zx¥¬z¨~z©ĈC 

 

Direct loans are recorded when the disbursement of funds to clients is made. 

Indirect (contingent) loans are recorded when documents supporting such credit 

facilities are issued. Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidieries consider as refinanced or 

restructured loans  those that change their payment schedules due to difficulties in 

ª}z yzwª¥¨Ċ© vw~¢~ª¯ ª¥ ¨z¦v¯ ª}z ¢¥v¤C 

 

(v) Financial liabilities at amort ized cost 

After their initial recognition , financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost includes any issuance 

discount or premium and directly attributable costs that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate . 

 

(f)  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities  - 

 Financial assets: 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of 

similar financial assets) is derecognized when: (i) the rights to receive cash flows from the 

asset have expired; or (ii) Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have transferred their  rights 

to receive cash flows from the asset or they have assumed an obligation to pay the 

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a pass -through 

arrangement; and (iii) either Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or , if they have neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of 

the asset.  

 

 Financial liabilities : 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 

cancelled or expires  when an existing financial liability is exchanged by another from the 

same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liab ility are 

substantially modified, such exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 

original liability and a new liability is recognized, with the difference between the carrying 

amount of the original financial liability and the considera tion paid recognized in the 

consolidated income statements.  
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(g) Offsetting of financial instruments - 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 

consolidated statement s of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to 

offset them and Management has the intention to settle them on a net basis, or realize the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously . 

 

(h) Impairment of financial assets - 

Intercorp Pe rú and its Subsidiaries assess at each date of the consolidated statements of 

financial position whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 

of financial assets is impaired.  An impairment exists if one or more events that hav e 

¥xx«¨¨zy ©~¤xz ª}z ~¤~ª~v¢ ¨zx¥|¤~ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z v©©zª =v¤ ~¤x«¨¨zy ć¢¥©© z¬z¤ªĈ> }v¬z v¤ 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 

assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include in dications that 

the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will go 

bankrupt or initiate any legal financial reorganization proces s and where observable data 

indicate that there is a significant  decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 

changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. The criteria used 

for each category of financial assets are as fol lows: 

 

(i) Financial assets carried at amortized cost  

For loans, receivables and held-to-maturity investments that are carried at 

amortized cost, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries first assess if there is objective 

evidence of impairment for financial as sets that are individually significant, or 

collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If Intercorp 

Perú and its Subsidiaries determine that no objective evidence of impairment exists 

for an individually assessed financial asse t, whether significant or not, it includes 

the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 

collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 

impairment and for which an impairment los s is or continues to be recognized , are 

not included in a collective assessment of impairment.  

 

The amount of any impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 

v©©zªĊ© xv¨¨¯~¤| v£¥«¤ª v¤y ª}z ¦¨z©z¤ª ¬v¢«z ¥{ z©ª~£vªzy {«ª«¨z xv©} {¢¥­© 

(excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  

 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 

account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated income 

statements.  
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If in any subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases 

or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 

the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 

allowance account.  

 

A loan, together with the associated allowance, is written off and derecognized 

when is fully provisioned and there is real and verifiable evidence that the loan is 

unrecoverable and collection efforts concluded without success, impossibility of 

foreclosure or all collateral ha s been realized or has been transferred to Intercorp 

Perú and its Subsidiaries. If in the future a written -off loan is later recovered, the 

recovery is recognized in the consolidated income statements as a credit to the 

xv¦ª~¥¤ će¨¥¬~©~¥¤ {¥¨ ¢¥v¤ ¢¥©©z©A ¤zª ¥{ ¨zx¥¬z¨~z©ĈC  

 

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial 

v©©zªĊ© ¥¨~|~¤v¢ z{{zxª~¬z ~¤ªz¨z©ª ¨vªzC ^{ v ¢¥v¤ }v© v ¬v¨~vw¢z ~¤ªz¨z©ª ¨vªzA ª}z 

discount rate for measuring any impairment l oss is the current effective interest 

rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 

collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 

foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collat eral, whether or not said 

foreclosure is probable.  

 

For collective assessment of impairment, financial assets are grouped considering 

Intercorp Perú  v¤y h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ x¨zy~ª ¨vª~¤| ©¯©ªz£A ­}~x} x¥¤©~yz¨© x¨zy~ª ¨~©¡ 

characteristics; for example: type of a sset, economic sector, geographical location, 

type of collateral , past-due status and other relevant factors.  

 

Future cash flows from a group of financial assets that are collectively assessed for 

impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss ex perience for assets with 

similar credit risk characteristics. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis 

of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not 

affect the years on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the 

effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist. The 

methodology and assumptions used are reviewed regularly to reduce any 

difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  

 

(ii)  Available-for-sale financial assets 

For available-for -sale financial investments, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 

assess at each date of the consolidated statements of financial position whether 

there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investm ents is 

impaired.  
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In the case of equity securities, objective evidence would include a significant or 

prolonged decline in their fair value below their original cost. The ćs~|¤~{~xv¤ªĈ 

decline is to be evaluated against the original cost of the investm ent and the 

ć¦¨¥¢¥¤|zyĈ decline, against the period in which the fair value has been below its 

original cost.  When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss 

(measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 

value, less any previously recognized impairment loss) is removed from the 

available-for -sale investments reserve of the consolidated statements of other 

comprehensive incomes and recognized in the consolidated income statements.  

 

Impairment losses on equity securities are not reversed through the consolidated  

income statements; increases in their fair value after impairment are directly 

recognized in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income . 

 

In the case of debt instruments, impairment is ass essed based on the same criteria 

as financial assets carried at amortized cost. The amount recorded for impairment 

is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortized cost and 

the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that inv estment previously 

recognized in the consolidated income statements.  If in a subsequent year, the fair 

value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to 

an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the co nsolidated 

income statements, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated 

income statements.  

 

Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued 

using the interest rate used to discount the future cash flows for the  purpose of 

measuring the impairment loss. Interest income is recorded as part of  the 

xv¦ª~¥¤ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£zĈ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©. 

 

(iii)  Rescheduled loans 

Where possible, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries seek to modify t he loans rather 

than to take possession of the collateral. The rescheduled loans are direct loans in 

which modifications are made in the time and/or amounts of the original contract 

due to difficulties in the payment capacity of the client. When a loan is rescheduled, 

it is no longer considered as past due but it maintains its previous classification as 

impaired or not impaired. If the debtor complies with the new agreement during the 

following six months, and an analysis of its payment capacity supports a new 

improved risk classification, it is classified as not impaired. If subsequent to the 

loan modification, the debtor fails to comply with the new agreement, it is 

considered as impaired and past due.  
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(i) Derivatives  - 

Derivatives are initially recogniz ed at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered 

into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. All derivatives are recognized as 

assets when the fair value is positive and they are presented in the item  ćVxx¥«¤ª© 

receivable for de¨~¬vª~¬z {~¤v¤x~v¢ ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©Ĉ  ª}vª ~© ¦v¨ª ¥{ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćVxx¥«¤ª© 

¨zxz~¬vw¢z v¤y ¥ª}z¨ v©©zª©A ¤zªĈ and as liabilities when it is negative and they are 

¦¨z©z¤ªzy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¦v¯vw¢z {¥¨ yz¨~¬vª~¬z {~¤v¤x~v¢ ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©Ĉ that is 

part of th z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¦v¯vw¢zA ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤© v¤y ¥ª}z¨ ¢~vw~¢~ª~z©Ĉ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy 

statements of financial position.  

 

Derivatives can be designated as hedging instruments under hedge accounting if they 

qualify as such; depending on the nature of the hedged  item, the method for recognizing 

gains or losses from changes in fair value will be different. These derivatives, which are 

used to hedge exposures to risk or modify the characteristics of financial assets and 

liabilities and that meet IAS 39 criteria, ar e recognized as hedge accounting.  

 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments or that do not qualify for hedge 

accounting are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at their 

fair value, which is estimated based on market pr ices. Gains and losses for changes in 

their fair value are recorded in the consolidated income statements.  

 

In accordance with IAS 39, to qualify as hedge accounting, all of the following conditions 

must be met:  

 

(i) At the inception of the hedge there is a formal designation and documentation of 

ª}z }zy|~¤| ¨z¢vª~¥¤©}~¦ v¤y ª}z z¤ª~ª¯Ċ© ¨~©¡ £v¤v|z£z¤ª ¥w zxª~¬z v¤y ©ª¨vªz|¯ 

for undertaking the hedge;  

(ii)  The hedge is expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or 

cash flows attrib utable to the hedged risk, consistent with the originally 

documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging relationship;  

(iii)  For a cash flow hedge, a forecast transaction that is the subject of the hedge must 

be highly probable and must pr esent exposure to variations in cash flows that could 

ultimately affect profit or loss;  

(iv) The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, i.e the fair value or cash 

flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk and the fair value 

of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured; and  

(v) The hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and it is determined that the hedge has 

in fact been highly effective throughout the periods for which it was designated.  

 

IAS 39 presents three hed ge accounting categories: fair value hedge; cash flow hedge; 

and hedge of net investments in a foreign operation. Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 

use derivatives as hedging instruments under cash flow hedge, as detailed in Note 10 (b).   
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For derivatives  that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedge s, the effective portion 

of derivative gains or losses is recognized in other comprehensive income and reclassified 

to income in the same period or periods in which the hedge transaction affects income. 

The portion of gain or loss on derivatives that represents the ineffective portion or the 

hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness is recognized 

immediately in income. Amounts originally recorded in other comprehensive income and 

subsequently reclassified into income are recorded in the corresponding income or 

expense lines in which the related hedged item is reported.  

 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the 

criteria for hedge accounting and als o when Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 

redesignates a hedge, any cumulative gain or loss existing in other comprehensive income 

is maintained and recognized as income or expense when the hedged item is ultimately 

recognized in the consolidated income s tatements. When a forecast transaction is no 

longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive 

income is immediately transferred to the consolidated income statements.  

 

As of December 31, 2016, Intercorp Group holds three call option contracts (henceforth, 

ª}z ćXv¢¢ h¦¨zvy©Ĉ> ¥¤ {«ª«¨z z®x}v¤|z ¨vªz© =v© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA GEFJA ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦ 

held two call option contracts) ; see Note 10(b), which are deemed to be cash flow hedges. 

i}z {v~¨ ¬v¢«z ¥{ v ćXv¢¢ h¦¨zvyĈ ~© xv¢culated based on its intrinsic value and time value. 

Changes in intrinsic value are recorded in the consolidated statement s of other 

comprehensive income, and ª}z¤ v¨z ª¨v¤©{z¨¨zy ª¥ ª}z ćTranslation results Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥¤xz 

the effects of the hedged item aff ect the consolidated income statement s. Positive and 

negative fluctuations in time value are recognized in the ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£z©Ĉ 

v¤y ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ z®¦z¤©z©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤s, respectively, in the consolidated income 

statement s. 

 

(j) Investment and inventory property - 

An invesment  is classified as investment property or inventory property  according to the 

following criterias : 

 

(i) Investment property comprise s land lots and buildings (mainly shopping malls) that 

are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations of, Intercorp Perú  or 

its Subsidiaries, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held 

primarily to earn rental income and capital app reciation. These buildings are 

substantially rented to tenants and not intended to be sold in the ordinary course 

of business. Investment property comprises completed property and property 

under construction or re -development.  

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

 
 

33 

(ii)  Inventory propert y comprises property that is held for sale in the ordinary course 

of business and is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. See 

paragraph (o) below and Note 8(a). 

 

Intercorp Per ú and its Subsidiaries measure their  investment property at fair  value 

vxx¥¨y~¤| ª¥ ª}z ¨z§«~¨z£z¤ª© ¥{ ^Vh IE ć^¤¬z©ª£z¤ª e¨¥¦z¨ª¯ĈA v© ~ª }v© z¢zxªzy ª¥ «©z 

the fair value model as its accounting policy . 

 

Investment property is measured initially at cost including transaction costs. Transaction 

costs include transfer  taxes, professional fees for legal services and initial leasing 

commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary to start operating. The 

carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment 

property at the time th at cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.  

 

Properties under construction are measured based on estimates prepared by independent 

real estate valuation experts, except where fair value  (e.g. work -in-progress incurred on 

properties under const ruction) cannot be readily determined. Accordingly, the work -in-

progress incurred on these properties under construction is measured at cost until either 

its fair value becomes reliably measurable or the construction is completed (whichever is 

earlier). In vestment property under construction includes the value of land, which is 

determined by appraisals performed by an accredited appraiser using the price per square 

meter as market comparable method.  

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is  recorded at fair value. Gains or 

¢¥©©z© v¨~©~¤| {¨¥£ x}v¤|z© ~¤ {v~¨ ¬v¢«z© v¨z ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z ćGain on sale and valuation of 

investment property, net Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ~¤ the period  in 

which they arise, including the corresp onding deferred  tax effect.  

 

Fair values are assessed periodically by Management, based on the discounted cash flows 

that are expected to be obtained from these investments. Fair values of investment 

propert y under construction or investment propert y held to operate in the future are 

assessed by an independent external appraiser, through the application of a recognized 

valuation model. See Note 7 for details of fair value and related assumptions.  

 

Transfers  are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in the use 

of the asset . In the case of a transfer from an investment property to a component of 

property, furniture  and equipment, the deemed cost taken into account for its further  

accounting is the fair value of the asset as of the date of change  of use. If a component of 

property, furniture  and equipment is transferred to an investment  property , Intercorp 

Perú and its Subsidiaries shall record the asset until  the date of the change of use 

according to the accounting policy esta blished for property, furniture  and equipment.  
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Investment property is derecognized when it has been disposed of or permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The 

difference between the net disposal procee ds and the carrying amount of the asset would 

result in gains or losses upon the retirement or disposal of the investment property. Any 

gains or losses are recognized in the consolidated income statements of the year of 

retirement or disposal . 

 

Gains or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as the difference 

between net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the assets in the consolidated 

financial statements . 

 

(k) Investments in associates - 

An associate is an entity over which Intercorp Group has significant influence. Significant 

influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 

entity, but without having control over those policies. The considerati ons made for 

determining significant influence are similar to those needed to determine control over 

the Subsidiaries. 

 

Intercorp \¨¥«¦Ċ© ~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª© ~¤ ~ª© v©©¥x~vªz© v¨z ¨zx¥|¤~°zy ~¤~ª~v¢¢¯ vª x¥©ª v¤y ª}z¤ v¨z 

vxx¥«¤ªzy {¥¨ «©~¤| ª}z z§«~ª¯ £zª}¥yC i}z \¨¥«¦Ċ© ~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª© ~¤ v©©¥x~vªz© v¨z 

~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¨zxz~¬vw¢z v¤y ¥ª}z¨ v©©zª©A ¤zªĈ ~¤ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy 

statements of financial position. Gains and/or losses  resulting from the use of the equity 

£zª}¥y ¥{ vxx¥«¤ª~¤| v¨z ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćdª}z¨ ~¤x¥£zĈ v¤y/or  ćdª}z¨ 

z®¦z¤©z©Ĉ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C 

 

(l) Property, furniture  and equipment - 

Property, furniture  and equipment are recorded  at historical acquisition cost less residual 

value, accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if applicable. The historical 

acquisition cost includes the expenses that are directly attributable to propert y, furniture 

and equipment acquire . Maintenance and repair costs are charged to the consolidated 

income statements; significant renewals and improvements are capitalized when it is 

probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally assesse d standard of 

performance, will result from the use of the acquired property, furniture  or equipment.  

 

This item also includes the cost of the goods acquired under leasing and leaseback 

contracts, which are recorded as indicated in paragraph (q).  
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Regarding the significant components of property, furniture  and equipment that have to 

be periodically replaced, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries derecognize the replaced 

component and recognize the new component along with its corresponding depreciation. 

Likewise, when a major  inspection is carried out, its cost is recognized as a replacement 

provided that the requirements  for  its recognition are complied with. All the remaining 

routine costs of repair and maintenance are recognized as expense in the consolidated 

income statements as incurred. The present value of the estimated cost for the 

dismantling of the asset after it has  been used is included in the cost of that asset , 

provided that the requirements  for the recognition of the respective provision are met. 

 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated by using the straight -line method over 

the estimated useful lives , which are as follows:  

 

 

Annual 

depreciation rate  

% 

  

Buildings and facilities  1-20  

Miscellaneous equipment 4-50  

Furniture and fixtures  4-50  

Vehicles 20  

Leasehold improvements  20  

 

The determination of the depreciation method and residual values of components of 

property, furniture  and equipment involves judgments and assumptions that could be 

affected if the circumstances change.  

 

If the book value is higher than its estimated recoverable value, Intercorp P erú and its 

Subsidiaries constitute a provision for impairment.  

 

When assets are sold or disposed, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated, 

and any gain or loss that results from their disposal is included in the consolidated income 

statements.  

 

Work-in-progress represents buildings in construction and it  is recorded at cost. This 

includes the construction cost and other direct costs. Work -in-progress does not 

depreciate until the relevant assets are completed  and are operational . 
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(m) Foreclosed assets - 

Foreclosed assets are recorded at the lower value between cost and the estimated market 

value (less cost to sell), which is obtained from valuations made by independent 

appraisers. Reductions in book value s are recorded in the consol idated income 

statements.  

 

(n) Goodwill, trademark and other intangible assets  - 

Goodwill corresponds mainly to the highest  amount paid in the acquisitions made by 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries, which is determined by the excess of the value paid 

over the fair value of the net assets acquired and the non -controlling interest.  

 

^¤ªv¤|~w¢z v©©zª© ­~ª} ~¤yz{~¤~ªz «©z{«¢ ¢~¬z© ©«x} v© ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡© ć^¤¡v{v¨£vĈA ćjieĈ 

and ć^YViĈ v¨z ¨zx¥|¤~°zy vª x¥©ªA ¢z©© v¤¯ ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤ {¥¨ ~£¦v~¨£z¤ªA if  applicable. 

 

These assets are not amortized, but are at least annually assessed for impairment and 

when there are circumstances or evidence that their book value may be impaired. If that is  

the case, the assessment of the impairment of these assets is performed on the basis of 

their value in use, for which financial models of discounted cash flows are used.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , Intercorp Per ú and its Subsidiaries have assessed 

whether there is any impairment according to IAS 36 and consider that there is not 

necessary to record any provision for assets with indefinite useful lives to the date of the 

consolidated statements of financial position.  

 

Other intangible assets include limited duration assets, mainly computer software, 

trademark rights and the relationship with customers (students) from the acquisition of 

UTP and Servicios Educativos Empresariales S.A.C., which are recorded at cost, net of the 

corresponding amortization and accumulated impairment loss, when appli cable; see Note 

10(j>C i}z ¨z¢vª~¥¤©}~¦ ­~ª} x«©ª¥£z¨© ~© ¦¨z©z¤ªzy v© ¦v¨ª ¥{ ª}z ć\¥¥y­~¢¢A ª¨vyz£v¨¡ 

and other intangibles ą dª}z¨ ~¤ªv¤|~w¢z©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ¥{ 

financial position.  

 

Costs associated to the development or maintenance of computer software are 

recognized as expenses when they are incurred . Costs associated directly to the 

production of unique and identifiable computer programs controlled by Intercorp Perú  and 

its Subsidiar ies and that probably will generate economic benefits in the future, are 

recognized as intangible assets. These intangibles are amortized on the basis of their 

estimated useful lives which range between one and ten years. 
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(o) Inventory - 

Inventories of the retail business are measured at cost or at net realizable value, 

whichever is lower, less provision for product losses. Trade discounts, rebates and other 

similar items are deducted in determining the cost of purchase. Intercorp Perú  and its 

Subsidiaries use the weighted average cost formula in determining the cost of inventories, 

except in the case of inventories in transit, which are presented at their  specific 

acquisition cost. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary co urse 

of business, less the variable selling expenses.   

 

Cost reductions in books of inventory to its net realizable value are performed on the basis 

of specific assessments and recorded as provision for impairment of inventories in the 

ć\¨¥©© ¦¨¥{~ª {¨¥£ ¨zªv~¢ w«©~¤z©©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤A x}v¨|zy ª¥ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z 

statement s of the year when  those reductions occur.  

 

The provision for product losses is calculated based on the historical average of losses 

incurred during the year and until the last physical inventory made before the end of the 

year. This provision is recorded as an impairment of inventories, charged to the 

consolidated income statements.  

 

Discounts, price rebates and other discounts obtained for purchase volumes are deducted  

from the inventor ies on the date of delivery from  the discounts provided by vendors, and 

from  the selling cost when the related goods are sold.  

 

The different forms of rebates require that Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries estimate  

the distribution thereof between invent ories sold and the inventory  held by Intercorp Perú  

and its Subsidiaries as of the date of the consolidated statement s of financial position. 

Management performs such estimation on the basis of the daily discounts actually granted 

by suppliers and the rota tion rates per type  of product.  

 

Real estate inventories (properties  held for sale) correspond to disbursements incurred in 

the acquisition of plots of  land for the ¨zv¢ z©ªvªz ¦¨¥ zxª© ćY¥£«© ]¥|v¨z© yz¢ c¥¨ªzĈA 

and are measured at cost or at estimated  realizable value, whichever is lower. The plots of 

land intended for  the execution  of real estate projects are recognized at their acquisition 

cost. Work-in-progress and finished buildings include costs of design, materials, and direct 

labor, borrowing costs  (directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, and 

production of qualifying assets), other indirect costs and overhead costs related to the 

construction and exclude exchange differences.  

 

The estimated realizable value is the selling price in th e ordinary course of business, less  

the costs to put stocks on condition of selling and marketing and distribution  expenses. 

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  

 
 

38 

(p) Financing cost - 

Financing costs are recorded as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 

Financing costs include interest and other costs in which Intercorp Group incurs in 

connection with the execution  of the agreements of respective loans.  

 

(q) Leases - 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based in the 

substance of the arrangement at its inception date: i.e., whether fulfillment of the 

arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 

conveys a right to use the asset even if that right is not explicitly specified in an 

arrangement . 

 

Operating leases  

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and benefits of the asset are h eld by the 

lessor are classified as operating leases. Under this concept, the Group has mainly leased 

premises used as offices and agencies of the \¨¥«¦Ċ© h«w©~y~v¨~z©C 

 

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any penalty 

payment to the lessor is recognized as an expense in the period in which the contract 

termination takes place.  

 

Finance leases  

Finance leases are recognized as granted loans at the present value of the future lease 

collections. The difference between the gross receivable amount and the present value of 

the loan is recognized as unearned interest. This income is recognized over the term of 

the lease agreement using the effective interest rate method, which reflects a constant 

rate of return.  

 

(r)  Securities, bonds and obligations outstanding - 

The liabilities from the issuance of outstanding securities, bonds and obligations are 

accounted for at the ir nominal value, recognizing accrued interest in the consolidated 

income statement s of the year . Issuance costs and discounts granted or income generated 

in the ir  placement are deferred and presented net of their  issue value, amortizing  over the 

effective  term  of the bonds and obligations outstanding by applying  the effective interest 

method.  
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(s)  Impairment of non -financial assets - 

 On the annual date of the consolidated statement s of financial position , or before it is  

necessary, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries assess whether there is an indicator  that an 

asset could be impaired. Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries prepare an estimate of the 

recoverable amount of said asset when there is an indication of impairment and annually 

for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. The  recoverable amount of an asset 

is the highest between the fair value of the cash generating unit minus the selling costs 

and its value in use, and it is determined for an individual asset unless it does not 

independently generate any cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds its 

recoverable value, it is considered that the asset has lost its value and thus it is decreased 

to its recoverable value. In determining the value in use, estimated cash flow s are 

discounted at their present value by applying a discount rate reflecting current market 

conditions and the specified risks of the asset.  Cash flows come from the budget for the 

remaining  useful lives of the asset and do not include the restructuring activities that 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have not committed to  yet, nor  future significant 

investments that would increase the profitability of either the asset or the cash  generating 

unit that is submitted to testing.  

 
The recoverable amount is  very sensitive to both the discount rate used in the model of 

discounted cash flows and the expected future cash flows. Losses for impairment are 

recognized in the consolidated income statements.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , no impairment losses have been recorded in the 

value of non-financial assets of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries. 

 

(t)  Due from customers on acceptances - 

Due from customers on acceptances corresponds to accounts receivable from customers 

for import and export transactions, whose obligations have been accepted by  Intercorp 

Perú and its Subsidiaries. The obligations that must be assumed by Intercorp  Group for 

such transactions are recorded as  liabilities.  
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(u)  Financial guarantees - 

In the ordinary course of business, Interc orp Perú and its Subsidiaries issue financial 

guarantees, such as letters  of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees 

are initially recognized at fair  value (which is equivalent at that moment to the fee 

received) in the caption ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¦v¯vw¢zA ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤© v¤y ¥ª}z¨ ¢~vw~¢~ª~z©Ĉ of the 

consolidated statement s of financial position. Subsequent to the initial  recognition, 

Intercorp \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¢~vw~¢~ª¯ {¥¨ zvx} {~¤v¤x~v¢ |«v¨v¤ªzz ~©©«zy ~© £zv©«¨zy vª ª}z higher 

value between the amount initially recognized, less the cumulative amortization 

recognized in  the consolidated income statements and the best estimate of expenditure 

required to  settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the financial guarantee.  

 

Any increase in the liability relating to a financial guarantee is included in the consolidated 

~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C i}z {zz ¨zxz~¬zy ~© ¨zx¥|¤~°zy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ć[zz ~¤x¥£z {¨¥£ 

{~¤v¤x~v¢ ©z¨¬~xz©A ¤zªĈ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ªs and is calculated by using 

the straight -line method throughout the life of the financial guarantee granted.  

 

(v) Provisions - 

Provisions are recognized when Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have a present 

obligation (legal or constructive)  as a result of a past event, and it i s probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying  economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 

and a reliable estimate can be  made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating 

to any provision is presented  in the consolidated income  statements net of any 

reimbursement. If the effect of the time  value of money is material, provisions are 

discounted using a pre -tax rate that reflects,  where appropriate, the specific risks of the 

liability. When discounting is used, the increase  in the provision due to the passage of time 

is recognized as a financial expense. 

 

(w)  Provision for employee severance indemnities - 

The provision for severance indemnity deposits of the personnel of the Peruvian 

h«w©~y~v¨~z©A ­}~x} ~© ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ćl¥¨¡z¨©Ċ ¦¨¥{~ª ©}v¨~¤| v¤y ©v¢v¨~z© ¦v¯vw¢zĈ ­}~x} ~© 

part of caption "Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities" caption, is established 

for all the indemnity rights as of the date of the consolidated statements of financial 

position charged to profit and l oss as they accrue. Payments made to satisfy these 

amounts are deposited in the institutions of the financial system chosen by the 

employees. 
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(x) Defined contribution pension plan - 

Intercorp  Group only operates a defined contribution pension plan. The defined 

contribution  payable in the pension plan is in proportion to the services rendered to 

Intercorp Group by the z£¦¢¥¯zz© v¤y ~ª ~© ¨zx¥¨yzy v© v¤ z®¦z¤©z ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćhv¢v¨~z© 

and employee wz¤z{~ª©Ĉ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C j¤¦v~y x¥¤ª¨~w«ª~¥¤© v¨z 

recorded as liabilities.  

 

(y) Contingencies - 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, but they  

are disclosed in the Notes, unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote.  

Contingent assets are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements, but they are  

disclosed if it is probable that an inflow of economic benefits will be realized.  

 

Uncertainty exists with regard to  the interpretation of complex tax regulations, the 

changes in tax rules and the amount and time when  future taxable income is generated. 

The Subsidiaries of Intercorp Perú  calculate provisions, on the basis of reasonable 

estimations , for the possible cons equences arising from the inspections performed by the 

Tax Authority  =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ćhjcViĈA w¯ ~ª© h¦v¤~©} vx¨¥¤¯£>. The amount of those 

provisions is based on several factors such as the experience in previous tax 

examinations, and on the different interpre tations about the tax regulations , made by the 

subsidiaries of Intercorp Perú  and their legal advisors. These differences in interpretation 

may arise in a great variety of questions, depending on the circumstances and existing 

conditions in the place of do micile of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries. 

 

(z) Fair value measurement - 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The  fair 

value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability takes place either:  

  

- In the principal market for the asset or liability; or  

- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous  market for the 

asset or liability.  

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessi ble by Intercorp  Group. 

Also, the fair value of a liability reflects its non -performance risk.  

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured by using the assumptions that market 

participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 

participants act in their economic best interest.  
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When available, Intercorp  Group measures the fair value of a financial instrument using 

the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if 

transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to 

provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

 

If there is no quoted price i n an active market, then Intercorp  Group uses valuation 

techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 

available to measure the fair value, maximizing the use of relevant and observable data 

and variables, and minimi zing the use of unobservable data and variables.  

 

The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants 

would take into account in pricing a transaction.  

 

In the case of investment property, Intercorp Group has considered the specific 

requirements relating to highest and best use, valuation of premises and principal (or 

most advantageous) market. The determination of the fair value of investment property  

requires the use of estimations such as the future cash flows of the a ssets (e.g., leases, 

sales, fixed rent als for the different lessees, variable rent als based on sales percentage, 

¥¦z¨vª~¤| x¥©ª©A x¥¤©ª¨«xª~¥¤ x¥©ª© =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ćXVeZmĈ>A £v~¤ªz¤v¤xz v¤y ª}z «©z ¥{ 

discount rates). Additionally, real estate development ris ks (such as construction and 

abandonment) are also taken into account when determining the fair value of the land 

related to the investment property under construction.  

 

The fair value of investment property in the consolidated statements of financial posi tion 

must reflect the volatile nature of real estate markets; therefore, Management and its 

appraisers use their market knowledge and professional criteria and do not depend solely 

on historical comparable transactions. In this sense, there is a greater de gree of 

uncertainty than when a more active market exists for the estimation of fair value. 

Significant methods and assumptions used in the estimation of fair value of investment  

property are detailed in Note 7 . 

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair v alue is measured or disclosed in the consolidated 

financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described below, 

based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 

whole: 

 

- Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities.  

- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 

the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.  

- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 

the fair value measurement is unobservable.   
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For assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value in the consolidated financial 

statements on a recurring basis, Intercorp Group determines whether transfers have 

occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re -assessing categorization at the end of each 

reporting period.  

 

For the purpose of fair value disclosure, Intercorp Group has determined classes of assets 

and liabilities based on the the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and 

the level of hierarchy of the fair value, as explained above.  

 

Fair values of financial instruments measured at amortiz ed cost are disclosed in Note 

33 (b). 

 

(aa) Taxes - 

 Income Tax of the Subsidiaries is determined based on the  separate financial statements 

of each of them  and the taxable income determined for tax purposes. Intercorp Perú and 

its Subsidiaries incorporated abroad are not su bject to any Income Tax; see note 17 (a). 

  

 Current Income Tax  

 Current Income Tax asset or liability is calculated as the amount expected to be recovered 

from  SUNAT or paid to said entity, based on the taxable income determined for tax 

purposes. 

 

 Deferred Income Tax  

 Deferred Income Tax is accounted for in accordance with the guidelines of IAS 12 ćn̂come 

TaxesĈC ^¤ ª}~© ©z¤©zA yz{z¨¨zy Income Tax reflects the effects of temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes and the 

amounts determin ed for tax purposes by each Subsidiary. Deferred assets and liabilities 

are measured using the tax rates that are expected to be in force in the years in which 

such temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled  and recognizing any 

additiona l tax that may arise on the distribution of dividends on the date when the liability 

is recognized. 

  

 The deferred Income Tax as of December 31, 2016 , has been calculated by applying the 

rates that will be  effective since January 1, 2017 ; see Note 17(c) . 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded regardless of when the temporary 

differences are likely to reverse.  Deferred tax assets require Management to make an 

assessment of the likelihood that Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries generate taxable 

income against which the deferred tax assets can be offset.  Estimates of future tax 

income are based on projected cash flows from operations and the application of current 

tax legislation. If future cash flows and future tax income differ significantly fro m 

estimates, they could have an impact on the ability of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 
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for net deferred tax assets recorded as of the date of the consolidated financial 

statements.  

 

Additionally, future changes in tax legislation could limit the abil ity of Intercorp Perú  and 

its Subsidiaries to obtain tax deductions in future periods. Any difference between 

estimates and actual disbursements is recorded in the year in which it occurs.  

 

As of the date of the consolidated statements of financial positio n, the Subsidiaries assess 

the unrecorded deferred assets and the balance of the recorded one, thus recognizing a 

previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has now become probable 

that future taxable income will allow the deferred ta x asset to be recovered or reducing 

the deferred tax assets when it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income 

will be available to allow the benefit related to the recognized deferred tax asset to be 

used in part or in full.  

 

(ab) Earnings per share - 

 Basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for  

the year attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of  

common shares outstanding during t he year. As of December 31, 2016  and 201 5, 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries do not have financial instruments with dilutive effect, 

therefore basic and diluted  earnings per share are identical for the years reported.   

 

(ac) Treasury stock - 

Shares repurchased are recorded in  the ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ z§«~ª¯ «¤yz¨ ª}z ćireasury stockĈ 

caption at their purchase price. No loss or gain is recorded in the consolidated income 

statement s arising from the purchase, sale, issuance or amortization of these 

instruments. Shares that are subsequently  sold are recorded as a reduction in treasury 

stock, measured at the average price of treasury stock held at such date.  

 

(ad) Repurchase agreements - 

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase on a specified future date are not 

derecognized from the co nsolidated statements of financial position since Intercorp Perú  

and its Subsidiaries retain substantially all of the risks and rewards inherent to their 

ownership. Cash received is recorded as an asset with the corresponding obligation to 

return it, inclu y~¤| vxx¨«zy ~¤ªz¨z©ª v© v ¢~vw~¢~ª¯A ¨z{¢zxª~¤| ª}z ª¨v¤©vxª~¥¤Ċ© zx¥¤¥£~x 

substance as a loan to Intercorp Perú  v¤y ~ª© h«w©~y~v¨~z© ~¤ ª}z ćev¯vw¢z© {¨¥£ 

¨z¦«¨x}v©z v|¨zz£z¤ª©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤C i}z y~{{z¨z¤xz wzª­zz¤ ª}z ©v¢z v¤y ¨z¦«¨x}v©z ¦¨~xz ~© 

recorded as interest expense and it is accrued over the life of the agreement using the 

z{{zxª~¬z ~¤ªz¨z©ª ¨vªz v¤y ~ª ~© ¨zx¥|¤~°zy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ z®¦z¤©z©Ĉ ¥{ 

the consolidated income statements.  
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As of December 31, 2016, and 2015, Intercorp P erú and its Subsidiaries do not keep any 

repurchase agreements.  

 

(ae) Segment information - 

^[gh M ćd¦z¨vª~¤| hz|£z¤ª©Ĉ ¨z§«~¨z© ª}vª ª}z ~¤{¥¨£vª~¥¤ ¥{ ¥¦z¨vª~¤| ©z|£z¤ª© wz 

disclosed consistently with information provided by the chief operating decision maker, 

who is the person or group of persons that allocates resources to the segments and  

assesses their performance. Segment inf ormation is presented in Note 29 . 

 

(af) Fiduciary activities and management of funds - 

 Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries provide trust management, investment management,  

and advisory and custody services to third parties that result in the holding of assets on 

their behalf. These assets  and the income arising thereon are excluded from these 

consolidated financial  statements,  as they are not assets of Intercorp  Group; see Note 34. 

 

 X¥££~©©~¥¤© |z¤z¨vªzy {¥¨ ª}z©z vxª~¬~ª~z© v¨z ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ć[zz ~¤x¥£z {¨¥£ 

{~¤v¤x~v¢ ©z¨¬~xz©A ¤zªĈ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C 

 

(ag) Cash and cash equivalents - 

Cash presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows includes cash and due from 

banks balances with original maturities lower than three months, excluding the restricted 

funds, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 

3.4 Standards issued but not yet effective  

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, as of the date of  

issuance of Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy {~¤v¤x~v¢ ©ªvªz£z¤ª© v¨z y~©x¢¥©zy wz¢¥­C ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ 

Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.  

 

- ^[gh N ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ ^¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©Ĉ 

^¤ _«¢¯ GEFIA ª}z ^VhW ~©©«zy ª}z {~¤v¢ ¬z¨©~¥¤ ¥{ ^[gh N ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ ^¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©Ĉ ­}~x} 

¨z{¢zxª© v¢¢ ¦}v©z© ¥{ ª}z {~¤v¤x~v¢ ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ª© ¦¨¥ zxª v¤y ¨z¦¢vxz© ^Vh HN ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ 

^¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©O gzx¥|¤~ª~¥¤ v¤y bzv©«¨z£z¤ªĈ v¤y v¢¢ ¦¨z¬~¥«© ¬z¨©~¥¤© ¥{ ^[gh NC i}z 

standard mainly sets out that (i) the classification and measure ment of financial assets 

depends on the business model and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows 

involved; (ii) the variations in the fair value of financial liabilities measured at fair value 

through profit or loss will be recognized in income , except for the portion attributed to the 

¬v¨~vª~¥¤ ~¤ ª}z z¤ª~ª¯Ċ© ¥­¤ x¨zy~ª ¨~©¡A ­}~x} ­~¢¢ wz ¨zx¥|¤~°zy ~¤ ¥ª}z¨ x¥£¦¨z}z¤©~¬z 

income, unless it creates a significant accounting mismatch in profit or loss; (iii) the 

impairment of financial assets sh ould be estimated and recorded under the model of  

expected credit loss (instead of the IAS 39 model of incurred loss); and (iv) Management 

should use risk management criteria to assess the effectiveness of hedging activities, 

eliminating the use of the ran ge of 80 and 125 percent. IFRS 9 is effective for annual 
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periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. 

Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory; 

except for hedging accounting re quirements which are generally prospectively applied. 

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© bv¤v|z£z¤ª is carrying out an initial diagnosis regarding the impacts of 

this standard and does not expect that the changes presented by IFRS 9 will have a 

material impact on the crite ria of classification and measurement of financial assets and 

liabilities currently applied , nor hedge accouting . The new model of recognition of 

impairment losses could result in early recognition of losses in the credit portfolio.  

 

- Amendments to IFRS 10 ćX¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy [~¤v¤x~v¢ hªvªz£z¤ª©Ĉ v¤y ^Vh GM ć^¤¬z©ª£z¤ª© ~¤ 

V©©¥x~vªz© v¤y _¥~¤ª kz¤ª«¨z©ĈO hv¢z ¥¨ x¥¤ª¨~w«ª~¥¤ ¥{ v©©zª© wzª­zz¤ v¤ ~¤¬z©ª¥¨ v¤y ~ª© 

associate or joint venture  

 

These amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale or 

contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. A full gain or 

loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is 

recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitu te a business, even if 

those assets are in a subsidiary. In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the 

application date of this amendment indefinitely . Intercorp Group considers that these  

amendments will  not have a significant  impact on its consolidated  financial statements . 

 

- ^[gh FJ ćgz¬z¤«z {¨¥£ x¥¤ª¨vxª© ­~ª} x«©ª¥£z¨©Ĉ 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to 

revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognized at 

an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in 

exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 

provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue. The new 

revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all existing revenue 

¨zx¥|¤~ª~¥¤ |«~yz¢~¤z©A ~¤x¢«y~¤| ^Vh FM ćgz¬z¤«zĈA ^Vh FF ćX¥¤©ª¨«xª~¥¤ X¥¤ª¨vxª©Ĉ v¤y 

^[g^X FH ćX«©ª¥£z¨ a¥¯v¢ª¯ e¨¥|¨v££z©ĈC ^[gh FJ ~© z{{zxª~¬z ¨zª¨¥©¦zxª~¬z¢¯ {¥¨ v¤¤«v¢ 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. As of this 

date, Intercorp Group is assessing the effects that this standard could have on its 

consolidated financial statements; nevertheless, the Group does not expect significant 

changes. 

 

- ^[gh FK ćazv©z©Ĉ 

^[gh FK ­v© ~©©«zy ~¤ _v¤«v¨¯ GEFK v¤y ¨z¦¢vxz© ^Vh FL ćazv©z©ĈC ^[gh FK ~¤ª¨¥y«xz© v 

new accounting model for lessees requiring that the effects of their leasing operations are 

recognized as assets and liabilities in the statement s of financial position, unless such 

operations are short -term operations or involve low -value assets. In the case of lessors, 

the accounting model is maintained , namely, leasing operations continue to be classified 

as operating or finance leases. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
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after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted if IFRS 15 is already applied or the 

adoption IFRS 16 occurs on the same date of adoption of IFRS 15.  

 

Intercorp Group has carried out an initial diagnosi s, concluding that this standard will have 

no significant impacts on its consolidated financial statements.  

 

- ^Vh L ćhªvªz£z¤ª ¥{ Cash F¢¥­©Ĉ ą Amendments to IAS 7  

The amendments to IAS 7 ćStatement of Cash FlowsĈ, are part of the Disclosure Initiative 

of t he IASB and require that Intercorp Group provides disclosures that allow users of 

consolidated financial statements, assess changes in liabilities arising from financing 

activities, including those related to cash flows and non -monetary changes. In the ini tial 

application of the amendments, entities are not required to provide comparative 

information for prior periods. These amendments are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The application of 

these amendments result in additional disclosures for Intercorp Group.  

 

- IAS 12 ć^¤x¥£z iv®z©ĈO Recognition of Deferred Income Tax for Unrealized Losses  ą 

Amendments to IAS 12  

The amendments clarify that entities need to consider whether tax rules restrict the 

sources of taxable income with which it could make deductions on the reversal of a 

deductible temporary difference. Also, the amendments provide a guideline about the way 

an entity should determine future taxable income and explain the circumstances in  which 

the taxable income might includes the recovery of some assets for a value greater than 

their book values.  

 

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial 

application of the amendments, the change in the opening eq uity of the earliest 

comparative period may be recognized in retained earnings at the beginning of the period 

(or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change 

between the opening retained earnings and other components of e quity. Entities applying 

this option must disclose that fact.  

 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 

with early application permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for an earlier period, 

it must discl ose that fact. These amendments are not expected to have any significant 

~£¦vxª ¥¤ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy {~¤v¤x~v¢ ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C 

 

- V¦¦¢~xvª~¥¤ ¥{ ^[gh N ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ I¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©Ĉ ­~ª} ^[gh I ć^¤©«¨v¤xz X¥¤ª¨vxª©Ĉ 

The amendments address the concerns ari sing from the implementation of the new 

standard of financial instruments, IFRS 9, before implementing the new standard of 

insurance contracts which IASB is developing for replacing IFRS 4. The amendments 

introduce two options for entities that issue insur ance contracts: a temporary exemption 
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from the application of IFRS 9 and an overlay approach.  

 

However, these amendments do not apply for Intercorp Group because its activities are 

predominantly related to financial services (banking).  

 

- ^Vh IE ć^¤¬z©ª£z¤ª P¨¥¦z¨ª¯Ĉ ą Amendments to IAS 40  

These amendments clarify when an entity should transfer goods, including properties 

under construction or development, to or from investment property. Also, the 

amendments point out that a change in use o ccurs when the property meets or no longer 

meets the definition of investment property and there is evidence of change in use. A 

x}v¤|z ~¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ~¤ªz¤ª~¥¤© {¥¨ «©~¤| v ¦¨¥¦z¨ª¯ ¦¨¥¬~yz© ¤¥ z¬~yz¤xz ¥{ v x}v¤|z 

in use.   

 

These amendments should apply retrospectively for annual periods in which  Intercorp  

Group first applies such amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of the 

property that is held at this date and, if applicable, reclassify the property to reflect the 

conditions prevai ling at that date. Furthermore, the retrospective application according to 

IAS 8 is only permitted if it is posible without the use of hindsight. The early application is 

permitted and should be disclosed.  

 

These amendments are not expected to have any sig¤~{~xv¤ª ~£¦vxª ¥¤ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© 

consolidated financial statements.  

 

- ^[g^X GG ć[¥¨z~|¤ Currency Transactions and Advance Pv¯£z¤ª©Ĉ 

The interpretation clarifies that when determining the exchange rate to be used in the 

initial recognition of the asset, expense or income (or part thereof), corresponding to the 

derecognition of a non -monetary asset or liability related to an advance paym ent, the 

transaction date is the date at which the entity initially recognizes the non -monetary asset 

or liability arising from the advance payment. If there are several advance payments, the 

entity should determine a transaction date for each advance paym ent.  

 

Enti ties should apply the interpretation retrospectively. Nevertheless, alternatively an 

entity might apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income 

within scope that are recognized initially on or after: (i) the beginning of the first annual 

period in which the entity apply the interpretation for first time or, (ii) at the beginning of 

the prior annual period presented as comparative information in the consolidated financial 

statements in which the entity apply the interpre tation for first time. Early application of 

this interpretation is permitted and should be disclosed.  

 

i}z©z v£z¤y£z¤ª© v¨z ¤¥ª z®¦zxªzy ª¥ }v¬z v¤¯ ©~|¤~{~xv¤ª ~£¦vxª ¥¤ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© 

consolidated financial statements.  
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- Improvements to IFRS (2014 -201 6 cycle) 

 

- ^[gh F ć[~¨©ª-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standard sĈO i}z 

exemptions of paragraphs E3 to E7 of IFRS 1 are deleted because they already 

fulfilled their purpose. This amendment is effective beginning on or after January 

1, 2018.  

 

- ^Vh GM ć^¤¬z©ª£z¤ª© ~¤ A©©¥x~vªz© v¤y _¥~¤ª kz¤ª«¨z©ĈO Clarifies that the 

measurement of investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through 

profit or loss is an election separately made by each associate or joint venture. This 

amendment should be applied retrospectively for periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2018. Early application is permitted and should be disclosed.  

 

- ^[gh FG ćY~©x¢¥©«¨z ¥{ Interests in Other E¤ª~ª~z©ĈO Clarifies the scope of the 

disclosure requirements of IFRS 12. These amendments should be applied 

retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.  

 

4. Cash and due from banks  

As of December 31, 2016 A ª}z ćXv©} v¤y y«z {¨¥£ wv¤¡©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ©ªvªz£z¤ª© ¥{ 

financial position includes approximately US$ 1,588,248,000  and S/882,796,000  (US$1,936,668,000 

and S/901,025,000, as of December 31, 2015 ), which represent s the legal reserve that Interb ank and 

Financiera must maintain for their  deposits and obligations . These funds are kept in ^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ċ© and 

[~¤v¤x~z¨vĊ© ¬v«¢ª© v¤y in the Xz¤ª¨v¢ gz©z¨¬z Wv¤¡ ¥{ ez¨« =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ćWXgeĈA {¥¨ ~ª© h¦v¤~©} 

acronym) , and are within the limits established by the legal provisions in force . 

 

The legal reserve maintained at the BCRP is non-interest bearing , except for the part of the legal 

reserve that exceeds the minimum legal reserve required. As of December 31, 201 6, the monthly 

excess in foreign currency  amounted to approximately US$ 345,688,000 , equivalent to approximately 

S/1,160,1 29,000 , and acrued interest  in US Dollars at an annual average rate of 0.18  percent 

(US$241,5 16,000 equivalent to approximately  S/823,811,000 as of December 31, 201 5, at an annual 

average rate of 0.09  percent ); whereas the excess amount in Soles amounted to approximately  

S/2,466,520,000 and accrued interest  in Soles at an annual average rate of 1.05  percent 

(S/3,743,802 ,000 and accrued interest at an annual average rate of 0.48  percent as of December  31 , 

201 5). 

 

Deposits in domestic and foreign banks are mainly in Soles and US Dollars, they are freely available and 

acrue interest at market rates. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , Intercorp Group  does not have 

significant deposits in any specific financial institution.   
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, th z ćgz©ª¨~xªzy fundsĈ xv¦ª~¥¤ ~© £v~¤¢¯ x¥£¦¨~©zy of deposits in 

the BCRP amounting to approximately US$ 915,204,000 (equivalent to S/ 3,071,424,000 ) and 

US$960,688,000 (equivalent to S/3,276,907,000), respectively, which guarantee loans received from 

this entity ; see Note 12(b).  

 

Furthermore, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, this caption includes restricted funds for 

approximately US$58,027,000 (equivalent to S/194,737,000) and US$98,653,000 (equivalent to 

S/336,504,000), respectively, which mainly correspond to counterparty requirements in derivatives 

financial instruments transactions, see Note 10(b) (as of December 31, 2015, the amount includes 

guarantee cash for negotiable notes payments issued by IBK DP R Securitizadora 13(k)).  

 

Cash and cash equivalents presented in the consolidated staments of cash flows exclude restricted 

funds; see Note 3.3(ag) .
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  5. Available -for -sale and held-to -maturity investments  

(a) The detail of available -for -sale investments is as follows:  

 
 2016  2015   _________________________________________________________ _________________________________________________________ 

 

 Unrealized gross amount  

  

Unrealized gross amount     _______________________   _______________________  

 

Amortized 

cost  Gains Losses 

Estimated 

fair value  

Amortized 

cost  Gains Losses 

Estimated 

fair value  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         Corporate, leasing and subordinated bonds  3,983,833  36,621  (155,543)  3,864,911  3,339,469  18,996  (401,522)  2,956,943  

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit issued by BCRP (d) 1,709,845  2,523  (84)  1,712,284  877,165  1 (2,846)  874,320  

Mutual funds and investment  funds participations  1,218,485  128,136  (18,558)  1,328,063  1,045,667  84,301  (48,402)  1,081,566  

Peruvian Sovereign Bonds (e) 1,223,965  4,171  (90,732)  1,137,404  1,117,769  269  (133,672)  984,366  

Bonds guaranteed by the Peruvian Government 471,338  7,674  (5,962)  473,050  446,040  4,018  (20,129)  429,929  

Global Bonds of the Republic of Peru (e) 182,182  - (6,366)  175,816  413,296  - (9,241)  404,055  

Global Bonds of the United Mexican States 138,022  - (1,708)  136,314  6,896  - (43)  6,853  

United States of America Treasury Bonds  66,575  - (551)  66,024  40,932  - - 40,932  

Global Bonds of the Republic of Colombia 44,957  - (1,091)  43,866  18,237  - (1,107)  17,130  

Indexed Certificates of Deposit issued by BCRP 39,414  51  - 39,465  668,699  176  (1,527)  667,348  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total 9,078,616  179,176  (280,595)  8,977,197  7,974,170  107,761  (618,489)  7,463,442  

 

    

    Listed shares     

    Peruvian and foreign entities  185,515  15,337  (8,387)  192,465  226,247  1,732  (14,361)  213,618  

Energía del Sur LGAEGI LANIF - LNANKJ LGAIJI - =ME> LGAHLI 

Graña y Montero (*)  IJAFJG GANJI - IMAFEK FLAHJG - - FLAHJG 

 

    

    Non-listed shares     

    Royalty Pharma (g)  62,923  5,341  - 68,264  147,243  81,758  - 229,001  

Others 968  694  (129)  1,533  6,509  - (428)  6,081  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 

366,582  32,267  (8,516)  390,333  469,805  83,490  (14,869)  538,426  
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

         

 

9,445,198  211,443  (289,111)  9,367,530  8,443,975  191,251  (633,358)  8,001,868  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
         

Accrued interest     86,484     78,362  
    __________    __________ 
         

    9,454,014     8,080,230  
 

   __________    __________ 

 
(*)  From January 1, 2017 to the date of this report, Intercorp Group sold 1,402,455 shares, recording a loss for approximately S/10,332,000. As of the date of this report, Intercorp Group 

holds shares of this Company at a cost of S/13,600,000, on which it has recognized an unrealized valuation loss of S/9,400,00 0. Management has been monitoring this situation . 

 

 



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

 

52 

(b) Intercorp Group has determined that the unrealized losses as of December 31, 201 6 and 2015 , 

are of temporary nature .  Intercorp  Group intends and has the capacity  to hold each investment 

for a period of time sufficient to al low for an anticipated recovery in fair value, until the maximum 

period for  anticipated recovery or maturity . 

 

Intercorp Group has considered the following criteria in determining whether a loss is temporary 

or not for equity investments (shares) and , when it is applicable , to mutual and investment funds:  

 

- The length of time and the extent to which fair value has been below cost;  

- The severity of the impairment;  

- The cause of the impairment and the financial condition and near -term prospects of the  

issuer; and 

- Activity in the market of the issuer, which may indicate adverse credit conditions.  

 

Intercorp  Group has considered the following criteria in determining whether a loss is temporary 

or not for debt instruments (fixed maturity):  

 

- Assess whether it is probable that  Intercorp  Group will receive all amounts due, according 

to the contractual terms of the security (principal and interest). The identification of 

credit -impaired securities considers a number of factors, including the nature of the  

security and the underlying collateral, the amount of subordination or credit enhancement 

supporting the security, published credit rating and other information and other 

evidentiary analyses of the probable cash flows from the security. If recovery of al l 

v£¥«¤ª© y«z ~© ¤¥ª ¦¨¥wvw¢zA v ćx¨zy~ª ~£¦v~¨£z¤ªĈ ~© yzz£zy ª¥ z®~©ª v¤y ª}z «¤¨zv¢~°zy 

loss is recorded directly in the consolidated  income statement s. This unrealized loss 

recorded in the consolidated income statement s ¨z¦¨z©z¤ª© ª}z ©zx«¨~ª¯Ċ© yzx¢~¤e in fair 

value, including the decline due to forecasted cash flow shortfalls as well as general 

market spread widening.  

 

- For financial instruments with unrealized losses but not identified as impaired, the Group 

determines whether it has the intent and capacity to hold each investment for a period of 

time sufficient to allow for an anticipated recovery of fair value . Intercorp  Group estimates 

the forecasted recovery period using current estimates of volatility in market interest 

rates (including liquidit y and risk premiums). Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© v©©z¨ª~¥¤ ¨z|v¨y~¤| ~ª© 

intent and capacity to hold investments considers a number of factors, including a 

quantitative estimate of the expected recovery period and the length of that period (which 

may extend to maturity), the sev erity of the impairment and Intercorp GroupĊ© strategy 

with respect to the identifie d security or portfolio. If Intercorp Group does not have the 

intent and ability to hold the security for a sufficient time period, the unrealized loss is  

recorded directly in the consolidated  income statements.  
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(c) As a result of the impairment assessment of its available -for -sale investments, Intercorp Grou p recorded an impairment loss amounting to  S/28,616 ,000  and S/97,957,000 during 2016  and 201 5, respectively, which is 

¦¨z©z¤ªzy ~¤ ª}z xv¦ª~¥¤ ćImpairment loss on available-for -©v¢z ~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª©Ĉ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ª©C i}z £¥¬z£z¤ª of unrealized results available-for -sale investments , net of deferred Income Tax and 

non-controlling interest, is presented in Note 1 6(d). As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the detail of unrealized losses of debt instruments and participations in mutual fu nds and investment  funds classified as available-

for -sale is as follows: 

 

 2016  2015     ________________________________________ ________________________________________   

 

Amortized cost  

Unrealized gross 

gain  

Unrealized 

gross loss  Amortized cost  

Unrealized gross 

gain  

Unrealized 

gross loss  Maturity as of December 

31, 2016  

Risk rating as of 

December 31, 2016 

(***)  Issuer  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         Peruvian Sovereign Bonds 1,223,965  4,171  (90,732)  1,117,769  269  (133,672)  2018 - 2055  A- (*)  

Bonds guaranteed by the Peruvian Government  471,338  7,674  (5,962)  446,040  4,018  (20,129)  2024 - 2043  BBB+ (*)  

Global Bonds of the Republic of Peru 182,182  - (6,366)  413,296  - (9,241)  2019 - 2025  BBB+ (*) 

Fibra Uno 105,709  - (17,868)  66,617  - (8,154)  2044  BBB (*) 

Corporación Financiera de Desarrollo S.A.  182,340  33  (15,368)  168,843  - (28,727)  2019 ą 2046  AAA (**)  

H2Olmos S.A. 115,247  18  (11,417)  110,617  85  (17,194)  2018 - 2032  AA+ (**)  

Vale Overseas Ltd. 94,645  - (11,183)  96,725  - (36,574)  2034 - 2039  BBB- (*)  

Abengoa Transmisión Sur S.A. 162,526  3 (10,217)  160,319  - (8,462)  2043  BBB- (*)  

Línea Amarilla S.A.C. 91,071  163  (8,670)  90,066  - (14,506)  2037  AAA (**)  

Banco de Crédito del Perú S.A. 184,420  176  (6,962)  110,536  1 (5,217)  2018 ą 2069  BB (*) 

G y M Ferrovías S.A. 141,176  - (6,357)  141,361  - (8,880)  2039  AA+ (**)  

Votorantim Cimentos S.A.  97,127  1,095  (6,314)  172,207  - (47,392)  2041  BB+ (*) 

Mexico City Airport Trust S.A  66,251  - (5,400)  - - - 2046  BBB+ (*) 

Mexichem S.A. 49,043  - (4,865)  49,870  - (7,619)  2042 ą 2044  BBB- (*)  

Rutas de Lima S.A.C. 183,751  651  (4,841)  74,208  6,114  (6,327)  2036 - 2039  BB (*) 

Export Import Bank of Korea  86,014  1,008  (4,825)  86,224  5,443  (256)  2022 ą 2041  AA- (*)  

Fermaca Enterprises S.R.L. 96,470  - (4,410)  99,111  - (9,909)  2038  BBB- (*)  

Southern Perú Copper Corporation S.A.A.  164,918  4,237  (4,226)  168,110  - (30,129)  2035 - 2040  BBB (*) 

Edelnor S.A.A. 41,991  557  (4,117)  40,488  - (9,616)  2017 - 2038  AAA (**)  

Continental Sociedad TItulizadora  96,173  - (4,104)  - - - 2036  AAA (**)  

Instruments with individua l losses lower than S/4 million    (46,391)    (216,485)    
  __________ __________  __________ __________   
         

  19,786  (280,595)   15,930  (618,489)    
  __________ __________  __________ __________   

 

(*)  Instrument rated abroad.  

(**)  Instrument rated in Peru.  

(***)  X¥¨¨z©¦¥¤y© ª¥ ª}z ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ªĊ© ¨vª~¤| ­~ª} the largest unrealized loss. 
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(d) As of December 31, 2016, Interbank maintains  Negotiable Certificates of Deposit issued by BCRP for an approximately amount of S/101,054,000 that guarantee loans with this  entity, 

see Note 12(b).  

 

(e) During 2016, Interbank was part of a securities exchange program offered by the Per uvian Government through which:  

 

- Delivered global and sovereign bonds for US$52,360,000 (equivalent to approximately  S/178,128,000) and S/74,152,000, respectively, with maturity between March 2019 

and July 2025, and effective annual interest rates between 1.50 and 2.59 per cent and 4.8 percent, respectively; and  

- Received sovereign bonds for S/249,863,000, with maturity in August 2028 and effective annual interest rates between 6.35 and  6.38 percent.  

 

i}~© z®x}v¤|z |z¤z¨vªzy v |v~¤ ¥{ hDHALLEAEEE ¨zx¥¨yzy ~¤ ª}z ćczª |v~¤ ¥¤ ©v¢z ¥{ ©zx«¨~ª~z©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ~¤ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy ~¤x¥£z ©ªvªz£z¤ªs. Likewise, as of the date of the exchange, 

Interbank maintained an unrealized gain corresponding to the bonds issued for S/1,997,000, which was transferred to the same caption in the consol idated income statement s.  

 

(f)  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the maturities and the annual effective interest rates of the most significant available -for -sale investments in debt instruments are as follows:  

  

 
Maturity  Annual effective interest rates   ________________________________________________ __________________________________________________________________________ 

 2016  201 5 2016  2015  
   

_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 

   
S/  US$ S/  US$ 

   
__________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ 

   Min Max Min Max Min Max Min Max 

   
% % % % % % % % 

Corporate, leasing and subordinated bonds  Jan 2017 / Feb 2097  Feb 2016 / Feb 2097  3.16  8.96  1.05  23.92  3.14  10.0 2 2.79  26.47  

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit issued by 

BCRP Jan 2017 / Mar 2018  Jan 2016 / Jun 2017  4.25  4.51  - - 4.00  5.09  - - 

Peruvian Sovereign Bonds Feb 2018 / Feb 2055  Aug 2017 / Feb 2055  1.90  8.09  - - 2.41  8.09  - - 

Bonds guaranteed by the Peruvian Government May 2024 / Apr 2043  May 2024 / A pr 2043  4.10  6.01  5.16  6.60  4.10  6.01  5.16  6.60  

Global Bonds of the Republic of Peru Mar 2019 / Jul 2025  May 2016 / Jul 2025  - - 2.10  3.49  - - 1.45  4.16  

Global Bonds of United Mexican States Mar 2022  / Jan 2045  Mar 2022  - - 3.61  5.44  - - 3.57  3.57  

United States of America Treasury Bonds  Jan 2017 / Aug 2026  Jan 2016  - - 0.37  2.32  - - 0.12  0.12  

Global Bonds of  the Republic of Colombia Mar 2019 / Jul 2021  Jul 2021  - - 2.24  3.29  - - 4.33  4.33  

Indexed Certificates of Deposit issued by BCRP Jan 2017  Jan 2016 / Mar 2016  - - 0.00  0.00  - - 0.40  0.75  

 

See Note 32.2(b) (ii) for the analysis by currency of these investments.  
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(g) Corresponds to participations in RPI International Holding, LP (ćRPI PartnershipĈ) 

and Royalty Pharma Cayman Holding, LP (ćRPS PartnershipĈ). RPI Partnership and 

RPS Partnership invest in a series of feeder funds whose objective is to invest in 

Royalty Pharma Investments and Royalty Pharma Select, respectively, which are 

investment funds established under the laws of the Republic of Ireland a nd 

authorized by its Central Bank. These investment funds are engaged in the purchase 

of medical patents and biotechnology. The participations in RPI Partnership and RPS 

Partnership are not liquid and require authorization for their trading.  

 

As of December 31, 2016, Intercorp Group h olds 152,251 participations of RPI 

Partnership, whose fair value amount s to approximately US$20,341,000 (equivalent 

to approximately S/68,264 ,000 ). As of December 31, 2015, Intercorp Group held 

300,000 and 283,537 shares of RPS  Partnership and RPI Partnership, respectively, 

whose fair value amount ed to approximately US$27,423,000 and US$39,713,000 , 

respectively  (equivalent to approximately S/93,541,000 and S/135,460,000, 

respectively).  

 

During 2016, Intercorp Group (through its subsidiaries Interseguro, Interfondos and 

Inteligo Bank) sold to third parties 300,000 and 131,286 shares of RPS Partnership 

and RPI Partnership, respectively, at their fa ir value, for approximately 

US$39,431,000, generat ing a gain of approximately US$ 13,1 33,000 (equivalent to 

approximately  S/44,469,000), which is included in the "Net gain on sale of 

securities" caption in the consolidated income statement s. 

 

During 2015, Interseguro sold to a related entity 54,978 and 135,000 shares of RPS 

Partnership and RPI Partnership, respectively, at their fair value of approximately 

US$23,496,000, generating a realized gain of approximately US$18,347,000 

(equivalent to approximately S/60,343,000), which is included in the "Net gain on 

sale of securities" caption of th e consolidated income statements. As of December 

31, 2015, it held a balance of approximately US$19,496,000 (equivalent to 

v¦¦¨¥®~£vªz¢¯ hDKKAJEGAEEE> ¨zxz~¬vw¢zA ­}~x} ~© ~¤x¢«yzy  ~¤ ª}z ćVxx¥«¤ª© 

¨zxz~¬vw¢z v¤y ¥ª}z¨ v©©zª©A ¤zªĈ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yated statements of financial 

position; Note 10(a), and was collected during 2016.  
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During 2016 and 2015 , Intercorp Group received dividends from these participations for 

approximately S/22,097,000 and S/20,148,000, respectively, which are included in the 

ć^¤ªz¨z©ª v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ ~¤x¥£zĈ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z consolidated income statements.  

 

(h) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, held -to-maturity investments are entirely composed of 

sovereign bonds of the Republic of Peru, for an amount of  S/611,293,000 and  

S/479,561,000, respectively, including accrued yields.  

 

During 2016 and 2015, Interbank reclassified Peruvian Sovereign Bonds classified as available -

for -sale investment into held -to-maturity investments. The carrying amounts as of the dates of 

reclassificat ion amounted to approximately S/129,548,000 and S/295,041,000 and the 

unrealized loss accumulated in net equity amounte d to S/220,000 and S/25,208,000 , 

respectively; the latter amount shall be  transferred to results during the remaining term of the 

instru ments. As a result of this transfer, Interbank has recorded in its results of the year 2016 

and 2015 a net loss of approximately S /2,537,000 and S/ 1,511,000,respectively. As of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, the carrying amount of these investments  amounted t o 

S/432,832,000 and S / 300,736,000, respectively.  

 

During 2015, Interbank acquired Sovereign Bonds of the Republic of Peru for S/175,201,000, 

which were classified as held-to-maturity investment; as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 

book value of these inv estments amounted to S/178,461,000 and S/178,825,000, 

respectively, which includes accrued yields of approximately S/13,105,000 and S/9,821,000, 

respectively.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the maturity of these investments fluctuates between 

August 2020 and August 2037, have accrued interest at an effective annual rate between 5.34 

and 6.33 percent; and its estimated fair value amounts to approximately S/605,299,000 and 

S/440,645,000, respectively.  

 

Management has determined that the difference betwe en the amortized cost and the fair value 

of the held -to-maturity investments is of a temporary nature, due to the risk category of the 

Sovereign Bonds issued by the Peruvian State (ćV-ć), and to its intention and ability to keep 

each of these investments t o maturity.  
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(i) The table below presents the balance of available -for -sale and held-to-maturity inv estments as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015,  classified by maturity, excluding accrued interest:  

  

 
2016  2015   ___________________________ ___________________________ 

 

Available -for -

sale 

investments  

Held-to -

maturity 

investments  

Available -for -

sale 

investments  

Held-to -

maturity 

investments  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

     
Up to 3 month s 418,888  - 910,657  - 

From 3 months to 1 year  1,450,805  - 683,267  - 

From 1 to 3 years 731,285  - 243,186  - 

From 3 to 5 years  630,468  102,254  634,979  83,065  

From 5 years onwards 4,417,688  495,934  3,909,787  386,675  

Shares and mutual funds and 

investment  funds participations 

(without maturity)  1,718,396  - 1,619,992  - 
 __________ __________ ___________ __________ 
     

Total  9,367,530  598,188  8,001,868  469,740  
 __________ __________ ___________ __________ 

 

  6. Loans, net  

(a) The detail of the loan portfolio is as follows:  

  

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   Direct loans    

Loans 20,518,210  19,233,647  

Credit cards 4,399,150  4,211,235  

Leasing 1,631,146  1,816,891  

Discounted notes 407,210  436,557  

Factoring  167,763  190,270  

Advances and overdrafts  39,483  66,682  

Refinanced loans 309,770  260,106  

Past due and under legal collection  loans 729,800  613,595  
 ____________ ____________ 
   

 28,202,532  26,828,983  
   

Plus (minus)   

Accrued interest from performing loans (d)  334,098  318,913  

Unearned interest and interest collected in advance  (26,507)  (15,762)  

Allowance for loan losses (c)  (1,224,445)  (1,096,202)  
 ____________ ____________ 
   

Total direct loans  27,285,678  26,035,932  
 ____________ ____________ 
   

Indirect loans, N ote  18(a)  4,388,328  4,888,336  
 ____________ ____________ 
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(b) The direct loan portfolio , classified by type of loan,  is presented below : 

 

 

2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   
Commercial loans 12,875,605  12,499,124  

Consumer loans  9,714,787  9,030,416  

Mortgage loans  5,041,107  4,766,516  

Small and micro-business loans 571,033  532,927  
 ____________ ____________ 
   

Total  28,202,532  26,828,983  
 ____________ ____________ 
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(c) The changes in the allowance for loan losses (direct and indirect) is as follows:  

 
 2016   ____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Commercials  Mortgage  Consumer Micro -business Total  
  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
  

 
  

 
(*)  

      

Beginning balances  197,167  46,468  825,766  50,414  1,119,815  

Provision 46,343  12,154  784,551  21,491  864,539  

Recovery of written -off loans  527  1 135,643  3,429  139,600  

Written -off portfolio and sales  (14,116)  (978)  (831,742)  (23,584)  (870,420)  

Translation result  (8,787)  2,852  (4,757)  5,579   (5,113)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
      

Ending balances (*)  221,134  60,497  909,461  57,329  1,248,421  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 
 2015   ____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Commercials  Mortgage  Consumer Micro -business Total  
  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
  

 
  

 
(*)  

      

Beginning balances  192,158  31,660  622,690  36,672  883,180  

Provision  40,168  7,407  637,114  33,816  718,505  

Recovery of written -off loans  5,161  - 114,110  3,021  122,292  

Written -off portfolio and sales  (50,878)  (93)  (568,103)  (25,320)  (644,394)  

Translation result  10,558  7,494  19,955  2,225  40,232  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
      

Ending balances (*)  197,167  46,468  825,766  50,414  1,119,815  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 

(*)  The allowance for loan losses includes the allowance for indirect loans and credit risk associated to over  indebtedness amounting to approximately  S/23,976,000 and 

S/23,613,000, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, which is  presents ~¤ ª}z ćVxx¥«¤ª© ¦v¯vw¢zA ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤© v¤y ¥ª}z¨ ¢~vw~¢~ª~z©Ĉ xv¦ª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy 

statements of  financial position; see Note 10 (a).  

 

^¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ¥¦~¤~¥¤A ª}z v¢¢¥­v¤xz {¥¨ ¢¥v¤ ¢¥©©z© ¨zx¥¨yed as of December 31, 2016  and 2015 , has been established in accordance with IAS 39 and it is 

sufficient to cover incurred losses on the loan portfolio.  
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(d) Interest rates on loans are freely determined based on the rates prevailing in the market.  

 

(e) Interest on past due loans for more than 90 days and under legal collection are recorded as 

income only when collected. Amounts no t recognized as income are considered as in suspense 

incomes and are recorded in off -balance sheet accounts to have a proper control. As of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, amounted to S/375,983,000 and S/321,221,000, 

respectively.  

 

(f)  The table below presents  the direct loan portfolio without in cluding accrued interest  and 

interest to be accrued and collected in advance as of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, classified 

by maturity:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Outstanding     

Up to 1 month  2,845,239  2,675,709  

From 1 to 3 months  3,334,271  3,352,135  

From 3 months to 1 year  6,383,878  6,178,322  

From 1 to 5 years  10,193,543  9,527,676  

Over 5 years 4,715,801  4,481,546  
 ____________ ____________ 

 27,472,732  26,215,388     

Past due loans  434,743  387,817  

Under legal collection  loans 295,057  225,778  
 ____________ ____________ 
   

 28,202,532  26,828,983  
 ____________ ____________ 
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  7. Investment property  

(a) This caption is made up as follow s: 

  

   
  

Valuation methodology (f)       ___________________________________ 

 2016  2015  

Acquisition or 
construction 

year  
Hierarchy level 

(i) 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)      
       

Land        

San Isidro ą Lima 255,431  253,366  2008  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

San Martín de Porres ą Lima 253,094  253,868  2015  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Cuartel San Martín  - Lima 161,824  166,559  2010  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Puruchuco 141,088  124,978  2008  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Ate Vitarte - Lima 46,313  47,232  2008  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Piura 39,889  36,752  2009  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Lurín ą Lima 34,591  23,530  2012  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Centro Urbano Nuevo Chimbote  31,936  42,966  2010  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Sullana 25,008  23,896  2013  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Cañete ą Lima 16,592  16,159  2011  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Carabayllo ą Lima 16,200  16,018  2012  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Tarapoto  15,719  15,423  2012  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Zapallal - Lima 13,467  13,686  2012  Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 

Others 32,414  47,936  - Level 3 Appraisal Appraisal 
 __________ __________     

 1,083,566  1,082,369      
 __________ __________     

       

Built  investment property        

   ćgzv¢ e¢v°vĈ ą Shopping Malls       

Pucallpa 218,799  219,549  2014  Level 3 DCF DCF 

San Isidro ą Lima 163,046  161,172  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Primavera ą Lima 159,465  160,458  2009  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Chiclayo 150,841  148,016  2005  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Trujillo  121,628  102,960  2007  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Piura 117,990  102,021  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Cajamarca 76,958  76,802  2013  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Pro ą Lima 48,546  46,508  2008  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Chorrillos ą Lima 45,772  39,691  2011  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Santa Clara ą Lima 30,070  24,587  2009  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Colmenares ą Lima 22,176  20,354  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Nuevo Chimbote 19,409  18,470  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Talara 9,254  - 2016  Level 3 DCF - 

Sullana 5,319  5,429  2014  Level 3 DCF DCF 
 __________ __________     

 1,189,273  1,126,017      
 __________ __________     
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Valuation methodology (f)       ___________________________________ 

 2016  2015  

Acquisition or 
construction 

year  
Hierarchy level 

(i) 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)      
       

Built on leased land (iii)         

Salaverry  ą Lima 299,039  284,540  2014  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Centro Cívico  - Lima 151,230  152,124  2007 / 2014  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Cusco  118,291  112,735  2013  Level 3 DCF DCF 

   Huancayo  85,584  82,410  2008  Level 3 DCF DCF 

   Huánuco 51,959  52,542  2012  Level 3 DCF DCF 

   Juliaca  54,296  51,906  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 

   Arequipa (e)  50,896  41,328  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 

   Villa María del Triunfo ą Lima 42,866  1,065  2013 / 2016  Level 3 DCF DCF 

   Others 1,418  1,668  - Level 3 DCF DCF 
 __________ __________     

 855,579  780,318      
 __________ __________     

       

Buildings        

Ate Vitarte ą Lima 45,865  46,612  2006  Level 3 DCF DCF 

Panorama ą Lima 20,724  - 2016  Level 3 DCF - 

Trujillo  10,166  - 2016  Level 3 DCF - 

Pardo y Aliaga - Lima 3,596  3,233  2010  Level 3 DCF DCF 
 __________ __________     

 80,351  49,845      
 __________ __________     
       

 3,208,769  3,038,549      
 __________ __________     

 

DCF: Discounted cash flow. 

  

(i) During 2016 and 2015 , there were no transfers between levels of hierarchy . 

(ii)  As of December 31, 2016 , there are no liens on investment property . As of December 31, 2015 , the land lot  ćhv¤ bv¨ªín de Porres - LimaĈA ­}~x} £v~¤ªv~¤zy 

various liens granted by the previous owners that w ere released during the first half of 2016 . 

(iii)  For the building of these shopping malls, Intercorp Group  entered into contracts: leasehold (contractual agreement between the landowner and Intercorp Group  

through which Intercorp Group  is allowed to build shopping malls). These agreements have a term of duration ranging between 20 and 70 years.  
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(b) The movement of the caption is as follows : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Balance at the beginning  of the year  3,038,549  2,623,611  

Additions (c)  168,384  322,252  

Sales of assets (d) (8,527)  (35,306)  

Valuation gain, net  1,912  128,564  

Transfer to property, furniture  and equipment (e)  8,451  - 

Others - (572)  
 __________ __________ 
   

Ending balance  3,208,769  3,038,549  
 __________ __________ 

 

  

(c) During  2016, main additions  correspond  to disbursements made to the ac quisition of the 

ćev¤¥¨v£vĈ w«~¢y~¤| ¢¥xvªzy ~¤ a~£vA ª}z x¥¤©ª¨«xª~¥¤ ¥{ ćReal PlazaĈ Shopping Malls in 

Puruchuco and Villa María del Triunfo, as well as the ćgzv¢ e¢v°vĈ h}¥¦¦~¤| bv¢¢© ~¤ V¨z§«~¦vA 

Piura, Trujil lo and Cusco. 

 

During 2015, main additions correspond to disbursements made for the acquisition of the land 

lot  San Martín de Porres ą Lima and various works in the shopping malls.  

 

(d) During 2016 and  2015, minor  sales, in cash and at fair value , were made to third parties , 

recognizing a gain amounting to approximately S/2,795,000 and S/3,540 ,000 , respectively . 

 

i}z ¨z©«¢ª© ¥{ ª}z ©v¢z ¥{ ~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª ¦¨¥¦z¨ª~z© v¨z ¦¨z©z¤ªzy v© ć\v~¤ ¥¤ ©v¢z v¤y ¬v¢«vª~¥¤ ¥{ 

~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª ¦¨¥¦z¨ª¯A ¤zªĈ ~¤ ª}z x¥¤©¥¢~yated income statements.  

 

(e) During 2016, a certain part of the "Real Plaza Arequipa" Shopping Mall ceased to be used by 

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© h«w©~y~v¨~z© v¤y ©ªv¨ªzy ª¥ wz ¨z¤ªzy ª¥ «¤¨z¢vªzy x¥£¦v¤~z©C Therefore , a 

transfer from fixed asset to investment pr operty was performed.  

 

(f)  Fair value measurement ą Investment property and investment property under construction  

Valuation techniques  

The discounted cash flow (DCF) method is used for completed shopping malls, buildings and 

investment property built on land leases and on their own land.  

 

This method involves the projection of a series of periodic cash flows at present value through a 

discount rate. The periodic calculation of cash flows is normally determined as rental income net 

of operating expenses. T he series of periodic net operating income, together with an estimation 

of the final value (which uses the traditional valuation method) at the end of the projection 

period, is discounted at present value. The sum of the net current values is equal to the 

~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª ¦¨¥¦z¨ª¯Ċ© {v~¨ ¬v¢«zC 

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

64 

The fair value of land lots is determined based on the value assigned by an external appraiser. 

i}z z®ªz¨¤v¢ v¦¦¨v~©z¨ «©z© ª}z £v¨¡zª x¥£¦v¨vw¢z £zª}¥yP «¤yz¨ ª}~© £zª}¥y v ¦¨¥¦z¨ª¯Ċ© {v~¨ 

value is estimated based on comparable transactions. The unit of comparison applied by 

Intercorp Group is the price per square meter. As of December 31, 2016, the price range per 

square meter of San Isidro land is between US$5 ,000 and US$7,000 an d the average is 

US$5,746; the price range per square meter of the San Martín de Porres ą Lima land lot is 

between US$650 and US$850 and the average is US$658, the price per square meter of the 

Cuartel San Martín land lot is US$1,382, the price range per square meter of the Puruchuco land 

lot is between US$265 and US$375 and the average is US$300, for the other land lots the 

average price per square meter is US$208.  

 

Main assumptions  

A brief description of the assumptions considered in the determination of cash flow s as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, is presented below:  

 

- ERV  

Corresponds to the Estimated Rental Value, which is the rent at which the space could be 

leased under the market conditions prevailing on the date of valuation.  

- Long-term inflation  

It is the increase of the general level of prices expected in Peru for the long term.  

- Long-term occupancy rate  

It is the expected occupancy level of lessees in the leased properties.  

- Average growth rate of rental income  

It is the rate that expresses the rental income growth and inclu des growth factors of the 

industry, inflation rates, stable exchange rate, per capita income and increasing of 

expenses. 

- Average Net Operating Income (NOI) margin  

It is projected from the rental income from leasable areas, by property and marketing 

income, less costs related to administration fees, other administrative expenses, 

insurance, taxes and other expenses.  

- Average EBITDA margin  

 It is projected based on rental income of leasable areas per real property and marketing 

income, minus costs related to administration fees, other administrative expenses, 

insurance, taxes and other expenses.  

- Discount rate  

It reflects the current market risk and the uncertainty associated to obtaining cash flows.  
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The main assumptions used in the valuation and es timation of the market value of investment 

property are detailed below:  

 

 
US$ / Percentage   ___________________________________ 

 2016  2015  

   

ERV US$48.8  US$45.4  

Long-term inflation  2.5  2.5  

Long-term occupancy rate  95.0 / 98.4  95.0 / 98.4  

Average growth rate of rental income  3.8 / 2.5  2.9 / 2.5  

Average NOI margin  94.0  94.0  

Average EBITDA margin  84.6  87.0  

Discount rate  9.0  9.2  

 

Sensitivity analysis  

The sensitivity analysis on the valuation of investment property, against changes in factors 

deemed relevant by Management, is presented below:  

 

 

 

2016  2015  

  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

Average growth rate of rental  (basis)     

Increase +0.25% 103,157  86,014  

Decrease -0.25% (96,562)  (79,353)  

    
Discount rate (basis)     

Increase +0.5% (223,638)  (196,539)  

Decrease -0.5% 255,348  224,431  

 

A significant increase (decrease) in the price per square meter of the land lots could result in a 

significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.  

 

(g) The amounts of future minimum fixed rental income of Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© ~¤¬z©ª£z¤ª ¦¨¥¦z¨ª¯ 

are as follows:  

 

Year 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Within 1 year  187,941  184,362  

Over 1 year but not over 5 years  448,046  427,955  

Over 5 years 1,226,717  995,062  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  1,862,704  1,607,379  
 __________ __________ 
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  8. Inventories, net  

(a) The following table presents the components of this caption:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Inventories from retail activities, net (b)  1,433,042  1,300,368   

Inventories from real estate activities, net  29,265  22,230  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  1,462,307  1,322,598   
 __________ __________ 

 

(b)  The table below present s the balance of inventories from  retail activities:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Inventories  1,359,073  1,240,742  

In-transit inventories  73,022  61,239  

Miscellaneous supplies  13,600  16,296  
 __________ __________ 

 1,445,695  1,318,277  
   

Minus   

Allowance for obsolescence of inventories  (c) (12,653)  (17,909)  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  1,433,042  1,300,368  
 __________ __________ 

 

(c) The movement of the allowance for impairment  of inventories  by retail activities is as follows : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Balance at the beginning of the year  17,909  24,163  

Provision for the period  18,880  19,553  

Recoveries (15,573)  (20,469)  

Write-offs  (8,563)  (5,338)  
 _________ _________ 
   

Balance at the end of year  12,653  17,909  
 _________ _________ 

 

The provision for impairment of inventories is determined based on rotation levels, discounts for 

clearance sales and other characteristics based on periodical assessments performed by 

Management of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries. In the opinion of Ma nagement of Intercorp 

Perú and its Subsidiaries, the balance of this provision covers adequately the risk of impairment 

of inventories as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.  
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9. Property, furniture  and equipment , net  

(a) The movement of this item is as follows:  

 

Description  Land 

Building s and 

facilities  

Furniture and 

equipment  Vehicles  

Leasehold 

improvements  

In-transit equipment 

and work -in-

progress  Total 2016  Total 2015  

  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         

Cost         

Balance as of January 1  1,070,101  3,520,286  1,859,703  9,006  175,262  243,250  6,877,608  6,275,657  

Additions (b)  140,953  190,009  162,943  1,283  1,624  243,690  740,502  712,953  

Disposals and/or sales (2,952)  (12,416)  (66,063)  (1,876)  (313)  (4,494)  (88,114)  (111,002)  

Transfers  (42,035)  217,801  34,542  102  14,329  (224,739)  - - 

Transfers from investment property  - (8,451)  - - - - (8,451)  - 
  ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
         

Balance as of December 31  1,166,067  3,907,229  1,991,125  8,515  190,902  257,707  7,521,545  6,877,608  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

         

Accumulated depreciation          

Balance as of January 1  - 550,576  979,071  6,731  93,629  - 1,630,007  1,418,606  

Depreciation of  the year  - 106,482  205,103  1,181  12,954  - 325,720  291,571  

Disposals and/or sales  - (3,546)  (59,969)  (1,573)  (273)  - (65,361)  (80,170)  

Transfers  - (460)   460  - - - - - 
  ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
         

Balance as of December 31  - 653,052  1,124,665  6,339  106,310  - 1,890,366  1,630,007  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
         

Net cost as of December 31  1,166,067  3,254,177  866,460  2,176  84,592  257,707  5,631,179  5,247,601  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

(b) Additions of the years 2016 and 2015 mainly correspond to the construction and equipment of new premises for the retail business.  

 

(c) Financial entities established in Peru ha ve been prohibited from pledging the properties of their property, furniture  and equipment. As of December 31, 2016, Supermercados Peruanos S.A. maintains 

mortgaged lands, buildings and facilities for a net book value of approximately S/381,356,000 (approximately S/402,391,000 as  of December 31, 2015), to guarantee some financial obligations.  

 

(d) Management periodically reviews the residual value of the assets, the depreciation rate and the depreciation method used, to ensure that they are consistent with the economic benefit and life expectation of fixed assets. In 

bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ¥¦~¤~¥¤A ª}z¨z ~© ¤o evidence of impairment of the property, furniture  and equipment held by Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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(e) Additionally, this caption includes assets acquired through leasing transactions. As of December 

31, 2016 a nd 2015, the cost and related accumulated depreciation of these assets are as 

follows:  

  

 2016   __________________________________________________ 

Description  Cost 

Accumulated 

depreciation  Net cost  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
    

Buildings and facilities  371,915  (44,794)  327,121  

Furniture  and equipment 578,029  (240,245)  337,784  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ 

    

 949,944  (285,039)  664,905  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ 

  

 2015   __________________________________________________ 

Description  Cost 

Accumulated 

depreciation  Net cost  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
    

Buildings and facilities  353,403  (34,955)  318,448  

Vehicles 604  (592)  12  

Furniture  and equipment 477,079  (174,579)  302,500  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ 

    

 831,086  (210,126)  620,960  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ 
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10 . Accounts receivable and other assets, net; accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  

(a) These captions are comprised of the following : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

Accounts receivable and other assets, net    

Financial instruments    

Other accounts receivable, net  332,057  342,216  

Accounts receivable related to derivative financial instruments (b)  289,301  421,495  

Trade accounts receivable, net (c)  176,598  148,115  

Accounts receivable from sale of investments  (g) 147,655  86,544  

Assets for technical reserves for claims and premiums by 

reinsurers  128,168  91,100  

Operations in process (d)  37,830  28,845  

Accounts receivable from reinsurers and coinsurers  28,936  21,347  

Credit card commissions receivable  24,003  27,220  

Insurance operations receivables, net  19,407  42,912  
 __________ __________ 

 1,183,955  1,209,794  
 __________ __________ 

Non-financial instruments    

Value Added tax credit (e)  227,445  408,635  

Recoverable taxes 115,369  81,899  

Investments in associates 54,047  52,228  

Deferred charges (f)  68,220  84,991  

Prepaid rentals (f)  21,898  19,626  

Others 14,527  10,423  
 __________ __________ 

 501,506  657,802  
 __________ __________ 

Total  1,685,461  1,867,596  
 __________ __________ 

 
Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  

  

Financial instruments    

Trade accounts payable 2,040,149  1,855,898  

Other accounts payable 557,571  624,812  

Accounts payable related to derivative financial instruments (b)  236,137  384,734  

l¥¨¡z¨©Ċ ¦¨¥{~ª ©}v¨~¤| v¤y ©v¢v¨~z© ¦v¯vw¢z 208,335  203,199  

Operations in process (d)  118,828  83,090  

Accounts payable for acquisitions of investments(g)  75,152  173,025  

Accounts payable to reinsurers and coinsurers  51,468  47,479  

Allowance for indirect loan losses, Note 6(c)  23,976  23,613  

Accounts payable for acquisition of Subsidiary (h)  15,408  13,458  
 __________ __________ 

 3,327,024  3,409,308  
 __________ __________ 

Non-financial instruments    

Taxes payable 262,808  170,812  

Deferred income 142,641  148,316  

Provision for other contingencies (i)  53,751  35,378  

Others 53,533  42,337  
 __________ __________ 

 512,733  396,843  
 __________ __________ 

Total  3,839,757  3,806,151  
 __________ __________ 
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(b) The following table presents, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the fair value of derivative financial instruments recorded a s assets or liabilities, including their notional amounts. The notional amount is the nominal v£¥«¤ª ¥{ ª}z yz¨~¬vª~¬zĊ© 

underlying  asset and it is the base over which changes in fair value of derivatives are measured:  

 

  2016  2015  2016 and 2015    ________________________________________________________________________________ ________________________________________________________________________________ ____________________ 

 Note Assets  Liabilities  

Notional 

amount  Maturity  Assets  Liabilities  

Notional 

amount  Maturity  Hedged instruments  

  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)   S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)    

           

Derivatives held for trading            

Forward exchange contracts   43,926  20,741  3,879,532  Between January 2017 and March 2018  22,905  53,882  5,204,095  Between January 2016 and February 2017  - 

Interest rate swaps   25,715  18,263  2,727,519  Between December 2017 and December 2029  32,898  26,186  2,933,951  Between February 2016 and December 201 9 - 

Currency swaps  129,737  121,655  1,464,297  Between January 2017 and January 2025  268,262  207,464  3,581,877  Between January 2016 and January 2025  - 

Cross currency swaps  - 74,554  197,528  January 2023  - 92,919  200,765  January 2023  - 

Foreign currency options   432  924  192,573  Between January 2017 and July 2017  2,240  3,545  459,088  Between February 2016 and June 2017  - 
  __________ __________ ___________  __________ __________ ___________   

  199,810  236,137  8,461,449   326,305  383,996  12,379,776    

           
Derivatives held as hedges            

Cash flow hedges:           

Call Spreads  (*) 13(h)  55,908  - 671,200  July 2021  62,498  - 682,200  July 2021  Senior unsecured notes 

Call Spreads (*) 13(i)  25,404  - 335,600  October 2021  32,692  - 341,100  October 2021  Senior unsecured notes  

Call Spreads (*) 13(i)  6,332  - 100,680  October 2021  - - - - Senior unsecured notes 

Interest rate  swaps (IRS) 12(f)  967  - 167,800  October 2018  - - - - Due to banks 

Interest rate swaps (IRS) 12(g)  499  - 167,800  January 2018  - - - - Due to banks 

Interest rate swaps (IRS) 12(h)  381  - 134,240  August 2018  - - - - Due to banks 

Interest rate swaps (IRS) 13(k)  - - - - - 738  66,075  June 2016  Negotiable notes  (DPR) 
  __________ __________ ___________  __________ __________ __________   

  89,491  - 1,577,320   95,190  738  1,089,375    
  __________ __________ __________  __________ __________ __________   
           

  289,301  236,137  10,038,769   421,495  384,734  13,469,151    
  _________ _________ _________  _________ _________ _________   

 

(*)  These call spread contracts were celebrated during 2016 with Bank of Tokyo for a total reference value of US$30,000,000, and during 2015 with JP Morgan Chase & Co. and Deutsche Bank AG  for a total reference value of US$200,000,000 and US$ 100,000,00 0, 

respectively; and were agreed in order to reduce the exchange rate risk exposure caused by the foreign currency debt issued by I nRetail Shopping Malls and InRetail Consumer in July and October 2014, respectively, see Notes 13(h) and 13(i). In addition, the 

purchase price paid for such derivative financial instruments (premium) was financed in installments, generating a liability fo r the same amount, which total balance as of  December 31, 2016 and 2015 , amounted to approximately S/82,575,000 and S/91,486,000, 

respectively ; see Note 12(a). 

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , there are certain derivative financial instruments which according to the contracts signed have required the constitution of guarantee deposits ; see Note 4. 

 

(i) Derivatives held for trading are traded mainly to satisfy clients Ċ needs. Intercorp Group may als o take positions with the expectation of profiting from favorable movements in prices or rates. Also, this caption includes a ny derivatives 

which do not comply with IAS 39 hedging accounting requirements . 
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(ii)  A summary is presented below indicating: (i) when the current cash flow hedges are 

expected to occur and (ii) the effect on the cons olidated income statement s, net of the 

deferre d Income Tv®A ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z ćNet (loss) gain on trading securitiesĈ. 

 

 As of December 31, 2016  As of December 31, 2015   _____________________________ _____________________________ 

 Due within 

1 year  

From 1 to 

3 years  

Expected 

Effect  

Due within 

1 year  

From 1 to 3 

years  

Expected 

Effect  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
       

Consolidated 

income 

statements  ą 

Income  (expense) FLH FAFGM FAHEF =IJM> - =IJM> 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 

Transfer of net unrealized loss on cash flow hedges to the consolidated income 

statements is presented in Note 16(d).  

 

(c) This amount includes mainly trade accounts receivable of the retail business due to (i) sales by 

credit card in the last days of every year; and (ii) sale of merchandise vouchers to various 

companies and public institutions. These receivable balances are d enominated in US Dollars and 

Soles, have current maturities and do not bear interest. As of the date of this report, these 

balances were mostly collected.  

 

(d) Operations in process are related to transactions of the financial entities performed during th e 

last days of the month such as loans granted and disbursed, transfers and similar operations, 

which are transferred to their corresponding book accounts in the following month. The 

regularization of these transactions does not affect the consolidated res ults as of December 31, 

2016 and 2015.  

 

(e) Corresponds to the Value -Added-iv® =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ć^\kĈA {¥¨ ~ª© h¦v¤~©} vx¨¥¤¯£> ¨z©«¢ª~¤| {¨¥£ 

(i) the purchase of goods intended, mainly, for leasing operations carried out by Interbank, which 

is recovered throu gh the collection of these operations, (ii) the expansion and construction of 

shopping malls and premises, which currently are in the process of completion ; see Note 7, 

v£¥¤| ¥ª}z¨ vx§«~©~ª~¥¤© ¨z¢vªzy ^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ċ© ¥¦z¨vª~¥¤©C  

 

(f)  This balance includes, mainly, prepaid rentals, prepaid insurance, among others.  
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(g) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, correspond to accounts receivable and payable for the sale 

and purchase of securities in the last days of December, which have been settled during the first 

days of January of the next year.  

 

(h) The IPAE purchase agreements include put and call options on remaining non -controlling 

interests, which are enforceable as of the fifth year from the date of purchase and for an 

indefinite term. As of December 31, 201 6, financial liabilities related to put options granted to 

non-controlling interests of  IPAE amount to approximately S/15,408,000 (S/ 7,7 04,000 by 

Intercorp Group and S/ 7,704,000 by NG Capital Partners II LP) and as of December 31, 2015, 

related financial l iabilities amounted to ap proximately S/13,458,000 (S/ 6,7 29,000 by Intercorp 

Group and S/6,729,000 by NG Capital Partners II LP).  

 

(i) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, these amounts include provisions for several legal 

contingencies arising from lawsuits o f Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries due to the nature of 

their businesses. For such lawsuits , provisions are made when, in the opinion of Management and 

its legal advisers, it is probable that the liability will be assumed by Intercorp Perú  Ltd. and its 

Subsidiaries and the amount can reasonably be estimated.   
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(j) The following table presents the movement of goodwill, trademark, other intangible s and accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2016:  

 

Description  Software  

Software  

in transit  

Trademarks  

(j-1) 

Goodwill 

 (j-2) 

Other intangible  

assets 

(*)  

Total  

2016  

Total  

2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

Cost        

Balances as of January 1  580,804  50,729  455,621  995,631  51,336  2,134,121  2,003,088  

Additions  68,625  104,014  - - 4,394  177,033  135,549  

Disposals and/or sales (1,604)  - - (3,699)  (1,006)  (6,309)  (4,516)  

Transfers  44,331  (47,968)  - - 3,637  - - 
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ __________ 

Balances as of December 31  692,156  106,775  455,621  991,932  58,361  2,304,845  2,134,121  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ __________ 

        

Accumulated amortization         

Balances as of January 1  302,176  1,661  - - 22,766  326,603  257,335  

Amortization of the year  84,342  - - - 11,152  95,494  69,298  

Disposals and/or sales (232)  - - - - (232)  (30)  

Transfers  2,096  (1,661)  - - 5,613  6,048  - 
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ __________ 
        

Balances as of December 31  388,382  - - - 39,531  427,913  326,603  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ __________ 
        

Net cost  303,774  106,775  455,621  991,932  18,830  1,876,932  1,807,518  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ __________ 

   

(*)   Other intangible assets contain intangible s ©«x} v© ći¨vyz£v¨¡© pz¨£~©©~¥¤©ĈA ćgz¢vª~¥¤©}~¦ ­~ª} x¢~z¤ª©Ĉ v¤y ćazv©z x¥¤ª¨vxª©Ĉ ~yz¤ª~{~zy vª ª}z ª~£z ¥{ vx§«~©~ª~¥¤ ¥{ ^eVZ v¤y jieC 

 

(j-1) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , x¥¨¨z©¦¥¤y© ª¥ ª}z {v~¨ ¬v¢«z ¥{ ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡© ć^¤¡v{v¨£vĈ v¤y ćjieĈDć^YViĈ for approximately S/ 373,054,000 and S/82,567,000. These assets were allocated to the Cash Generating Units 

(CGU) ćPharmaciesĈ v¤y ćZy«xvª~¥¤ĈA ¨z©¦zxª~¬z¢¯A v¤y v¨z «©zy {¥¨ ~£¦v~¨£z¤ª ªz©ª©C bv¤v|z£z¤ª ¥{ ª}z X¥£¦v¤¯ v¤y ~ª© h«w©~y~v¨~z© }v© z©ª~£vted the fair value of trademarks by using the ćgz¢~z{-from -Royalty MethodĈ. The main 

assumption of this method is that the Subsidiary that owns the trademark saves the payment of any royalties to another hypoth etical owner, thus the value of said trademark would be represent ed by the amount that is relieved from 

any royalty payment.  

 

Additionally, it is deemed that trademarks have indefinite useful lives due to the following factors:  

 

- Asset history and use expectation: This is the most important factor to consider in the definition of the useful life of a tr ademark. The acquired trademarks are highly renowned in the industries (sectors) 

operated by the Subsidiaries in Peru and it is exp ected that they will get reinforced in the market in the long term.   

 

- Legal, regulatory or contractual limits to the useful life of an intangible asset: There are no legal, regulatory or contract ual limits related to the trademarks, which are duly protect ed and their relevant 

registrations are kept in force.  
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- Effect of obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors: The trademarks 

have been highly renowned in their respective industries in Peru for more than 15 years. 

This implies a low obsolescence risk. 

 

- The continuity of the levels of investment necessar y to generate the future cash flows 

projected for the trademarks is based on advertising, technology and growth and innovation 

of infrastructure for pharmacies and educational services. On the other hand, there are 

expected efficiencies as result of the sy nergies and the operations growth, which are 

compatible and reasonable for the industries in which these Subsidiaries operate. 

Nevertheless, it is also contemplated an increase in administrative expenses in order to 

support the projected increase in sales.  

 

- Relationship of the useful life of an asset or group of assets with the useful life of an 

intangible asset: Trademarks are not dependent on the useful life of an asset or group of 

assets that existed independently, and they are not related to sectors sub ject to 

technological obsolescence or other causes.  

 

(j-2) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the detail of goodwill is as follows:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Eckerd and Subsidiaries ą Inkafarma 709,472  709,472  

Inmobiliaria Milenia S.A.  171,089  171,089  

Universidad Tecnológica del Perú  70,397  70,992  

Servicios Educativos Empresariales S.A.C. 27,167  27,167  

Others 13,807  16,911  
 _________ _________ 
   

 991,932  995,631  
 _________ _________ 

 

In the opinion of Management of Intercorp  Group, there is no evidence of impairment in its 

intangible assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. Also, Management performs annually an 

assessment on the recoverability of its assets with indefinite useful lives, comprised of the 

trademarks and goodwil ¢A wv©zy ¥¤ xv©} |z¤z¨vª~¤| «¤~ª ćPharmaciesĈ ={¥¨ ª}z ª¨vyz£v¨¡ 

ć^¤¡v{v¨£vĈ v¤y ¥¤ ª}z |¥¥y­~¢¢ x¥¨¨z©¦¥¤y~¤| ª¥ ª}z ¦«¨x}v©z ¥{ Zx¡z¨y \¨¥«¦>A ćgzv¢ Z©ªvªzĈ 

={¥¨ |¥¥y­~¢¢ x¥¨¨z©¦¥¤y~¤| ª¥ ª}z ¦«¨x}v©z ¥{ ^¤£¥w~¢~v¨~v b~¢z¤~v hCVC> v¤y ćZy«xvª~¥¤Ĉ ={¥¨ ª}e 

ª¨vyz£v¨¡ ćjieĈDć^YViĈ v¤y ¥¤ ª}z |¥¥y­~¢¢ x¥¨¨z©¦¥¤y~¤| ª¥ ª}z ¦«¨x}v©z ¥{ j¤~¬z¨©~yvy 

Tecnológica del Perú and IPAE). 
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The recoverable amount {¨¥£ ª}z xv©} |z¤z¨vª~¤| «¤~ª© će}v¨£vx~z©ĈA ćgzv¢ Z©ªvªzĈ v¤y 

ćZy«xvª~¥¤Ĉ }vs been determined on the basis of a value in use calculation by using projected 

cash flows over budgets approved by Management which cover a certain period. The cash flows 

that extend beyond the period determined in the projections were extrapolated by usin g a 

specific growth rate that is similar to the long -term average growth rate for the industry in which 

each cash generating unit operates. As result of this analysis, Management did not identify any 

impairment in the value of the cash generating units to which goodwill and trademarks are 

assigned. 

  

Following are the key assumptions used in the impairment assessment for each Cash Generating 

Units, as of December 31, 2016:  

 

Cash Generating Unit (CGU) Discount rate  

Long-term 

growth rate  

Long-term 

EBITDA margin  

 
% % % 

    

Pharmacies 11.10  3.00  10.4 ą 11.6  

Real estate  9.0 0 2.50  85.60  

Education 13.90  4.20  38.70  

 

Discount rate: Represents the assessment of the specific risks of the Cash Generating Unit, in 

relation with the temporary value of money and the individual risks of the underlying assets that 

have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The calculation of the discount rate 

corresponds to the weighted average of the capital cost (WACC ).  

 

Long-term growth rate: Represents the cash flow growth beyond the projection period.  

 

Sensitiveness to changes in assumptions 

Management considers that there are not reasonably possible changes in any of the key 

assumptions that would make the book value substantially higher than the recoverable amount.  

 

Management periodically evaluates the amortization method applied in order to ensure its 

x¥¤©~©ªz¤x¯ ­~ª} ª}z zx¥¤¥£~x wz¤z{~ª ¥{ ~¤ªv¤|~w¢z©C ^¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ¥¦~¤~¥¤A ª}z¨z ~© ¤¥ 

evidence of impairmz¤ª ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ~¤ªv¤|~w¢z v©©zª© v© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA GEFK v¤y 

2015 .  
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11 . Deposits and obligations  

(a) This caption is comprised of the following : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Time deposits (d) 10,018,365  9,719,112  

Demand Deposits 9,505,575  8,948,445  

Saving deposits 8,915,306  8,198,066  

Compensation for service time  1,490,213  1,388,849  

Other obligations  4,392  27,641  
 ____________ ____________ 
   

 29,933,851  28,282,113  
 ____________ ____________ 

 

(b) Interest rates applied to deposits and obligations are determined based on market interest rates. 

Demand deposits and savings accounts are paid according to  the average balance.  

 

(c) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015,  approximately  S/8 ,269 ,694 ,000 and S/7,5 56,786,000 , 

respectively, of deposits and obligation s are covered by the Deposit Insurance Fund. 

 

(d) The table below presents the balance of time deposits classified by maturity as of December 31, 

2016 and 2015 : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Up to 1 month  3,034,535  3,919,092  

From 1 to 3 months  2,535,844  1,868,934  

From 3 months to 1 year  3,897,374  3,121,308  

From 1 to 5 years  528,039  808,250  

Over 5 years 22,573  1,528  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

 10,018,365  9,719,112  
 ___________ ___________ 
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12. Due to banks and correspondents  

(a) This caption is comprised of the following : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

By type    

Obligations to BCRP (b) 3,048,412  3,005,900  

Promotional credit lines (c)  1,642,588  1,675,189  

Loans received from Peruvian entities (d)  1,157,603  1,263,190  

Loans received from foreign entities (e)  882,450  1,575,941  

Loans for purchase of derivative financial  

instruments, Note 10(b)  82,575  91,486  

Loans received from third parties  66,303  70,842  
 __________ __________ 
   

 6,879,931  7,682,548  

Interest and commissions payable  68,757  86,126  
 __________ __________ 
   

 6,948,688  7,768,674  
 __________ __________ 

By term    

Short term  2,249,430  2,469,193  

Long term  4,699,258  5,299,481  
 __________ __________ 
   

 6,948,688  7,768,674  
 __________ __________ 

 
(b) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, corresponds to currency repurchase operations according 

to which Interbank receives Soles and delivers US Dollars to the BCRP (for an amount equivalent 

to the one received).  The US Dollars delivered are recorded as restricted funds ; see Note 4. As of 

December 31, 2016, these obligations have maturities between  January 2017 and March 2019 

(as of December 31,  2015, had maturities between February 2016 and March 2019), accrue 

interest at effective interest rates of 3.00 and 6.38 percent (as of December 31, 2015 these 

obligation s accrued interest at effective interes rates of 3.00 and 6.16 percent) and generated 

interests payable for a pproximately S/41,531,000 as of December 31, 2016 (S/ 44,770,000 as 

of December 31, 2015) . Additionally, as of December 31, 2016, a securities repurchase 

transaction is included, under which Interbank receives a debt in Soles of approximately 

S/99,912,000 and delivers Negotiable Certificates of Deposit issued  by the BCRP, the collateral 

provided is recorded as available -for -sale investment ; see note 5 (d); this transaction was 

liquidated in January 2017 , accrued interest at an annual rate of 4.58 percent  and generated 

interest of approximately S/13,000.  
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(c)  The promotional credit lines represent loans in Soles and US Dollars received from Corporación 

Financiera de Desarrollo (COFIDE), corresponding to credit lines granted with the purpose of 

promoting development in Peru.  These liabilities are guaranteed wit h loan portfolio up to the 

amount of the line used and includes specific agreements on how the funds should be used, the 

{~¤v¤x~v¢ x¥¤y~ª~¥¤© ª}vª £«©ª wz £v~¤ªv~¤zy v¤y ¥ª}z¨ vy£~¤~©ª¨vª~¬z £vªªz¨©C ^¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© 

opinion, Intercorp Group is complying wi th these requirements. These loans accrued an effective 

annual interest rate that fluctuated between 7.55 and 10.00 percent for local currency loans, 

and between 4.13 and 8.06 percent for foreign currency loans; these loans have maturities 

between May 2017  and November 2031 , as of december 31,2016 (7.12 and 9.85 for local 

currency loans and between 4.02 and 8.01 for foreign currency loans; and maturities between 

April 2016 and December  2019, as of December 31, 2015).  

 

(d) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , it includes the following:  

 

Entity  

Final  

Maturity  2016  2015  

  S/(000)  S/(000)  
    

Scotiabank Perú S.A.A. 2023  410,603  499,432  

Banco de Crédito del Perú S.A. 2023  217,446  236,011  

Banco Interamericano de Finanzas S.A. 2022  175,045  151,823  

BBVA Banco Continental S.A.  2023  121,427  139,048  

Banco GNB Perú S.A 2020  108,874  102,500  

Citibank del Perú S.A. 2017  65,298  87,397  

Banco Financiero del Perú S.A. 2019  56,490  46,383  

Others - 2,420  596  
  __________ __________ 
    

  1,157,603  1,263,190  
  __________ __________ 

 

  Obligations with local banks correspond mainly to leasing operations and loans, which were 

allocated for the acquisition of assets and working capital, and have specific guarantees. These 

obligations do not have any special x¥¤y~ª~¥¤© ª¥ wz £zª =ćx¥¬z¤v¤ª©Ĉ> ¥¨ ¨z©ª¨~xª~¥¤ v{{zxª~¤| ª}z 

operations of Intercorp Group.  These operations accrued interests at an effective annual rate 

between 5.79 and 9.54 percent i n local currency and between 7.9 5 and 8.00 percent in foreign 

curre ncy during 2016 (between 4.92 and 10.85 in local currency and between 7.95 and 8.00 

percent in foreign currency during 2015) . 

 

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  
 

 

79 

(e) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, includes the following:  

 

Entity  Country  Final maturity  2016  2015  

     

   
 

S/(000)  S/(000)  
     

Wells Fargo Bank & Co. (f) USA 2018  167,800  170,550  

HSBC Bank PLC (g) England 2018  167,800  170,550  

JP Morgan Chase & Co. (h) USA 2018  134,240  68,220  

Bank of Tokyo Japan 2019  100,048  - 

Bank J. Safra Sarasin AG Switzerland  2017  67,120  68,269  

Banco Latinoamericano de 

exportaciones ą BLADEX 

 

Supranational  2018  49,586  83,996  

Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo  Supranational  2024  44,978  44,978  

Itau Corpbanca New York Branch USA 2017  33,600   

Sumitono Bank USA 2017  33,560  - 

BanColombia Colombia 2023  33,318  34,130  

Bank of America USA 2016  - 102,330  

Development Bank of Latin America  (CAF) Supranational 2016  - 85,275  

China Development Bank China 2016  - 17,055  

Syndicated loan (i) Various 2016  - 679,393  

Others Various - 50,400  51,195  
    __________ __________ 
     

   
 

882,450  1,575,941  
   __________ __________ 

 
Transactions with foreign entities bore an average eff ective annual interest rate of 3.37  

percent dur ing 201 6 (2.85 percent during 2015 ). 

 

(f)  As of December 31, 2016 , corresponds to two loans for US$40,000,000 and US$10,000,000 

received by Interbank in September 2016 , which accrued interest at a 3-month Libor rate plus 

1.20 percent and a 3-month Libor rate plus 1.10 per cent, respectively. In October 2016, Interbank 

signed two interest rate swaps, which were designed as cash flow hedge s; see Note 10(b); through 

these operations the loans were economic ally convert ed into fixed rate loans.  

 

As of December 31, 2015 , corresponds to two loans for US$30,000,000 and US$20,000,000 

received by Interbank in December 2013  and 2015, respectively. These loans expired on 

January 2016 and March 2016 and accrued interests at 6 -months Libor rate  plus 1.50 per cent 

and 1-month Libor  rate plus 0.35 per cent, respectively.  

 

(g) Corresponds to a loan for US$50,000,000 received by Interbank in December 2015 which 

accrued interest at a 3-month Libor rate plus 0.90 per cent. In July 2016, Interbank signed an 

interest rate swap, which was designated as a cash flow hedge; see Note 10(b); through this 

operation the loan was economic ally converted into a fixed rate loan . 
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(h) Corresponds to a loan for US$40,000,000 received by Interbank in July 2016 which accrued 

interest at a 6-month Libor r ate plus 1.15 per cent. In July 2016, Interbank signed an interest 

rate swaps, which were designated as cash flow hedges ; see Note 10(b) ; through this operation 

loans were economically converted into fixed rate loans .   

 

(i) Correspond ed to a syndicated loa n received in July 2013 for approximately US$200,000,000 in 

which fifteen foreign financial entities participate d, of which Bank of America N.A. (USA) and 

Citibank N.A. (USA) participated with US$40,000,000 each  one. The maturity of this loan was in 

October 2016 and it accrues interest at the 6 -month Libor plus 1.85 percent.  

 

(j) Some of the loan agreements include standard covenants related to financial ratios , use of funds 

and other administrative  matters. ^¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ¥¦~¤~¥¤A ª}z©z x¢v«©z© do not limit their 

operations and they have been met in accordance with international standard practices for these 

transactions.  

 

(k) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the amortization calendar  of financial debts and obligations 

is as follows: 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

2016  - 2,469,193  

2017  2,249,430  1,862,389  

2018  2,323,083  1,407,281  

2019  285,289  461,403  

2020 onwards  2,090,886  1,568,408  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

 6,948,688  7,768,674  
 ___________ ___________ 

 



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish ą Note 37  

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

 

81 

13 . Bonds, notes and other obligations  

(a) This caption is comprised of the following : 
 

Issuance Annual interest rate  

Interest 

payment  Maturity  Amount issued  2016  2015  

    (000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

Local issuances        

Corporate bonds        

Financiera Oh! S.A. ą first issuance  10.50% Quarterly  2018  S/30,000  29,980  29,980  
     __________ __________ 

     29,980  29,980  
     __________ __________ 

Subordinated bonds (b)        

Interbank ą first program ą second issuance (B series) 9.50% Semiannually 2023  US$30,000  100,680  102,330  

Interbank ą first program - third issuance (A series)  3.5% + (VAC) Semiannually 2023  S/110,000  110,000  110,000  

Interbank ą first program - fifth issuance (A series)  8.50% Semiannually 2019  S/3,300  3,300  3,300  

Interbank ą first program - sixth issuance (A series) 8.16% Semiannually 2019  US$15,110  50,709  51,540  

Interbank ą first program - eighth issuance (A series) 6.91% Semiannually 2022  S/137,900  137,184  137,900  

Interbank ą second program ą second issuance (A series) 5.81% Semiannually 2023  S/150,000  149,684  149,641  

Interbank ą second program ą third issuance (A series)  7.50% Semiannually 2023  US$50,000  167,360  169,305  

Interseguro ą first program ą first issuance  9.00% Quarterly  2016  US$5,000  - 171  

Interseguro  ą second program - first tranche  6.97% Semiannually 2024  US$35,000  117,460  119,385  

Interseguro  - second program ą second tranche 6.00% Semiannually 2024  US$15,000  50,340  51,164  
     __________ __________ 

     886,717  894,736  

Securitized bonds        

Colegios Peruanos S.A. ą first issuance ą A and B series 8.78%    Semiannually 2035  S/66,000  26,610  32,156  

Colegios Peruanos S.A. ą second issuance ą A series  8.78% Semiannually 2035  S/50,000  42,295  43,010  
     __________ __________ 

     68,905  75,166  

Negotiable certificates of deposit        

Financiera Oh! S.A. - Negotiable certificates of deposit  Between 4.25% y 8.25% Annually 2017  S/348,339  330,183  172,173  
     __________ __________ 

     330,183  172,173  
     __________ __________ 

Total local issuance     1,315,785  1,172,055  
     __________ __________ 
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Issuance Annual interest rate  

Interest 

payment  Maturity  Amount issued  2016  2015  

    (000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

International issuance       

Interbank - Subordinated bonds (c) 6.625% Semiannually 2029  US$300,000  1,000,573  1,016,314  

Interbank - Junior subordinated notes (d)  8.50% Semiannually 2070  US$200,000  664,153  668,566  

Interbank - senior bonds (e) 5.75% Semiannually 2020  US$400,000  1,335,970  1,356,245  

Interbank - senior bonds (e) 5.75% Semiannually 2020  US$250,000  780,328  825,199  

Financiera Oh! S.A. ą Corporate bonds - third issuance  9.00% Semiannually 2017  US$20,331  67,203  66,790  

Financiera Oh! S.A. ą Corporate bonds ą second issuance 8.50% Semiannually 2016  S/20,000  - 20,000  

Intercorp Perú Ltd. ą senior bonds (f) 5.88% Semiannually 2025  US$250,000  760,220  772,515  

Intercorp Perú Ltd. ą senior bonds (f) 7.66% Semiannually 2030  S/301,500  297,591  297,378  

Intercorp Perú  Ltd. ą issuance notes (g) 8.00% Upon maturity  2017  US$12,000  40,320  40,920  

InRetail Shopping Malls - senior unsecured notes (h)  6.50% Semiannually 2021  US$350,000  936,147  938,518  

InRetail Shopping Malls - senior unsecured notes (h)  7.875% Semiannually 2034  S/141,000  82,980  80,365  

InRetail Consumer - senior unsecured notes (i) ą (j) 5.25% Semiannually 2021  US$300,000  575,535  582,122  

InRetail Consumer - senior unsecured notes (i)  6.81% Semiannually 2021  S/250,000  249,314  249,197  

Intercorp Retail Inc. ą senior secured notes ą first issuance  7.00% Semiannually 2017  US$25,000  65,230  64,937  
     __________ __________ 

     6,855,564  6,979,066  
     __________ __________ 
       

Negotiable notes (DPR)        

First - IBK DPR Securitizadora (k) Libor 3M + 4.25% Quarterly  2016  US$121,000  - 66,075  
     __________ __________ 

Total international issuances      6,855,564  7,045,141  
     __________ __________ 
       

Total local and international issuances      8,171,349  8,217,196  
     __________ __________ 
       

Interest payable      204,164  182,341  
     __________ __________ 
       

Total      8,375,513  8,399,537  
     __________ __________ 
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(b) Subordinated bonds do not have specific guarantees  and according to what has been established 

by the SBS, the subordinated bonds issued by Interbank qualify as seco nd tier equity =ći~z¨ GĈ> in 

the determination of the regulatory capital ; see Note 16  (f).  

 

(c) Starting in March 2024, the interest rate becomes a floating interest rate of 3 -month Libor plus 

576 basis points payable on a quarterly  basis. Starting on that date and on any interest payment 

date, Interbank can redeem all the bonds without penalties.  

 

In accordance with SBS regulation, this issuance qualifies as second ª~z¨ z§«~ª¯ =ći~z¨ GĈ> ~¤ ª}z 

determination of the ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ equity  for legal purposes ; see Note 16 (f).  

 

 As of December 31, 2016, Management does not intend to redeem these bonds before their 

maturity.  

 

(d) Starting in April 2020, the interest rate becomes a floating interest  rate of 3 -month Libor plus 

674 basis points payable on a semi -annual basis, provided that the floating interest rate for any of 

the periods  will not be less than 10.5 percent annual. Starting on that date, Interbank can redeem 

all the bonds, without penalties. Interest payments are non -cumulative if they cease to be made, 

y«z ª¥ ^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ċ© ¨~|}ª ª¥ xv¤xz¢ ~¤ªz¨z©ª ¦v¯£z¤ª© {¥¨ ¦¨¥}~w~ª~¥¤© z©ªvw¢~©}zy w¯ ª}z hWhA ¥¨ ~{ 

it is determined that Interbank is in non -compliance with applica ble minimum regulatory capital 

requirements. In such cases, Interbank may not declare, pay or distribute any dividend for the 

period in which interest payments are not made. The payment of principal will take place on the 

maturity date of the notes or when  Interbank redeems the notes.  

 

This issuance qualifies as Tier 1 equity ; nevertheless, the SBS establishes a 17.65 percent limit, 

which is computed over the capital, reserves and retained earnings with capitalization agreement 

of Interbank in the determination of regulatory capital ; any excess qualifies as Tier 2 equity ; see 

Note 16 (f).  

 

As of December 31, 2016, Management does not intend to redeem these bonds before their 

maturity.  

 

(e) Starting in April 2016, Interbank can red eem all these bonds, on any coupon payment date, 

paying a penalty equal to the United States Treasury rate plus 50 basis points.  

 

The payment of principal of both issuances will take place on the maturity date of the bonds or 

when Interbank redeems them.  

 

As of December 31, 2016, Management does not intend to redeem these bonds before their 

maturity.  
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(f)  Issued in February 2015 through a private offering in the local and international market. 

Issuance expenses amounted to approximately S/18,800,000, whic h are presented deduct ing 

the value of the notes issued; as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 approximately S/2,324,000 

and S/700,000 have accrued. Proceeds from these issuances were used mainly for:  

 

- Redemption of the bonds called "8.625% Secured Notes due 2019" issued by Intercorp 

Perú, and payment of S/37,432,000, corresponding to the premium assumed for  the 

repurchase of these bonds , which effect on the consolidated income statement s is 

presented net of the issuance premium which adds up to S/7,125,000. See Note 19 . 

 

- Payment of other financial obligations . 

 

(g) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the notes issued correspond to non -subordinated  

obligations, they do not have specific guarantees and have been placed through private of fering.  

 

(h) In July 2014, InRetail Real Estate Corp. issued, through InRetail Shopping Malls, a private tender 

¥{{z¨ ~¤ ª}z ¢¥xv¢ v¤y {¥¨z~|¤ £v¨¡zª ¥{ ćhz¤~¥¨ j¤©zx«¨zy c¥ªz©ĈC  

 
The issuance for US$350,000,000 was recorded in the consolidated financial statements at 

amortized cost at an annual effective interest rate of 7.806 percent, after considering the 

respective up -front fees of approximately US$20,571,000 (equivalent to a total of approximately 

S/69,118,000 as of December 31, 2016 and approximately  S/82,604,000 as of December 31, 

2015). In addition, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance is presented net of 

US$50,814,000 (equivalent to approximately S/170,735,000 and S/173,428,000 as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively), corresponding  to the notes of this issuance held by 

InRetail Shopping Malls. 

 

The issuance for S/141,000,000 was recorded in the consolidated financial statements at 

amortized cost at an annual effective interest rate of 7.988 percent, after considering the 

respective up -front fees of approximately S/1,676,000 (S/1,635,000 as of Dec ember 31, 2015). 

In addition, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance is presented net of S/4,000,000 

and S/59,000,000, respectively, corresponding to the notes of this issuance held by InRetail 

Shopping Malls. 

 

Proceeds from these issuances were mainly used for:  

 

- The purchase of investment property . 

- Investments in real estate projects.  

- The prepayment of certain debts from previous years . 
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As a consequence of these issuances, InRetail Shopping Malls must comply with certain 

covenants (mainly  financial ratios) until maturity and cancellation, which, in Management's 

opinion, do not limit the operations of Intercorp Group and have been complied as of December 

31, 2016 and 2015. Also, 100 percent of the "Senior Unsecured Notes" is guaranteed by t he 

shares of InRetail Real Estate Corp. and Subsidiaries. 

 

Y«¨~¤| GEFJA ª}z \¨¥«¦ z¤ªz¨zy ~¤ª¥ v ćXv¢¢ h¦¨zvyĈ x¥¤ª¨vxª ¥{ {¥¨z~|¤ x«¨¨z¤x¯ {¥¨ v ¤¥ª~¥¤v¢ 

amount of US$200,000,000 ; see Note 10(b); which was designated as cash flow hedge; said 

contract redu ces exposure to exchange rate risk arising from the foreign currency debt.  

 

(i) In October 2014, Intercorp Retail Inc ., issued through InRetail Consumer a private  offering in the 

international and local market called "Senior Unsecured Notes 2021".  

 

The issuance for US$300,000,000 was recorded in the consolidated financial statements at 

amortized cost at an annual effective interest rate of 5.5869 percent, after considering the 

respective up -front fees of approximately US$4,184,000 (equivalent to a total of  approximately 

S/14,058,000 as of December 31, 2016 and S/16,836,000 as of December 31, 2015). In 

addition, the balance is presented net of US$124,526,000 (equivalent to approximately 

S/418,407,000 and S/424,942,000 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respec tively), 

corresponding to the notes of this issuance held by InRetail Consumer.  

  

The issuance for S/250,000,000 was recorded in the consolidated financial statements at 

amortized cost at an annual effective interest rate of 6.8805 percent, after considering the 

respective up -front fees of approximately S/686,000 (S/803,000 as of Decemb er 31, 2015).  

 

Proceeds from these issuances were mainly used for : 

 

- The purchase of investment property . 

- Investments in various projects.  

- The prepayment of certain debts from previous years  

 

As a consequence of these issuances, certain obligations and restrictive clauses (mainly financial 

ratios) must be complied  until maturity and cancellation, which, in Management's opinion, do not 

limit the operations of Intercorp Group and have been complied as of December 31, 2016 and 

2015. Furthermore, 100 percent of the "Senior Unsecured Notes 2021" is guaranteed by the 

shares of Supermercados Peruanos S.A. and Eckerd Perú S.A. 

 

During 2016 and 2015, Intercorp Group entered into a foreign currency "Call Spread" agreement 

for a nominal amoun t of up to US$30,000,000 and US$100,000,000, respectively, see note 

10(b), which was designated as cash flow hedge; those agreement reduces exchange rate risk 

exposure arising from the foreign currency debt.  
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(j) During 2015, senior notes were repurchased  for  a total amount of approximately 

US$138,911,000. As a result of these repurchases, the premiums paid (penalties) amounted to 

approximately S/19,028,000 during said year; see Note 19.  

 

(k) These notes were guaranteed with remittances received by Interbank through SWIFT transfers. In 

order to cover the variable component of the interest rate, Interbank subscribed an interest rate 

swap contract, for which it received a 3-month Libor rate plus 425 basis points and paid a fixed 

annual rate of 7.90 percent ; see Note 10(b).  

 

(l) Local and international issuances maintain certain financial and operational covenants, which, in 

the opinion of Management, do not limit its operations and they have been complied with  as of 

the dates of the consolidated statement s of financial position.  

 

(m) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the payment schedule of these obligations is as follow s: 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Year   

2016  - 268,587  

2017  672,406  344,820  

2018  30,037  29,980  

2019  54,009  54,840  

2020 onwards  7,619,061  7,701,310  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  8,375,513  8,399,537  
 ___________ ___________ 

 

14 . Insurance contract liabilities  

(a) This caption is as follows : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Technical reserves for premiums (b) 4,838,260  4,347,734  

Technical reserves for claims  (c) 172,253  129,355  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

 5,010,513  4,477,089  
 ___________ ___________ 

   

By term    

Short term  452,055  332,651  

Long term  4,558,458  4,144,438  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  5,010,513  4,477,089  
 ___________ ___________ 
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(b) The movement of technical reserves disclosed by type of insurance for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , is as follows:  

 

 2016  2015   __________________________________________________________________________ __________________________________________________________________________ 

 Annuities  

Retirement, 

disability and 

survival 

annuities  

Life 

insurance  

General 

insurance  Total  Annuities  

Retirement, 

disability and 

survival 

annuities  

Life 

insurance  

General 

insurance  Total  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
           

Beginning balance s 4,061,692  122,527  131,186  32,329  4,347,734  3,437,762  129,349  98,363  32,546  3,698,020  

Insurance subscriptions  425,895  - 3,953  27,631  457,479  642,672  - 4,968  24,823  672,463  

Time passage adjustments (*)  68,318  (935)  30,996  (22,523)  75,856  (242,916)  (6,822)  20,826  (25,538)  (254,450)  

Maturities and recoveries  - - (10,879)  - (10,879)  - - (7,363)  - (7,363)  

Exchange differences (29,734)  - (2,299)  103  (31,930)  224,174  - 14,392  498  239,064  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ 
           

Ending balances 4,526,171  121,592  152,957  37,540  4,838,260  4,061,692  122,527  131,186  32,329  4,347,734  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ 

 

(*)  The table below presents the composition of the adjustments due to time  passage as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 : 

 

 2016  2015   __________________________________________________________ __________________________________________________________ 

 
Annuities  (**)  

Life 

insurance  

General 

insurance  Total  Annuities  (**)  

Life 

insurance  

General 

insurance  Total  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
         

Interest rate effect  116,468  - - 116,468  (218,096)  - - (218,096)  

Aging insured population effect  (78,202)  30,996  (22,523)  (69,729)  (65,240)  20,826  (25,538)  (69,952)  

Inflation and other effects  29,117  - - 29,117  33,598  - - 33,598  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
         

Time passage adjustments  67,383  30,996  (22,523)  75,856  (249,738)  20,826  (25,538)  (254,450)  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

 

(**)  It includes retirement, disability and survival annuities.  

 

(c) Below is the balance of technical reserves for outstanding claims (according to type of insurance)  as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 : 

 

 2016  2015  
 __________________________________________________________________________ __________________________________________________________________________ 

 Annuities  

Retirement, 

disability and 

survival  

annuities  

Life 

insurance  

General 

insurance  Total  Annuities  

Retirement, 

disability and 

survival  

annuities  

Life 

insurance  

General 

insurance  Total  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

           

Reported claims 991  87,813  25,679  8,603  123,086  655  68,318  14,837  8,541  92,351  

IBNR - 36,249  12,443  475  49,167  - 25,043  11,499  462  37,004  
 _______ ________ ________ _______ ________ _______ ________ ________ _______ ________ 
           

 991  124,062  38,122  9,078  172,253  655  93,361  26,336  9,003  129,355  
 _______ ________ ________ _______ ________ _______ ________ ________ _______ ________ 
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The movement of claimsĊ technical reserves for the years ended December 31 , 2016 and 2015  is as follows: 

 

 2016   _______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Annuities  

Retirement,  

disability and survival 

annuities  Life i nsurance  General insurance  Total  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

      

Beginning balances  655  93,361  26,336  9,003  129,355  

Claims 251,911  75,342  35,441  12,710  375,404  

Adjustments to prior years claims  - 60,606  12,991  5,685  79,282  

Payments (251,568)  (105,246)  (36,602)  (18,287)  (411,703)  

Exchange difference (7) (1) (44)  (33)  (85)  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
      

Ending balances 991  124,062  38,122  9,078  172,253  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

 

 2015   _______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Annuities  

Retirement,  

disability and 

survival  annuities  Life insurance  General insurance  Total  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

      

Beginning balances  1,785  11,996  22,299  8,907  44,987  

Claims 202,667  128,484  28,004  18,914  378,069  

Adjustments to prior years claim s - 1,282  12,881  (5,104)  9,059  

Payments (203,919)  (48,401)  (37,720)  (13,939)  (303,979)  

Exchange difference 122  - 872  225  1,219  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
      

Ending balances 655  93,361  26,336  9,003  129,355  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

 
(d) ^¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© ¥¦~¤~¥¤A ª}z©z wv¢v¤xz© ¨z{¢zxª ª}z z®¦¥©«¨z ¥{ ¢~{z v¤y |z¤z¨v¢ ~¤©«¨v¤xz x¥¤ª¨vxª© v© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA 2016 and 2015 , in accordance with IFRS 4. 

 
  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish ą Note 37  

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  
 
 

89 

(e) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , no additional reserves were needed because of the liability adequacy test. The main assumptions used in the estimation of retirement, 

disability and survival annuities and individual life reserves as of those dates, were the following:  

 

 2016  2015   ________________________________________________________ ________________________________________________________ 

Type Mortality table  Technical rates  Mortality table  Technical rates  

     

Annuities  RV ą 2009, B - 2006 y  

MI ą 2006 with improvement 

factor  for mortality  

6.25% (*) (**) i n US$ 

4.85% (*) (**) i n S/ VAC 

7.29% (*) (**) adjusted in S/ 

RV ą 2009, B - 2006 y  

MI ą 2006 with improvement 

factor for mortality  

 

7.113% (*) (**) in US$  

5.115% (*) (**) i n S/ VAC 

7.954% (*) (**)  adjusted in S/ 

Retirement, disability and survival  B ą 2006 y  

MI ą 2006 with improvement 

factor for mortality  4.85% 

B ą 2006 y  

MI ą 2006 with improvement 

factor for mortality  5.115% 

Individual life insurance contracts (included 

linked insurance contracts)  CS0 80 adjustable 4.00 ą 5.00% CS0 80 adjustable 4.00 ą 5.00% 

 

(*)  Adjusted by credit risk . 

(**)  In monthly tranches where the term of the investment is lower than that of the obligations, the discount rate considered is the minimum between the market selling rate published 

monthly by the SBS and 3 percent, which is the technical rate established by the SBS.  

 

The sensitivity of the estimates used by Intercorp Group to measure its insurance risks is represented primarily by life insu rance risks; the main variables used as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, are the interest rates and the mortality tables . Intercorp Group has assessed the changes of the most significant reserves related to life 

insurance contracts included in the reserves of annuities, retirement, disability and surv ival of +/ - 100 basis points (bps) in the interest rates and of +/ - 500 basis points 

(bps) of the mortality factors, being the results as follows:  

 

 2016  2015   ____________________________________________ --___________________________________________ 

  Variation of the reserve   Variation of the reserve    ________________________________  ________________________________ 

Variables  Reserve Amount  Percentag e Reserve Amount  Percentage  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  % S/(000)  S/(000)  % 

Annuities -       

Portfolio in S/ and US$ Dollars ą Basis amount        

Changes in interest rate: + 100 bps  4,318,040  (203,145)  (4.49)  3,884,529  (177,163)  (4.36)  

Changes in interest rate: - 100 bps  4,749,109  227,923  5.04  4,259,205  197,513  4.86  

Changes in mortality table at 105%  4,466,765  (54,421)  (1.20)  4,012,105  (49,587)  (1.22)  

Changes in mortality table at 95%  4,578,833  57,647  1.28  4,114,258  52,566  1.29  

       

Retirement,  disability and survival         

Portfolio in S/ ą Basis amount        

Changes in interest rate: + 100 bps 115,960  (5,631)  (4.63)  116,972  (5,555)  (4.53)  

Changes in interest rate: - 100 bps  127,970  6,378  5.25  128,841  6,315  5.15  

Changes in mortality table at 105%  120,141  (1,451)  (1.19)  121,091  (1,436)  (1.17)  

Changes in mortality table at 95%  123,110  1,519  1.25  124,032  1,505  1.23  
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15 . Deferred Income Tax asset and liability, net  

(a) The composition  of the caption , detailed by  Subsidiary is as follows: 

 

 

2016  2015   __________________________ __________________________ 

 

Deferred 

asset, net  

Deferred 

liability, net  

Deferred 

asset, net  

Deferred 

liability, net  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

 
  

  Intercorp Financial Services Inc. 

and Subsidiaries 34,278  (3,946)  41,559  (4,164)  

Intercorp Retail Inc. and 

Subsidiaries 154,199  (231,076)  134,348  (209,316)  

NG Education Holdings Corp. 3,708  (74,405)  1,412  (66,656)  

NG Education Holdings II Corp.  1,456  (2,064)  659  (4,491)  

Intercorp Investments Perú Inc. 

and Subsidiaries - (31,820)  - (28,045)  

Other Subsidiaries 6,326  (39,900)  6,369  (44,190)  
 

_________ ________ _________ ________ 

 

199,967  (383,211)  184,347  (356,862)  
 

_________ ________ _________ ________ 

 
  

  

Liability, net   (183,244)   (172,515)  
 

 ________ 
 

________ 
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(b) The composition and movement of this ca ption  is presented below: 

 

 

2016  2015  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  

   
Deferred assets   

 Provision for loan losses and other provisions  139,061  121,285  

Tax loss (*)  110,206  84,856  

Shortages of goods 23,543  24,874  

Unrealized losses from derivatives  3,992  14,168  

Depreciation of property, furniture  and equipment  10,155  5,166  

Estimate of trade discounts  1,620  376  

Others 35,327  37,727  

   
Deferred liability     

Attributable cost of fixed assets  (53,154)  (45,688)  

Amortization of intangible assets, net  (45,363)  (40,992)  

Net unrealized gain from fluctuation in available-for -sale 

investments  (13,050)  (10,071)  

Others (12,370)  (7,354)  
 

__________ __________ 
   

Total deferred Income Tax asset, net  199,967  184,347  
 

__________ __________ 
   

Deferred asset    

Provision for loan losses and other provisions  32,809  28,691  

Others 13,865  5,297  
   

Deferred liability    

Amortization  of intangibles for trademarks and relationship with 

clients (168,820)  (174,437)  

Increased value of investment property  (120,622)  (119,789)  

Increased tax depreciation due to leasing  (92,679)  (73,805)  

Attributable cost of fixed assets  (33,682)  (14,916)  

Others (14,082)  (7,903)  
 

__________ __________ 
   

Total deferred Income Tax liability, net  (383,211)  (356,862)  
 

__________ __________ 
   

Deferred liability , net  (183,244)  (172,515)  
 

__________ __________ 

 

(*)  As of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, the deferred assets originated by tax losses from previous years are 

determined by the Subsidiaries detailed in Note 17(e ), except for Interseguro S.A., which will  not generate 

taxable income due to the tax exemption  of the capital gains from the investments that back technical 

obligations. Therefore, Management decided not to record  a deferred Income Tax asset for  said concept. 
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(c) The Income Tax expense of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , is as follows:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Current  (503,435)  (436,972)  

Deferred (9,215)  10,601  
 _________ _________ 
   

 (512,650)  (426,371)  
 _________ _________ 

 

(d) The table below presents the reconciliation of the effective Income Tax rate to the statutory tax 

rate  as of December 31, 2016  and 201 5. 

 

 2016  2015   ____________________ ___________________ 
 S/(000)  % S/(000)  % 
     

Income before Income Tax  1,431,186  100.0  1,392,582  100.0  
 _________ ________ _________ ________ 

Peruvian theoretical tax (see Note 17(c) ) (400,732)  (28.0)  (389,923)  (28.0)  

Decrease for the income  (loss) of 

Subsidiaries not domiciled in Peru  3,655  0.3  (70,842)  (5.1)  

Non-taxable income, net (1,139)  (0.1)  93,408  6.7  

Permanent non-deductible expenses (105,862)  (7.4)  (59,014)  (4.2)  

Change in the Income Tax rate (8,572)  (0.6)  - - 
 ________ ________ ________ ________ 
     

Income Tax (512,650)  (35.8)  (426,371)  (30.6)  
 ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 

16 . Equity  

(a) Capital stock 

V© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA GEFK v¤y GEFJA ª}z X¥£¦v¤¯Ċ© xv¦~ªv¢ ©ª¥x¡ ­v© ¨z¦¨z©z¤ªzy w¯ 

14,901,892 Class A shares and 134,117,024 Class B shares. Both classes have the same 

economic rights. The difference between t hem is that Class A shares grant the right to choose 

ª}z £v ¥¨~ª¯ ¥{ ª}z W¥v¨y ¥{ Y~¨zxª¥¨©Ċ £z£wz¨© =J y~¨zxª¥¨©>A ­}~¢z X¢v©© W ©}v¨z© xv¤ x}¥¥©z 

one director.  
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The shareholding structure of the Company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, is presented 

below: 

 

Shareholders  

Total participation 

percentage  

 % 
  

X¢v©© ćVĈ ©}v¨z©O  

International Financial Holding Inc.  7.73  

Southern Hill Corp.  2.27  

  

X¢v©© ćWĈ ©}v¨z©O  

Bank of New York-ADR Programs 40.19  

International Financial Holding Inc.  21.79  

Shetland Securities Inc.  16.37  

Southern Hill Corp.  10.60  

Others 1.05  
 ________ 
  

 100.00  
 ________ 

 

The General Shareholders' Meeting held on April 14, 2016, agreed to capitalize approximately 

S/505,174,000. As a result of said resolution, the nominal value per share was modified from 

US$ 6.00 to US$ 7.00, while the number of shares was kept the same. Likewise, it was agreed to 

distribute dividends for US$30,000,000 (equivalent to S/101,700,000), which will be paid in 

four equal installments (US $7,500,000) from June 2016 to March 2017 . As of December 31, 

2016, payment of the fourth and final  installment is pending.  

 

i}z W¥v¨y ¥{ Y~¨zxª¥¨Ċ© hz©©~¥¤ }z¢y ¥¤ c¥¬z£wz¨ FLA GEFJA v|¨zzy ª¥ y~©ª¨~w«ªz y~¬~yz¤y© {¥¨ 

US$15,000,000 (equivalent to S/49,515,000), which have been paid in two equal installments, 

the first one in December 2015 and the second one in March 2016.  

 

i}z \z¤z¨v¢ h}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ bzzª~¤| }z¢y ¥¤ V¦¨~¢ FJA GEFJA v|¨zzy ª¥ xv¦~ªv¢~°z v¦¦¨¥®~£vªz¢¯ 

S/456,743,000. As a result of said  resolution, the nominal value per share was modified from 

US$ 5.00 to US$ 6.00, while the number of shares was kept the same. Likewise, it was agreed to 

distribute dividends for US$15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately S/45,975,000), which 

have been paid in two equal installments.  

 

i}z W¥v¨y ¥{ Y~¨zxª¥¨Ċ© hz©©~¥¤ }z¢y ¥¤ c¥¬z£wz¨ GGA GEFKA v|¨zzy ª¥ x¥££~ª ª}z xv¦~ªv¢~°vª~¥¤ 

of the retained earnings and net profit for the year 2016 up to an amount of S/600,000,000.  
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(b) Treasury stock  

This amount is recorded in the accompanying x¥¤©¥¢~yvªzy {~¤v¤x~v¢ ©ªvªz£z¤ª© w¯ yzy«xª~¤| ª}z X¥£¦v¤¯Ċ© ¤zª z§«~ª¯C V© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA GEFJA ª}z©z ª¨zv©«¨¯ 

stocks were sold to third parties causing an effect in equity of S/32,379,000, which is presented under the caption "Retained  earnings" in the consolidated statements 

of changes in equity.  

 

(c)  Reserves  

i}z \z¤z¨v¢ h}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ bzzª~¤| }z¢y ¥¤ V¦¨~¢ FJA GEFJA v¦¦¨¥¬zy ª}z z©ªvw¢~©}£z¤ª ¥{ v ¨z©z¨¬z {¥¨ hDJHAGJLAEEEA x}v¨|zy ªo retained earnings.  

 

(d) Unrealized results  

The composition of this  caption is as follows:  

 

 

Unrealized gains (losses)  
 _________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Available -for -sale 

investments  Cash flow hedges 

Exchange 

differences on 

translation of 

foreign operations  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

     Balance as of  January 1, 2015  55,646  (2,629)  (13,659)  39,358  

 

    

Unrealized loss from available -for -sale investments, net of unrealized gain  (408,168)  - - (408,168)  

Transfer to realized gain from available-for -sale investment s, net of realized loss  (80,290)  - - (80,290)  

Transfer of loss on impairment of available -for -sale investments to results  80,121  - - 80,121  

Accrual of unrealized loss from held -to-maturity investment s to results  1,167  - - 1,167  

Variation for unrealized loss on cash flow hedges  - 2,449  - 2,449  

Transfer of realized gain on cash flow hedges to results, net of realized loss  - (174)  - (174)  

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  - - 42,287  42,287  
 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

Balance as of December 31, 2015  (351,524)  (354)  28,628  (323,250)  

 

    

Unrealized gain from available -for -sale investments, net of unrealized loss  298,750  - - 298,750  

Transfer to realized gain from available -for -sale investments, net of realized loss  (38,423)  - - (38,423)  

Transfer of loss on impairment of available -for -sale investments to results  22,558  - - 22,558  

Accrual of unrealized loss from held -to-maturity investments to results  1,994  - - 1,994  

Variation for unrealized loss on cash flow hedges - 869  - 869  

Transfer of realized loss on cash flow hedges to results, net of realized gain  - 508  - 508  

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  - - (7,654)  (7,654)  
 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

 

    

Balance as of December 31, 2016  (66,645)  1,023  20,974  (44,648)  
 

________ ________ ________ ________ 
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(e) Components of other comprehensive income  

The consolidated statements of other comprehensive income include other comprehensive 

income from available -for -sale investments , derivative financial instruments used as cash flow 

hedges and exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  as follows:  

 

 
2016  2015  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  

 
  

Available -for -sale investments:    

Unrealized gain (loss) from available -for -sale investments  298,750  (408,168)  

Transfer to realized gain from available -for -sale 

investment s, net of realized loss  (38,423)  (80,290)  

Transfer of loss on impairment from available -for -sale 

investments to results  22,558  80,121  

Accrual of unrealized loss from held -to-maturity 

investments to results  1,994  1,167  
 __________ __________ 

Sub total  284,879  (407,170)  

Non-controlling interest  83,467  (130,888)  

Income Tax 3,803  (1,813)  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  372,149  (539,871)  

 
_________ _________ 

   

Cash flow hedges:    

Net unrealized gain from cash flow hedges  869  2,449  

Transfer of net realized loss (gain) from cash flow hedge to 

results  508  (174)  

 

__________ __________ 

Sub total  1,377  2,275  

Non-controlling interest  379  696  

Income Tax 568  896  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  2,324  3,867  

 
_________ _________ 

 
  

Translation of foreign operations :   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (7,654)  42,287  

Non-controlling interest  (2,425)  14,956  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  (10,079)  57,243  

 
_________ _________ 
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(f)  h}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ z§«~ª¯ {¥¨ ¢z|v¢ ¦«¨¦¥©z© =¨z|«¢vª¥¨¯ capital ) 

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¨z|«¢vª¥¨¯ xv¦~ªv¢ 

Intercorp Perú must meet certain capital requirements as well as global and concentration limits 

set out by  the Regulation on  Consolidated Supervision of Financial and Mixed Conglomerates, 

approved on September 29, 2010, by the SBS through Resolution No. 11823 -2010, as amended. 

As of December 31,  2016 and 2015, the Company has met the aforementioned requirements.  

 

^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ċ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ z§«~ª¯ {¥¨ ©ªvª«ª¥¨¯ ¦«¨¦¥©z =¨z|«¢vª¥¨¯ xv¦~ªv¢> 

Vxx¥¨y~¤| ª¥ ª}z ¦¨¥¬~©~¥¤© ¥{ az|~©¢vª~¬z Yzx¨zz c¥C FEGMA ^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ċ© regulatory capital  must 

be equal to or  higher  than 10 percent of the assets and contingent credits weighted by total risk 

represented by the sum of : the regulatory capital requirement for market risk multiplied by 10, 

the regulatory capital requirement for operational risk multiplied by 10 and  the assets and 

contingent credits weighted by credit risk.  

 

In application of Legislative Decree No.1028, as amended, as of December 31, 201 6 and 2015 , 

Interbank maintains the following amounts related to i ts assets and contingent credits weighted 

by risk and regulatory capital (basic and supplementary):  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Total risk weighted assets and credit  35,475,270  34,951,504  

Total regulatory capital  5,638,867  5,427,924  

Basic regulatory capital (Tier 1)  3,789,347  3,454,244  

Supplementary regulatory capital (Tier 2)  1,849,520  1,973,860  

Global capital to regulatory ratio  15.90% 15.53% 

 

As of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, Interbank has complied with SBS Resolutions No.2115 -

2009, No.6328 -2009 and No.14354 -2009  and No 4128 -GEFIAćgz|«¢vª~¥¤© on Regulatory 

Xv¦~ªv¢ gz§«~¨z£z¤ª© {¥¨ d¦z¨vª~¥¤v¢ g~©¡ĈA ćbv¨¡zª g~©¡Ĉ v¤y ćX¨zy~ª g~©¡ĈA ¨z©¦zxª~¬z¢¯A v© 

amended. These resolutions establish, mainly, the methodologies applied to  financial entities to 

calculate the assets and credits weighted per type of risk.  

 

In July 2011, the SBS issued Resolution No.8425 -2011, which states that financial entities  must 

determine an additional regulatory capital  and develop a process to assess the adequacy of their 

regulatory capital in r elation with their risk profile, which must follow the methodology described 

in said resolution. The additional regulatory capital requirement shall be equivalent to the sum of 

regulatory capital requirements calculated for each of the following components: economic cycle, 

concentration risk, market concentration risk and Banking Book interest rate  risk, among others.  
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Said resolution  establishes a gradual adaptation period  of five years starting in July 2012. As of 

December 31, 201 6, the percentage of adequacy established by SBS is 100  percent, therefore 

the additional requirement of equity for legal purposes estimated by Interbank amounts to 

approximately S/ 657,852,000  (S/569,358,000 with 85  percent required as of December 31, 

2015 ).  

 

In the opinion of Intercorp Group Ċs Management, Interbank has complied with the requirements 

established in the indicated resolution.  

 

^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ z§«~ª¯ {¥¨ ©ªvª«ª¥¨¯ ¦«¨¦¥©z (regulatory capital)  

In accordance with SBS Resolution No.1124 -2006, amended by SBS Resolutions No.8243 -2008, 

No.2574 -2008, No.12687 -2008, No.2742 -2011, No.2842 -2012, No.6271 - 2013, No.2904 -

2014 and No.1601 -2015, the regulatory capital must be higher  than the amount resulting from 

the sum of the solvency equity , the guarantee fund  and the regulatory capital  intended to cover 

credit r isks. 

 

The solvency equity is represent ed for the higher between the solvency margin and the minimal 

capital. As of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, the solvency net equity is represent ed for  the 

solvency margin. The solvency margin is the complementary support that insurance entities shall 

maintain to deal with possible situations of excess claims not foreseen in the establishment  of 

technical reserves. The total solvency margin corresponds to the sum of the solvency margins of 

the branches in which Interseguro operates . 

 

The guarantee fund represents the additional equity backing that insurance entities must 

maintain to deal with other risks that can affe ct them and that are not cover  by the solvency 

equity, such as investment risks and other risks. The monthly amount of said fund must be 

equivalent to 35 percent of the solvency equity, according with indicated standards. 

 

As of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, ^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© surplus is as follows:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Regulatory capital  584,755  462,151  

Less:   

Solvency equity (solvency margin)  297,661  279,564  

Guarantee fund 104,181  97,848  
 _________ _________ 
   

Surplus  182,913  84,739  
 _________ _________ 
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^¤ªz¢~|¥ Wv¤¡Ċ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©Ċ z§«~ª¯ {¥¨ ©ªvª«ª¥¨¯ ¦«¨¦¥©z =¨z|«¢vª¥¨¯ xv¦~ªv¢> 

The Central Bank of The Bahamas requires Inteligo Bank to maintain a regulatory capital of not 

less than 8 percent of its risk  weighted assets. Inteligo Bank's capital ratio as of December 31, 

201 6 and 201 5, is as follows: 

 

 2016  2015  

 US$(000)  US$(000)  
   

Total eligible  capital  187,497  145,663  
 _________ _________ 

Total r isk-weighted assets 764,520  547,526  
 _________ _________ 
   

Capital adequacy ratio  (in percentage)  24.52  26.60  
 _________ _________ 

 

(g) Legal and special reserves of Subsidiaries  

In accordance with the legal rules in force, the s ubsidiaries established in Peru are required to 

establish a legal reserve of no less than 35 percent or 20 percent of their  paid in capital, 

depending on the ir  business. This reserve is based on the individual financial statements through 

the annual transfer of not less than 10 percent of net income and can be used to offset losses or 

its capitalization, there being  in both cases an obligation to r eplace it.  

 

17. Tax situation  

(a) Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries incorporated and domiciled abroad (see Note 2), are not 

subject to any Income Tax, or any taxes on capital gains, equity or property . The Subsidiaries of 

Intercorp Perú incorporated and domiciled in Per u (see Note 2), are subject to the Peruvian Tax 

legislation; see paragraph (c).  

 

On the other hand, it is considered as Peruvian -source income those arisen from the indirect sale 

of shares of stock or ownership interests of legal entities domiciled in the country. For that 

purpose, an indirect sale shall be considered to have occurred when shares of stock or ownership 

interests of a legal entity are sold and this legal entity is not domiciled in the country and, in turn, 

is the holder Ć whether directly or through other legal entity or entities Ć of shares or ownership 

interests of one or more legal entities domiciled in the country, provided that certain conditions 

established by law occur. The law also defines the assumptions under wich the lepal entity 

domiciled in Peru  is jointly and severally liable.  

 

In this sense, the Income Tax Act establishes that a case of indirect transfer of shares occurs 

when, in any of the twelve (12) months prior to the sale, the market value of the shares or 

ownership interests of the domiciled legal entity is equivalent to 50 percent or more of the 

market  value of the shares of stock or ownership interests of the non -domiciled legal entity. 

Likewise, as a concurrent condition, is established that, in any 12 -month period, shares or 

ownership interests that represent 10 percent or more of the capital stock o f a non-domiciled 

legal entity  shall be sold.  
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(b) Legal entities or individuals not domiciled in Peru are subject to  an additional  tax on dividends 

received from entities domiciled in Peru. The corresponding tax is withheld by the entity that 

distribut the di videns. 

 

As of December 31, 2016  and 2015, the additional tax over dividends was 6.8 percent. Since 

January 1, 2017, dividends will be subject to a withholding of 5.0 percent of the profits 

generated from this year onwards . 

 

(c) Intercorp Perú Ċs Subsidiaries incorporated in Peru are subject to the payment  of Peruvian taxes; 

hence, they must calculate their tax expense on the basis of the ir  separate financial statements.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the applicable Income Tax rate was 28 percent on the 

taxable income.  

 

On the other hand, through Legislative Decree No.1261, published on December 10, 2016, the 

rate applicable to the third category Income Tax of domiciled taxpayers was modified, 

establishing a rate of 29.5 percent which shall be effective starting on January 1, 2017 . 

 

(d) SUNAT is legally entitled to perform tax audits procedures for up to four years subsequent to the 

date on which the tax return regarding a taxable period must be filed. It is also entitled to 

challenge the Income Tax assessment performed by taxpayers in their tax returns . 
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The following tax periods of the main Subsidiaries are pending review by SUNAT:  

 

 Income Tax Value-Added Tax (IGV) 

   

Banco Internacional del Perú S.A.A. ą Interbank  2012 to  2016  2012 to  2016  

Interseguro Compañía de Seguros S.A. 2012 to  2016  2012 to  2016  

Supermercados Peruanos S.A. 2012 to  2016  2012 to  2016  

Universidad Tecnológica del Perú S.A.C. 2013 to 2016  2013 to  2016  

Tiendas Peruanas S.A. 

 

2008, 2009, 2011; and 

2012 to 2016  

2008, 2009, 2011;  and 

2012 to  2016  

Colegios Peruanos S.A. 2012 to  2016  2012 to  2016  

Homecenters Peruanos S.A. 2012, 2014 to  2016  2012, 2014 to  2016  

Eckerd Perú S.A. 2014 to  2016  2014 to  2016  

Eckerd Amazonía S.A.C. 2013 to 2016  2013 to  2016  

Boticas del Oriente S.A.C 2013 to 2016  2013 to  2016  

Financiera Oh! S.A. 2012, 2014  to 2016  2012 to  2016  

Inmobiliaria Milenia S.A.  2016  2012 to  2016  

Urbi Propiedades S.A. 2012 to  2016  2012 to  2016  

Real Plaza S.R.L. 2015 to  2016  2013 to  2016  

InRetail Management S.R.L. 2012, 2013, 2015 and 

2016  

2012 to 2016  

 

Due to the possible interpretations that SUNAT may give to the legal rules in force , it is not 

possible to determine, to date, if the audits conducted  will or will not result in liabilities for the 

Subsidiaries that will have an impact on the equity value of the Subsidiaries; n evertheless, 

according to Management  of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries domiciled in Peru , the effect of 

any subsequent additional settlement  of taxes would not be significant for the consolidated 

financial statements of Intercorp Group as of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5. 

 

(e) As of December 31, 201 6 and 201 5, t he carried forward losses determined by the Subsidiaries 

for tax purposes are as follows: 

 

Entity  2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Tiendas Peruanas S.A. 278,083  241,522  

Homecenters Peruanos S.A. 87,514  84,752  

Colegios Peruanos S.A. 67,265  55,519  
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According to the Income Tax Act , as amended, the entities established in Peru can choose one of 

the following two methods to carry forward their tax losses:  

 

(i) The tax loss may be offset  with future income until it is extinguished, applying said loss up 

to 50 percent of the taxable income per year, or  

(ii)  The tax loss may be used until  four years after it has been generated.  

 

Colegios Peruanos S.A., Homecenters Peruanos S.A. and Tiendas Peruanas S.A. chose method (i) 

to carry forward their  tax losses. 

 

(f)  On the other hand , in April 2004, June 2006, February 2007, June 2007, November 2007,  

October 2008 and December 2010, Interbank was notified with Tax Assessments and Fine 

Imposing Resolutions regarding mainly the assessments of the Income Tax years 2000 to 2006, 

for which it filed Tax Claims and Tax Appeals. In March 2009, August 2010 and December 2011, 

SUNAT issued Intendancy Resolutions regarding the tax years 2000 to 2006, for which Interbank 

filed the corresponding appeals. In December 2014, SUNAT issued the Resolution of Intenda ncy 

No. 0150140011647 declaring partly founded the appeal filed by the Bank corresponding to the 

2001 Income Tax. On the part not accepted by SUNAT, Interbank filed a new appeal. In February 

2016, Interbank obtained the Tax Court Resolution No.00783 -3-2016, which declares as 

partially founded the case concerning ª¥ ª}z GEEF ^¤x¥£z iv®C ^¤ [zw¨«v¨¯ GEFLA ª}z a~£vĊ© 

Superior Court of Justice declared invalid the judgment in first instance ordering the judge to re -

issue a new decision about the case concerning to the 2002 Income Tax. In the opinion of 

Management and its legal advisors, any possible additional tax assessment would not have any 

£vªz¨~v¢ x¥¤©z§«z¤xz© ¥¤ ª}z Wv¤¡Ċ© {~¤v¤x~v¢ ©ªvªz£z¤ª© v© ¥{ Yzxz£wz¨ HFA GEFK v¤y GEFJC 

 

In February 2017, SUNAT concluded the inspection process corresponding to the 2010 Inc ome 

Tax; and as a result, no additional payments of such tax were determined.   

 

During the years 2013 and 2014, SUNAT closed the audit processes corresponding to the 

assessment of the Income Tax of tax years 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively, thus issuing a 

series of Assessment Resolutions without any additional settlement of said tax.  

 

In January 2016, SUNAT closed the partial audit/inspection proceeding corresponding to the 

fiscal year 2013 for withholding of Income Tax from non -domiciled beneficiaries of  Interbank, 

issuing a series of Final Assessment Resolutions without any additional payment of the tax in 

question.  
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Supermercados Peruanos S.A. has been audited by SUNAT on its Income Tax returns and its 

monthly Value -Vyyzy iv® =}z¤xz{¥¨ª} ć^\kĈA w¯ ~ª© Spanish acronym) returns for the years from 

2004 to 2010. Said audits resulted in Assessment Resolutions generating higher tax payments, 

fines and interest for an approximate total of S/170,000,000 as of December 31, 2016. The 

resolutions issued for the y ears 2004 to 2010 have been challenged and these cases are pending 

at the Tax Court. In the opinion of Management, the resolutions issued for the year 2010 will be 

appealed before SUNAT within the deadline established by law.  

 

Eckerd Amazonía S.A.C. filed claims against several Assessment Resolutions on supposed 

omissions of IGV from January 2003 to June 2005 for approximately S/33,000,000. In the 

opinion of Management of the Intercorp Perú and the Subsidiary, as well as in the opinion of its 

legal advisors, no important liabilities will be generated as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.  

 

UTP S.A.C. maintains several lawsuits (labor and civil) and contentious administrative procedures 

with different municipalities and SUNAT. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the  approximate 

amount of such proceedings and procedures amounted to approximately S/10,000,000. In the 

opinion of Management of the Intercorp Perú and the Subsidiary, as well as in the opinion of its 

legal advisors, these legal actions will not generate imp ortant liabilities for the consolidated 

financial statements.  

 

As of the date of this report, s ince tax regulations are subject to interpretation by SUNAT, it is 

not possible to determine whether such tax audit procedures would result in additional liabilities 

for the Subsidiaries or not. Therefore, any unpaid tax, penalties or interest that might result fr om 

said audit procedures will be  recorded as expenses in the year in which they are assessed. 

Nevertheless, Management and its legal advisors cons ider that any additional tax assessment 

would not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial st atements as of December 31, 

2016 and 2015 . 

 

(g) Peruvian life insurance companies are exempt from the Income Tax regarding the income derived 

from assets linked to technical reserves for pension insurance (retirement, disability and survival 

pensions) and annuities from the Private Pension Fund Administration System.  
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18 . Off-balance sheet accounts  

(a) The table below presents the components of thi s caption:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Contingent operations  ą indirect loans (b), not e 6(a)   

Guarantees and stand-by letters  4,149,300  4,595,790  

Import and export letters of credit  239,028  292,546  
 ___________ ___________ 

 4,388,328  4,888,336  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Derivatives    

Held for trading: Note 10(b)    

Foreign currency forward contracts, see Note 32.2(b)(ii):    

Forward currency agreements ą purchase 1,742,794  1,845,767  

Forward currency agreements ą sale 1,932,108  2,901,385  

Forward foreign currency agreements in currencies other than 

Soles 204,630  456,943  

Interest rate swaps  2,727,519  2,933,951  

Foreign currency options  192,573  459,088  

Currency swap agreements, see Not e 32.2(b)(ii):    

Foreign currency delivery / receipt in Soles 736,940  948,395  

Soles delivery/ receipt in foreign currency  727,357  2,633,482  

Cross currency swaps 197,528  200,765  
   

Held as hedges: Note 10(b)    

Cash flow:    

Interest rate swaps  469,840  66,075  

Call spreads 1,107,480  1,023,300  
 ___________ ___________ 

 10,038,769  13,469,151  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Responsibility for credit lines granted (c)  12,835,966  8,235,230  

Responsibility for credit lines ą commercial and others (d)  577,449  1,708,225  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  27,840,512  28,300,942  
 ___________ ___________ 

 

(b) In the normal course of their operations, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries perform contingent 

operations (indirect loans). The se transactions expose them to credit  risks additional to  the 

amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position . 

 

 Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries apply the same policies used for the granting and evaluation 

of the provisions for direct loans when carrying out  contingent operations ; see Note 32.1, 

including obtaining guarantees when they deem it necessary. There are various guarantees and 

they  include deposits in financia l institutions or other assets.  
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Taking into account that many of the contingent operations are expected to expire without 

Intercorp Perú and its Subsidiaries having to disburse funds, the total contingent operations  do 

not necessarily represent future cash demands. 

 

(c) The unused credit  lines and loans granted but not disbursed, correspond to commitments to 

grant loans, and include consumer credit lines and other consumer loans that are cancellable 

when the client receives the notice for  that purpose. 

 

(d) Corresponds to commitments of disbursement of future loans that the Bank has committed  to 

carry out; pro vided that the borrower complies with the obligations under the corresponding loan 

agreements.  

 

19 . Interest and similar income and expenses  

(a) This caption is comprised of the following:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Interest and similar income    

Interest and fees on loan portfolio  3,493,783  3,132,715  

Investment s interest income  464,032  391,147  

Interest on due from banks and inter -bank funds 31,214  18,192  

i~£z ¬v¢«z ¥{ ćXv¢¢ h¦¨zvyĈ e¨z£~«£A Note 3.3(i)  2,326  - 

Other interest income  37,450  34,416  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  4,028,805  3,576,470  
 __________ __________ 
   

Interest and similar expenses    

Interest on bonds, notes and other  obligations  569,888  544,782  

Interest and fees on deposits and other obligations  460,059  360,672  

Interest and fees on obligations with financial institutions  387,246  320,979  

Deposit Insurance Fund fees 35,165  31,096  

i~£z ¬v¢«z ¥{ ćXv¢¢ h¦¨zvyĈ e¨z£~«£A note 3.3(i)  - 50,279  

Bond premium expenses, note 13(f)  - 30,307  

Penalty for bond repurchase, note 13(j)  - 19,028  

Other interest expenses  8,781  23,665  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  1,461,139  1,380,808  
 __________ __________ 

 

During the years 2016 and 2015 , interest and similar income accrued on impaired available-for -

sale investments recognized in the consolidated income statement s amounted to S/ 599 ,000 and 

S/4,737,000 , respectively.  
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20 . Salaries and employee benefits  

This caption is comprised of the following:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Salaries 1,554,220  1,430,840  

l¥¨¡z¨©Ċ ¦¨¥{~ª ©}v¨~¤| 77,608  81,635  

Vacation compensation, medical assistance and others  74,577  57,587  

Social security  63,362  56,851  

Severance indemnity  50,817  47,741  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  1,820,584  1,674,654  
 ___________ ___________ 

 

The average number of employees of the Group for the years 2016 and 2015  was 45,164  and 44,245 , 

respecti vely. 

 

21 . Selling and Administrative expenses 
(a) This caption  is comprised of the following : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Services received from third parties (b)  1,933,042  1,832,105  

Taxes and contributions  82,251  75,938  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  2,015,293  1,908,043  
 ___________ ___________ 

 

(b) Services received from third parties correspond mainly to securities transportation services, 

repair and maintenance services, rental of agencies  and stores, advertising and public relations,  

telecommunication s and fees, among other s. 

 

22 . Gross profit from retail business  

This caption is comprised of the following : 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Net sales 8,643,951  7,986,896  

Cost of sales (6,283,357)  (5,870,068)  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  2,360,594  2,116,828  
 ___________ ___________ 
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23 . Fee income from financial services, net  

This caption is comprised of the following : 

 

 
2016  2015  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Fee income from financial services    

Maintenance and mailing of accounts, transfer fees and 

commissions on credit and debit card service s 567,852  520,248  

Commissions for banking services 133,087  141,067  

Funds management fees 131,975  149,304  

Fees for indirect loans  59,538  57,888  

Collection services fees 28,872  25,551  

Brokerage and custody services fees 13,204  7,550  

Others 23,761  21,256  

 

___________ ___________ 

 

958,289  922,864  

 

___________ ___________ 
   

Expenses relating to financial services  

  Yzwª¥¨Ċ© ¢~{z ~¤©«¨v¤xz ¦¨z£~«£© 54,689  58,091  

Fees paid to foreign banks 9,967  9,361  

Brokerage and custody services  2,777  2,027  

Others   31,804  35,851  

 

___________ ___________ 

 

99,237  105,330  

 

___________ ___________    

Fee income from financial services, net  859,052  817,534  

 

___________ ___________ 
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24 . Net premiums earned  

This caption is comprised of the following:  

 

 
Premiums assumed  Adjustment of technical reserves  Gross premiums earned (*)  Premiums ceded to reinsurers  Net premiums earned   ___________________________ ___________________________ ___________________________ ___________________________ ___________________________ 

 2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  
 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
           

Life insurance       

 

   

 
Annuities (**)  337,755  548,343  (494,213)  (399,757)  (156,458)  148,586  - - (156,458)  148,586  

Group life 119,334  107,397  (630)  1,485  118,704  108,882  (3,538)  (3,171)  115,166  105,711  

Individual life  48,984  42,229  (20,230)  (15,818)  28,754  26,411  (2,177)  (1,917)  26,577  24,494  

Retirement, disability and survival (***)  139,633  133,170  935  6,822  140,568  139,992  (130,536)  (124,425)  10,032  15,567  

Others 539  2,218  (3,250)  (4,078)  (2,711)  (1,860)  (131)  (338)  (2,842)  (2,198)  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

Total life insurance  646,245  833,357  (517,388)  (411,346)  128,857  422,011  (136,382)  (129,851)  (7,525)  292,160  

Total general insurance  83,539  70,666  (3,952)  715  79,587  71,381  (1,942)  (38)  77,645  71,343  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
           

Grand total  729,784  904,023  (521,340)  (410,631)  208,444  493,392  (138,324)  (129,889)  70,120  363,503  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

 

(*)  Includes the annual variation of technical reserves and unearned premiums.  

(**)  The variation of the adjustment of technical reserves is due to variation in the rates with which technical reserves are determined ; see rate in Note 14(e). 

(***)  In December 2014, the SBS called a public tender for the management of retirement, disability, survival, and other burial exp enses risks under a group insurance policy to the affiliates of the Private Pension Fund Administration  System.  Interseguro 

won the contract for the period 2015 and 2016. Interseguro reinsured said risks at 100 percent with three prestigious, intern ationally recognized reinsurers. In November 2016, the SBS called a new public tender for the period January 1, 2017 and 

December 31, 2018; Interseguro did not win said contract.  

 

25. Net c laims and benefits incurred for life i nsurance contracts and other s 

This caption is comprised of the following : 

 

 
Gross claims and benefits  Ceded claims and benefits  Net insura nce claims and benefits  

 

__________________________ __________________________ __________________________ 

 2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
       

Life insurance  
      

Annuities  (251,911)  (202,667)  - - (251,911)  (202,667)  

Group life (40,164)  (38,826)  3,649  2,287  (36,515)  (36,539)  

Individual life  (3,404)  (1,659)  830  302  (2,574)  (1,357)  

Retirement, disability and survival  (135,948)  (128,484)  128,718  122,989  (7,230)  (5,495)  

Others (4,864)  (1,682)  3,215  2,656  (1,649)  974  

General insurance  (18,395)  (13,810)  74  (17)  (18,321)  (13,827)  

 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
       

 

(454,686)  (387,128)  136,486  128,217  (318,200)  (258,911)  

 
_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
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26. Other income and expenses   

This caption is comprised of the following :  

 

 
2016  2015  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Other income   
 

ATM and other rental income  51,132  51,305  

Services rendered to third parties  13,759  12,498  

Equity in income of investments in associates  14,402  11,492  

Incentives for c redit card operations  11,676  4,502  

Other technical income for insurance operations  9,425  8,022  

Gain from sale of written -off loans (*)  8,207  20,746  

Others 25,987  32,205  
 _________ _________ 
   

Total other  income  134,588  140,770  
 _________ _________ 

  

 Other expenses    

Provision for receivables accounts  33,961  30,150  

Provision for sundry risk  20,749  14,144  

Termination of employees  14,219  10,409  

Sundry technical insurance expenses 14,116  12,735  

Commissions from insurance 8,363  2,635  

Donations 6,076  4,533  

Administrative and tax penalties  3,152  2,913  

Others 56,522  61,329  
 _________ _________ 
   

Total other expenses  157,158  138,848  
 _________ _________ 

 

(*)  During the years 2016 and 2015 , Interbank sold in cash to non -related parties written -off loan s, fully 

provisioned,  whose gross value amounted to S/ 302,248,000 and S/497,334,000 , respectively . 
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27 . Earnings per share  

The following table presents the calculation of the weighted average number of shares and earnings 

per share (basic and diluted) : 

 

 

Outstanding 

shares 

Shares 

considered in 

calculation  

Effective day s 

in the year  

Weighted 

average 

number of 

common 

shares 

 (in thousands)  (in thousands)    (in thousands)  
     

2015      

Balance as of January 1 FILAFMJ FILAFMJ HKJ FILAFMJ 

Purchase of treasury stock  =HJF> =HJF> GNJ =GMI> 

Sale of treasury stock  GAFMJ GAFMJ FMF FAEMI 
 __________ __________  __________ 
     

Balance as of December 31, 2015  FINAEFN FINAEFN  FILANMJ 
 __________ __________  __________ 
     

Net earnings attributable to Intercorp  

Perú S/(000)     KKJAHJK 
    __________ 
     

Net earnings per share attributable to 

Intercorp Perú, in Soles                   ICJE 
    __________ 
     

2016      

Balance as of January 1 FINAEFN FINAEFN HKJ FINAEFN 
 __________ __________  __________ 
     

Balance as of December 31, 2016  FINAEFN FINAEFN  FINAEFN 
 __________ __________  __________ 
     

Net earnings attributable to Intercorp  

Perú S/(000)     KJIAJHN 
    __________ 
     

Net earnings per share attributable to 

Intercorp Perú, in Soles                    ICHN 
    __________ 

 

 

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

 

110  

28. Transactions with related parties and affiliated companies  

(a) The table below presents the main transactions  with shareholders, related parties and affiliated 

companies as of December 31, 201 6 and 2015 : 

 

  2016  2015  

  S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Assets  

Investments at fair value through profit or loss    

Mutual fund s - Interfondos  20,853  39,983  

Available- for sale investments   

 Investment funds ą NG Capital Partners II  143,963  63,812  

Royalty Pharma 68,264  229,001  

  Investment funds ą NG Capital Partners 34,230  39,379  

Corporate bonds - Cineplex S.A. 16,907  13,850  

Mutual funds ą Interfunds Global Opportunities Fund  - 25,332  
   

Loan portfolio, net  252,602  362,170  

Derivatives receivable  10,427  14,882  
   

Liabilities   

 Deposits and obligations 109,573  92,708  
   

Off-balance sheet accounts    

Indirect loans  65,589  77,322  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Income (expenses)    

Interest and similar income  23,393  21,515  

Interest  and similar expenses (831)  (2,471)  

Rental income 543  346  

Others, net  13,155  12,144  
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(b) As of December 31, 2016 and 2015,  the detail of loans is the following:  

 

  2016  2015   ____________________________________________ ____________________________________________ 

 Direct loans  Contingent loans  Total  Direct loans  Contingent loans  Total  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

       

Nessus Hoteles Perú S.A. 80,415  625  81,040   83,979   9,477   93,456  

Procesos de Medios de Pago S.A. 13,638  20,472  34,110  -  20,807   20,807  

San Miguel Industrias Ecuador 32,500  - 32,500  32,500  - 32,500  

Bembos S.A.C. 29,796  1,065  30,861   29,905   1,012   30,917  

San Miguel Industrias PET S.A. 9,750  11,342  21,092   9,750   1,899   11,649  

Cineplex S.A. 3,093  16,193  19,286   22,015   21,002   43,017  

EP de Restaurantes S.A.C. 13,760  264  14,024   12,971   264   13,235  

EP de Franquicias S.A.C. 13,667  311  13,978   13,191   186   13,377  

Corporación Peruana de Restaurantes S.A. 11,970  682  12,652   12,902   601   13,503  

SERVITEBCA/TEBCA 806  11,014  11,820   1,027   7,228   8,255  

Alert del Perú S.A.  9,982  948  10,930   8,887   940   9,827  

Agrícola Don Ricardo S.A.C. 9,924  15  9,939   26,533   6,481   33,014  

Nessus Hoteles Perú Selva S.A. 9,614  - 9,614  9,984  - 9,984  

Casa Chica S.A.C. 7,090  - 7,090   8,756   4,921   13,677  

Nutra S.A.  3,827  830  4,657   3,872   774   4,646  

Servicios Compartidos de Restaurantes S.A.C. 2,592  - 2,592   1,961  -  1,961  

Victoria Global Opportunities S.A.C.   - - -  81,544   -  81,544  

Other lower than S/2 million  178  1,828  2,006  2,393  1,730  4,123  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
       

 252,602  65,589  318,191  362,170  77,322  439,492  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

 

(c)  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the directors, executives and employees of Intercorp  Group have been involved, directly and ind irectly, in credit transactions 

with certain Subsidiaries of Intercorp Group, as permitted by Peruvian law, which regulates and limits certain transactions with employees, directors and officers. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, direct loans to employees, directors and officers amounted  to approximately S/162,44 2,000 and  S/157,316,000, 

respectively; said loans are repaid monthly and they accrue interest at market rates  

 

There are no loans to Intercorp \¨¥«¦Ċ© y~rectors and key personnel guaranteed with shares of any Subsidiary . 
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(d) Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¡z¯ ¦z¨©¥¤¤z¢ x¥£¦z¤©vª~¥¤A ~¤x¢«y~¤| ª}z ¨z¢vªzy Income Tax assumed for the 

years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are presented  below: 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Salaries 62,334  52,458  

Board of Director Ċs compensation 2,911  2,933  
 _________ _________ 
   

Total  65,245  55,391  
 _________ _________ 

 

(e) In the opinion of Management of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries, transactions with relat ed 

companies have been performed  under standard market conditions. The taxes generated by 

these transactions, as well as the calculation basis to assess them, are those customarily used in 

the industry and they are settle according to the tax rules in force.  

 

29 . Business segments  

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) of Intercorp Group is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and 

it has six operating segments based on products and services, as follows:  

 

Banking  

Mainly loans, credit facilities, deposits and demand deposits. 

 

Insurance 

Provides annuities and conventional life insurance products, as well as other retail insurance products . 

 

Wealth management  

Provides brokerage and investment management services. Inteligo serves mainly Peruvian citizens . 

 

Supermarkets  

Engaged in the retai l sale of consumer products , through chain stores at a national level.  

 

Pharmacies  

Provides pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, nutri tional medical products and other items intended for the 

protection and recovery of health through its chain of pharmacies. 
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Shopping Malls  

It is engaged in the management and administration of shopping malls consisting of department stores, 

medium stores and sales booths; some shopping malls include cinema complexes and entertainment 

areas. 

 

The consolidated entities monitor the operating results of their business units separately with  the 

purpose of making decisions on the distribution of resources and performance assessment. Segment 

performance is evaluated  based on operating profit or loss and it is measured consistently with 

operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  

 

i¨v¤©{z¨ ¦¨~xz© wzª­zz¤ ¥¦z¨vª~¤| ©z|£z¤ª© v¨z ¥¤ v¤ v¨£Ċ© ¢z¤|ª} wv©~© ~¤ v £v¤¤z¨ ©~£~¢v¨ ª¥ 

transactions with third parties.  No revenue from transactions with a single external customer or 

x¥«¤ªz¨¦v¨ª¯ z®xzzyzy FE ¦z¨xz¤ª ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ª¥ªv¢ ¨z¬z¤«z© ~¤ the years 2016 and 2015.
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The following table presents Intercorp \¨¥«¦Ċ© financial information by business segments for the years ended December 31, 201 6 and 2015 : 

 

 2016   _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Banking Insurance  Wealth management  Supermarkets  Pharmaci es Shopping Malls  

Holding and 

eliminations  

Total  

Consolidated  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

   

  Total income (*)  

   

   

  Third party  4,412,828  438,841  316,424  1,157,438  859,313  332,670  993,969  8,511,483  

Inter -segment (40,650)  - - (46,910)  (116,885)  (122,242)  326,687  - 
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total income  4,372,178  438,841  316,424  1,110,528  742,428  210,428  1,320,656  8,511,483  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

         

Extract of results          

Interest and similar income  3,279,405  292,960  152,125  2,529  2,945  4,863  293,978  4,028,805  

Interest and similar expenses  (1,009,829)  (14,420)  (59,396)  (33,420)  (2,060)  (112,767)  (229,247)  (1,461,139)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net interest and similar income   2,269,576  278,540  92,729  (30,891)  885  (107,904)  64,731  2,567,666  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Provision for loan losses, net of recoveries  (783,645)  - - - - - (80,894)  (864,539)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net interest and similar income after provision for loan 

losses, net of recoveries  1,485,931  278,540  92,729  (30,891)  885  (107,904)  (16,163)  1,703,127  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Gross profit from retail business  - - - 1,077,329  857,442  (2,326)  428,149  2,360,594  

Fee income from financial services, net  789,619  (2,994)  116,862  5,369  1,163  485  (51,452)  859,052  

Income from educational services  - - - - - - 470,439  470,439  

Income from rental of investment property  - 21,893  - 53,002  - 317,150  (136,451)  255,594  

Gain on sale and valuation of investment property  - 1,275  - - - 11,039  (7,607)  4,707  

Net gain on sale of securities  16,273  46,406  37,652  - - 1,459  769  102,559  

Other income 327,530  8,409  9,785  19,209  (2,237)  - (3,083)  359,613  

Total net premiums earned minus claims and benefits  - (247,308)  - - - - (772)  (248,080)  

Depreciation and amortization  (118,401)  (4,457)  (7,260)  (118,237)  (39,099)  (3,572)  (130,188)  (421,214)  

Impairment loss on available -for -sale investments - (28,323)  - - - - (293)  (28,616)  

Other expenses (1,350,804)  (196,019)  (78,540)  (899,749)  (617,089)  (36,135)  (815,790)  (3,994,126)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Income before translation result and Income Tax  1,150,148  (122,578)  171,228  106,032  201,065  180,196  (262,442)  1,423,649  
         

Translation result  859  8,137  (908)  5,728  (373)  3,878  (9,784)  7,537  

Income Tax (304,246)  (662)  658  (42,038)  (64,167)  (56,149)  (46,046)  (512,650)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net profit for the year  846,761  (115,103)  170,978  69,722  136,525  127,925  (318,272)  918,536  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
         

         
Attributable to:          

Intercorp Perú Ċ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨©  846,761  (114,788)  170,978  69,722  136,525  127,925  (582,584)  654,539  

Non-controlling interest  - (315)  - - - - 264,312  263,997  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

          846,761  (115,103)  170,978  69,722  136,525  127,925  (318,272)  918,536  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

(*)  It corresponds to interest and similar income, other income and net premiums earned . 
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 2015   _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Baking Insurance  Wealth management  Supermarkets  Pharmacies  Shopping Malls  

Holding and 

eliminations  

Total  

Consolidated  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

   

  Total income (*)  

   

   

  Third party  4,201,971  791,228  271,627  1,120,137  746,838  353,613  793,449  8,278,863  

Inter -segment (83,928)  (6,205)  (1,063)  (75,431)  (509)  (125,205)  292,341  - 
 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total income  4,118,043  785,023  270,564  1,044,706  746,329  228,408  1,085,790  8,278,863  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

         

Extract of results          

Interest and similar income  2,961,419  259,589  139,749  2,720  2,526  1,822  208,645  3,576,470  

Interest and similar expenses  (858,533)  (11,854)  (52,697)  (53,501)  (2,901)  (106,336)  (294,986)  (1,380,808)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net interest and similar income  2,102,886  247,735  87,052  (50,781)  (375)  (104,514)  (86,341)  2,195,662  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Provision for loan losses, net of recoveries  (643,917)  - (1,907)  - - - (72,681)  (718,505)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net interest and similar income after provision for loan 

losses, net of recoveries  1,458,969  247,735  85,145  (50,781)  (375)  (104,514)  (159,022)  1,477,157       
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Gross profit from retail business - - - 1,015,874  740,342  15,531  345,081  2,116,828  

Fee income from financial services, net  733,722  (3,225)  121,946  7 462  624  (36,002)  817,534  

Income from educational services  - - - - - - 359,706  359,706  

Income from renta l of investment property  - 18,192  - 18,472  - 295,935  (83,913)  248,686  

Gain on sale and valuation of investment property  - 25,441  - - - 37,569  54,815  117,825  

Net gain on sale of securities  12,072  113,816  7,320  - - 2,530  (8,136)  127,602  

Other income 494,758  12,962  2,612  83,064  3,508  (398)  (45,797)  550,709  

Total net premiums earned minus claims and benefits - 105,543  - - - - (951)  104,592    

Depreciation and amortization  (100,553)  (4,449)  (6,058)  (108,996)  (35,778)  (3,150)  (101,885)  (360,869)  

Impairment loss on available-for -sale investments (2,362)  (46,514)  (29,409)  - - - (19,672)  (97,957)  

Other expenses (1,358,030)  (172,283)  (76,149)  (858,694)  (541,847)  (46,717)  (668,636)  (3,722,356)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Income before translation result and Income Tax  1,238,576  297,218  105,407  98,946  166,312  197,410  (364,412)  1,739,457  
         

Translation result  (49,494)  14,835  74  (48,483)  705  (80,924)  (183,588)  (346,875)  

Income Tax (320,704)  (92)  70  (23,548)  (50,617)  (7,277)  (24,203)  (426,371)  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net profit for the year  868,378  311,961  105,551  26,915  116,400  109,209  (572,203)  966,211  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
         

         

Attributable to:          

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ ez¨ÒĊ© ©}v¨z}¥¢yz¨© 868,378  310,967  105,551  26,915  116,400  108,626  (871,481)  665,356  

Non-controlling interest  - 994  - - - 583  299,278  300,855  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

    

   

   868,378  311,961  105,551  26,915  116,400  109,209  (572,203)  966,211  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 

(*)  Corresponds to interest and similar income, other income and net premiums earned . 
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 2016   _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Banking Insurance  Wealth management  Supermarket  Pharmacies  Shopping Mall s 

Holding and 

eliminations  

Total  

consolidated  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

   

  Total assets  42,402,877  5,795,908  4,014,633  2,963,635  904,852  3,546,369  4,080,584  63,708,858  

Total liabilities  38,054,932  5,342,484  3,338,097  1,964,694  744,092  1,581,764  3,814,117  54,840,180  

 

 2015   _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Banking Insurance  Wealth management  Supermarket  Pharmacies  Shopping Malls  

Holding and 

eliminations  

Total  

Consolidated  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    
   

  Total assets  41,652,030  5,253,987  3,376,035  2,701,169  794,183  3,330,858  4,021,040  61,129,302  

Total liabilities  37,907,010  4,916,095  2,796,288  1,771,952  656,033  1,503,376  3,565,029  53,115,783  

 

(i) i}z y~©ª¨~w«ª~¥¤ ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ª¥ªv¢ ~¤x¥£z wv©zy ¥¤ ª}z ¢¥xvª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x«©ª¥£z¨ v¤y ~ª© v©©zª©A {¥¨ ª}z ¯zv¨ z¤yzy Yecember 31, 2016, is S/8,192,977,000 in Peru and S/318,506,000 in Panama (for the 

year ended December 31, 2015, it is S/8,027,243,000 in Peru and S/251,620,000 in Panama). The distribution of Intercorp Group Ċ© ª¥ªv¢ v©©zª© wv©zy ¥¤ ª}z ¢¥xvª~¥¤ ¥{ ª}z x«©ª¥£z¨ v¤y ~ª© assets, as of 

December 31, 2016, is S/59,694,225,000 in Peru and S/4,014,633,000 in Panama (S/57,785,409,000 in Peru and S/3,343,893,000 in  Panama as of December 31, 2015). It should be noted that both income 

and assets located in Panama correspond mainly  to Peruvian citizens.  
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30 . Subsidiaries with material non -controlling interest  

The following tables summarize the information related to the subsidiaries of Intercorp Group that have a material non -controlling interest : 

 

 
Percentage of participation  

Non-controlling interest  

(Balance) 

Gain (loss) attributable to non -controlling 

interest   ____________________________ ____________________________ ____________________________ 

Entity  2016  2015  2016  2015  2016  2015  

 % % S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
       

Intercorp Financial Services Inc. and Subsidiaries   21.38  22.78  1,014,784  959,232  184,553  286,475  

Intercorp Retail Inc. and Subsidiaries (*)  - - 1,123,717  1,079,844  87,139  10,105  

NG Education Holdings Corp.  32.11  50  379,382  340,797  (3,584)  5,521  

NG Education Holdings II Corp. 50  50  14,302  18,432  (3,760)  (241)  

 

The summarized financial information of these subsidiaries, which  is based on amounts before inter -company eliminations , is presented below: 

 

 
As of December 31, 2016  As of December 31, 2015   ____________________________________________________________________ ____________________________________________________________________ 

Summarized financial statement s 

Intercorp Financial 

Services Inc. and 

Subsidiaries  

Intercorp Retail Inc. 

and Subsidiaries  

NG Education 

Holdings Corp.  

NG Education 

Holdings II Corp.  

Intercorp Financial 

Services Inc. and 

Subsidiaries  

Intercorp Retail Inc. 

and Subsidiaries  

NG Education 

Holdings Corp.  

NG Education 

Holdings II Corp.  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         
Assets  

        
Cash and due from banks 11,761,803  402,671  42,203  2,128  12,431,785  373,211  48,972  2,416  

Available-for -sale investments 9,518,398  59,095  5,466  - 8,067,164  55,132  5,466  - 

Loans, net 27,025,865  792,309  - - 25,994,235  571,649  - - 

Investment property  745,185  2,163,568  - 1 713,262  2,007,883  - - 

Inventories, net  - 1,433,042  - - - 1,300,368  - - 

Property, furniture  and equipment, net  589,820  3,737,313  1,121,484  8,534  579,158  3,589,483  916,057  3,908  

Other assets 2,078,288  2,339,184  202,516  40,719  2,215,265  2,274,485  228,022  47,421  

         Liabilities and equity  net  

        Deposits and obligations 30,097,850  - - - 28,487,666  - 576  - 

Due to banks and correspondents  5,328,603  1,072,288  448,709  1,154  6,191,726  1,670,008  353,970  1,425  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  4,769,390  2,090,836  123,809  - 4,925,413  2,072,297  121,965  - 

Insurance contract liabilities  5,010,513  - - - 4,477,089  - - - 

Other liabilities  1,514,657  3,573,018  198,778  27,713  1,458,044  2,448,834  202,490  21,659  

Equity net 4,998,346  4,191,040  600,373  22,515  4,460,931  3,981,072  519,516  30,661  
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 2016  2015   ---------------    ________________________________________________________________________ ________________________________________________________________________ 

Summarized income statement s 

Intercorp Financial 

Services Inc. and 

Subsidiaries  

Intercorp Retail Inc. 

and Subsidiaries  

(*)  

NG Education 

Holdings Corp.  

NG Education 

Holdings II Corp.  

Intercorp Financial 

Services Inc. and 

Subsidiaries  

Intercorp Retail Inc. 

and Subsidiaries  

(*)  

NG Education 

Holdings Corp.  

NG Education 

Holdings II Corp.  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         

Operating revenue  5,079,479  9,363,711  428,235  47,047  5,213,041  8,620,155  321,688  (1) 

Operating expenses (3,931,957)  (8,942,663)  (406,338)  (55,326)  (3,596,551)  (8,325,728)  (306,125)  (26)  
 

__________ _________ ________ _______ _________ __________ ________ ______ 

Profit before translation result and Income Tax 1,147,522  421,048  21,897  (8,279)  1,616,490  294,427  15,563  (27)  

Translation result  20,062  9,545  (29,017)  (59)  (25,100)  (201,918)  (22,120)  5 

Income Tax (333,863)  (158,492)  (17,358)  1,412  (352,586)  (63,751)  1,172  - 
 

__________ _________ ________ _______ _________ __________ ________ ______ 

Net profit (loss) for the year  833,721  272,101  (24,478)  (6,926)  1,238,804  28,758  (5,385)  (22)  
 

__________ _________ ________ _______ _________ __________ ________ ______ 

Attributable to non -controlling interest  182,635  77,130  (5,236)  (3,759)  287,666  (69)  5,375  2 

 
__________ _________ ________ _______ _________ __________ ________ ______ 

 

(*)  Intercorp Perú  holds 100 percent of Intercorp Retail Inc.; consequently, non -controlling interest of Intercorp Retail Inc. and Subsidiaries recorded in the consolidated financial statements of Intercorp  Group arises from existing non -controlling 

shares in the following subsidiaries of Intercorp Retail Inc.: InRetail Perú Corp. and Subsidiaries, IFH Retail Corp. and Subsidiaries and HPSA Corp.  and Subsidiaries. 
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31. Financial instruments classification  

The financial assets and liabilities of the consolidated statements of financial position, according to the classification established in  ^Vh HN ć[~¤v¤x~v¢ ^¤©ª¨«£z¤ª©Ĉ are presented below : 

 

 As of December 31, 2016  As of December 31, 2015   ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ ________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Assets and 
liabilities at fair 

value      

Assets and 
liabilities at fair 

value   

 

   ________________      ________________      

 

For trading or 
for hedging 
purposes  

Loans and 
accounts 

receivable  
Available -for -

sale investments  
Held-to -maturity 

investments  

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortized cost  Total  

For trading or 
for hedging 
purposes  

Loans and 
accounts 

receivable  
Available -for -

sale investments  
Held-to -maturity 

investments  

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortized cost  Total  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

             

Financial assets              

Cash and due from banks - 12,051,531  - - - 12,051,531  - 12,663,191  - - - 12,663,191  

Inter -bank funds - 5,002  - - - 5,002  - 245,028  - - - 245,028  

Trading securities  220,333  - - - - 220,333  131,794  - - - - 131,794  

Available-for -sale investments - - 9,454,014  - - 9,454,014  - - 8,080,230  - - 8,080,230  

Held-to-maturity investments  - - - 611,293  - 611,293  - - - 479,561  - 479,561  

Loans, net - 27,285,678  - - - 27,285,678  - 26,035,932  - - - 26,035,932  

Due from customers on acceptances  - 16,392  - - - 16,392  - 25,357  - - - 25,357  

Accounts receivable and other assets, net  289,301  894,654  - - - 1,183,955  421,495  788,299  - - - 1,209,794  
 __________ ___________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

509,634  40,253,257  9,454,014  611,293  - 50,828,198  553,289  39,757,807  8,080,230  479,561  - 48,870,887  
 __________ ___________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

            

Financial liabilities              

Deposits and obligations - - - - 29,933,851       29,933,851  - - - - 28,282,113  28,282,113  

Inter -bank funds - - - - 332,255  332,255  - - - - - - 

Due to banks and correspondents  - - - - 6,948,688  6,948,688  - - - - 7,768,674  7,768,674  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  - - - - 8,375,513  8,375,513  - - - - 8,399,537  8,399,537  

Due from customers on acceptances  - - - - FKAHNG FKAHNG - - - - 25,357  25,357  

Insurance contract liabilities  - - - - 5,010,513  5,010,513  - - - - 4,477,089  4,477,089  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  236,137  - - - 3,090,887  3,327,024  384,734  - - - 3,024,574  3,409,308  
 __________ ___________ __________- __________ ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
             

 

236,137  - - - 53,708,099  53,944,236  384,734  - - - 51,977,344  52,362,078  
 __________ ___________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
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32. Risk management  

It comprises the management of the main risks, that due to the nature of its operations, Intercorp Group 

is exposed to. Said risk are the following:  credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, and insurance and real 

estate risk.  

 

- Credit risk: possibility of loss due to inability or lack of willingness to pay of debtors, counterparts 

or third parties bound to comply with their contractual obligations.  

- Market risk: probability of losses in positions on and off the consolidated statements of financial 

position arising from variations in market conditions. It generally includes the following types of 

risk: exchange rate, fair value by type of interest; price, among others.  

- Liquidity risk: possibility of loss due to noncompliance with the requirements of financing and 

fund application that arise from mismatches of cash flows.  

- Insurance risk: is the possibility that the actual cost of claims and payments will differ from the 

estimates.   

- Real estate risk: possibility of loss due to variation or volatility of market prices of real estate.  

 

In order to manage the risks described abov e, every Subsidiary of Interbank Group has a specialized 

structure and organization in their management, measurement systems, mitigation and hedging 

processes that considers the specific needs and regulatory requirements to develop its business. 

Intercorp Group operates independently but in coordination with the general dispositions issued by the 

Board of Directors and Management of Intercorp Perú . However, the Board of Directors and 

Management of Intercorp Perú  are ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks. In 

addition, Intercorp Perú  has a Boards of Directors which main objecti ve is to verify the adequacy of the 

accounting processes and financial information of each Subsidiary, as well as evaluate the activities 

carried out by internal and external auditors. Three directors and the CEO comprise the Board of 

Directors of Intercor p PerúA v¤y ª}z¯ ¨z¦¥¨ª y~¨zxª¢¯ ª¥ ª}z h}v¨z}¥¢yz¨Ċ© £zzª~¤|C 

 

(a) Structure and organization of risk management  

The risk management structure and organization of the main Subsidiaries are presented below : 

 

(i) Entities of the financial sector   

Interbank  

Board of Directors  

^¤ªz¨wv¤¡Ċ© Board of Directors is responsible for establishing an appropriate and integral 

risk management and prom oting an internal environment that facilitates its development . 

The Board is continuously informed about the exposure degree of the various risks 

managed by Interbank . 

 

The Board has created several specialized committees to which it has delegated specific 

tasks in order to strengthen risk management and internal control .   
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Audit Committee  

i}z V«y~ª X¥££~ªªzzĊ© £v~¤ ¦«¨¦¥©z ~© ªo monitor that the accounting financial reporting 

processes are appropriate, as well as to evaluate the activities performed by the auditors, 

both internal and external. The Committee is comprised of three members of the Board 

and the CEO, the Internal Aud itor, the Manager of Legal Affairs and other executives may 

also participate therein, when required. The Committee meets at least six times a year in 

ordinary sessions and submits to the Board a copy of its Committee Minutes, thus 

informing about the most relevant issues discussed. 

 

Comprehensive Risk Management Committee 

i}z X¥£¦¨z}z¤©~¬z g~©¡ bv¤v|z£z¤ª X¥££~ªªzz =ć\^gĈA w¯ ~ª© h¦v¤~©} vx¨¥¤¯£> ~© 

responsible for approving the policies and organization for comprehensive risk 

management, as well as the amendments to said policies. This Committee defines the level 

of tolera nce and the exposure degree to risk that Interbank is willing to assume in its 

business and also decides on the necessary actions aimed at implementing the required 

corrective measures in case of deviations from the levels of tolerance to risk. The 

Committ ee is comprised of two Directors, the CEO, the Vice-Presidents and the Manager 

of Legal Affairs. The Committee reports monthly to the Board of Directors the main issues 

it has discussed and the resolutions taken in the previous meeting.  

 

Assets and Liabilities Committee  

i}z £v~¤ ¦«¨¦¥©z ¥{ ª}z V©©zª© v¤y a~vw~¢~ª~z© X¥££~ªªzz =ćVaXdĈ> ~© ª¥ £v¤v|z ª}z 

financial structure of the statement s of financial position of Interbank, based on 

profitability and risk targets. The ALCO is also responsible for the  proposal of new 

products or operations that contain components of market risk. Likewise, it is the 

communication channel with the units that generate market risk. The ALCO meets 

monthly and it is comprised of the CEO, the Vice-Presidents of Risks, Commercial, 

Finance, Capital Market, the Manager of Market Risks and the Manager of Position Desk.  

 

Internal Audit Division  

Risk management processes of Interbank are monitored by the Internal Audit Division, 

which examines both the adequacy of the procedures and  the compliance with them. The 

Internal Audit Division discusses the results of all assessments with Management and 

reports its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors.  
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(ii)  Interseguro  

 Board of Directors  

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall approach to risk management and it is 

responsible for the approval of the policies and strategies currently used. The Board of 

Directors provides the principles for overall risk management, as well as the policies 

prepared for specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk 

and the use of derivative and non -derivative financial instruments.  

 

Risk Committee 

Corporate entity created by Board of Directors resolution, responsible for defin ing risk 

¢~£~ª© {¥¨ ^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© w«©~¤z©©A v¦¦¨¥¬~¤| ¨~©¡ ¦¥¢~x~z© v¤y v¦¦¨¥¬~¤| ¨z§«~¨zy x¥¨¨zxª~¬z 

measures necessary to maintain adequate levels of risk tolerance. The Risk Committee is 

comprised of three members of the Board of Directors and the CEO. 

 

Investment Commit tee 

This unit is responsible for implementing the strategy aimed at mitigating investment and 

financial risks; as well as to establish the general principles, policies and limits for different 

types of financial and real estate risks and the monitoring thereof.  

 

Internal Audit Division  

Risk management processes throughout Interseguro are monitored by the Internal Audit 

Division, which examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the compliance of 

them. Internal Audit Division discusses the results of all assessments with Management 

and reports its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee and Board of 

Directors.  

 

(iii)  Inteligo Bank  

^¤ªz¢~|¥ Wv¤¡Ċ© W¥v¨y ¥{ Y~¨zxª¥¨© ~© ¨z©¦¥¤©~w¢z {¥¨ ª}z z©ªvw¢~©}£z¤ª v¤y £¥¤~ª¥¨~¤| ¥{ 

the risk administration policies. In order to manage and monitor the various risks Inteligo 

Bank is exposed to, the Board of Directors has created the Credit and Investment 

Committee, the Assets and Liabilities Committee, the Credit Risk Committee and the Audi t 

Committee. These committees are engaged in managing these risks and in making 

periodic reviews.  

  

(iv) Entities of the retail, real estate and educational sectors - 

Board of Directors  

The Board of Directors  of each of the retail, real estate and education al entities is 

responsible for the general approach on risk management and the approval of the policies 

and strategies currently in effect. Each Board provide s with the principles on risk 

management as well as the policies for specific areas such as exchan ge rate risk, interest 

rate risk, credit risk and the use of derivative and non -derivative financial instruments.  
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Management  

Management of each of the retail, real estate and educational entities oversee s the risk 

management of these Subsidiaries. Chief  Financial Officers provide assurance to 

Management about the identification, measurement and management of procedures and 

financial risks pursuant to the  W¥v¨yĊ© guidelines. 

 

Internal Audit  

Risk management processes of each Subsidiary are monitored by the  Internal Audit Area, 

which examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the compliance with them. The 

Internal Audit discusses its finding s and recommendations with Management and the 

Board of Directors of each Subsidiary.  

 

(b) Risk measurement and reporting systems   

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries use different models and rating tools  for risk management . 

These tools measure and value the risk with a prospective vision, thus allowing the making of 

better risk decisions in the different stages or l ife cycle of the client or product.  

 

Said models and tools are permanently monitored and periodically validated in order to assure 

that the levels of prediction and performance are being maintained and to make the corrective 

actions or adjustments, when ne eded. 

 

(c) Risk mitigation and risk hedging 

In order to mitigate exposure to the various financial risk s and provide adequate hedging, 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have established a series of measures, among which the 

following stand out:  

 

- Policies, procedures, methodologies, models and parameters aimed to allow for the 

identification, measurement , control and report ing of financial risk s; 

- Review and assessment of credit risk s through specialized units of risk screening ; 

- Timely monitoring  and tracking of financial risks and their maintenance within a defined 

tolerance level ; and 

- Compliance with regulatory limits and establishment of internal limits for exposure 

concentrations.  

 

Likewise, as part of comprehensive financial risk management , in certain circumstances Intercor p 

Perú and its Subsidiaries use derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risk exposure which 

arises from the variations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
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(d) Risk concentration   

Through their polici es and procedures, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have established the 

guidelines and mechanisms needed to prevent  excessive risk concentration . If a risk 

concentration is identified, the Group works with specialized units that allow it  to control and 

manage said risks.  

 

32.1 Credit risk management  

(a) Financial entities   

Financial entities opt for a credit risk policy that ensures a sustained and profitable growth 

in all their products. In doing so, they apply assessment procedures for  adequate decision-

making, tools and methodologies that allow for  the identification, measurement, 

mitigation and control of the different risks in the most efficient manner. Likewise, they 

develop management models that allow for  an adequate measurement, quantification and 

monitoring of the loans granted by each business unit and also encouraging the 

continuous improvement of their policies, tools, methodologies and processes.  

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries are exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a  

counterparty causes a financial  loss by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is the 

most important risk for the  business of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries; therefore, 

Management carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.  Credit risk exposures arise 

mainly in lending activities that lead to loans and  investment activities that contribute with 

securities and other financial instruments to Intercorp Perú Ċ© v¤y ~ª© h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ asset 

portfolio. There is also credit risk in the f inancial instruments off the consolidated  

statement s of financial position, such as contingent loans (indirect loans), which expose  

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries to risks similar to those of direct loans; they are 

mitigated with the same  control proc esses and policies. Likewise, credit risk arising from 

derivative financial  instruments is, at any time, limited to those with positive fair values, 

as recorded in the  consolidated statements of financial position.  

 

Impairment provisions are established fo r losses that have been incurred as of the date of 

the consolidated statement s of financial position. Significant changes in the economy or i n 

the particular situation of a productive sector that r epresents a concentration in Intercorp 

Perú and its h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ portfolio could result in losses that are different from those 

provided for as of the  date of the consolidated statements of financial position . 

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries structure  the levels of credit risk they undertake  by 

placing limits on the amount s of risk accepted in relation to one borrower or group of 

borrowers and to geographical  and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a 

revolving basis and they are subject to  frequent review. 
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The financial entities exposure to credit risk is managed through the permanent 

v©©z©©£z¤ª ¥{ ª}z yzwª¥¨©Ċ v¤y ¦¥ªz¤ª~v¢ yzwª¥¨©Ċ vw~¢~ª¯ ª¥ x¥£¦¢¯ ­~ª} ª}z ¦v¯£z¤ª ¥{ 

interest and principal of their obligations and through change of exposure limits, where 

appropriate.  

 

The exposure to credit risk is also mitigated, in part, through the obtaining of personal and 

corporate collateral. Nevertheless, there is a significant part of financial instruments 

where said collateral cannot be obtained. Below is a description of the procedures and 

policies related to collateral management and valuation:  

 

Policies and procedures for management and valuation  

Collateral required for financial assets other than the loan portfolio are determined 

according to the nature of the instrument. However, debt instr uments, treasury papers 

and other financial assets are in general not guaranteed, except for securities guaranteed 

with similar assets and instruments.  

 

Financial entities have policies and guidelines established for the management of 

collateral received f or loans granted. The assets that guarantee loan operations have a 

certain value prior to the loan approval and the procedures for its updating are described 

in the internal rules.  

 

In order to manage guarantees, financial entities have specialized divisions for the 

establishment, management and release of guarantees.  

 

Collateral that backs loan operations includes different goods, properties and financial 

instruments (including cash and securities). Its preferential status depends on the 

following c onditions:  

 

- Easy convertibility into cash.  

- Proper legal documentation, duly registered with the corresponding public registry . 

- They do not have previous obligations that could reduce their value.  

- Their fair value must be updated.  

 

Management monitors the fair value of collateral, requests additional collateral when it 

may deem it convenient. The proceeds from the settlement of the collateral obtained are 

used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Group does not use 

repossessed properties for its own business.  
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In the case of derivative financial instruments, Intercorp Group maintains strict control 

limits on net open derivative positions (namely, the difference between purchase and sale 

contracts), both in amount and term. The amount subject to credit risk is limited to the 

current fair value of instruments that are favorable to Intercorp Group (for example, an 

asset when its fair value is positive), which in relation to derivatives is only a small fraction 

of the contract, or notional amount used to express the volume of outstanding 

instruments. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with 

customers, together with potential exposures from market movements. Collateral or other 

security are n ot usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments.  

 

Settlement risk arises in any situation where a payment in cash, securities or equity is 

made in the expectation of a corresponding receipt in cash. Daily settlement limits are 

established for each counterparty in order to cover the aggregate of all settlement risk 

v¨~©~¤| {¨¥£ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© £v¨¡zª ª¨v¤©vxª~¥¤© ¥¤ v¤¯ ©~¤|¢z yv¯C 

  

(b) Interseguro  

The portfolio of clients to whom Interseguro  provides individual life insurance and 

v¤¤«~ª~z©A ~© v¤ vª¥£~°zy ¥¤zC d¤ ª}z ¥ª}z¨ }v¤yA {¥¨ ª}z xvªz|¥¨¯ ¥{ yzwª¥¨Ċ© ¢~{z 

insurance, the portfolio is concentrated on the clients of Interbank and Financiera Oh, 

approximately 96 percent of the balance.  

 

(c) Trade accounts receivable from the retail, real estate and education businesses   

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries assess risk concentration regarding the trade accounts 

receivable of the retail, real estate and education business, and other accounts r eceivable. 

In general, no significant concentrations of accounts receivable from any entity in 

particular are maintained. Intercorp  Group performs an assessment on the collectability 

risk of the accounts receivable in order to determine the respective prov ision. 

 

In the case of trade accounts receivable from retail sales, which are mainly generated 

from sales with credit cards, the credit risk is minimal because they have a period from  2 

to 7 days to become cash. 

 

In the case of rentals receivable and merch andising coupons, effective  contracts are 

maintained . 

 

In the case of accounts receivable from the educational business, the credit risk is mainly 

related to the tuitions receivable, which are atomized.  
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(d) Maximum exposure to credit risk   

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Management of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries 

estimates that the maximum credit risk to which they are exposed is represented by the 

book value of the financial assets which show a potential credit risk and consist mos tly of 

deposits in banks, inter -bank funds, investments, loans (direct and indirect), without 

considering the fair value of the guarantees or collateral, operations with derivative 

financial instruments, accounts receivable from insurance transactions and other 

monetary assets. In that sense, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, it is as follows:  

 

- 82.8 percent and 87.5 percent, respectively, of the cash and due from banks 

¨z¦¨z©z¤ª v£¥«¤ª© yz¦¥©~ªzy ~¤ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¬v«¢ª© ¥¨ ~¤ ª}z WXgeP 

- 94.7 percent and 95.2 percent, respectively, of the net loan portfolio is classified 

into the two lower credit risk categories defined by Intercorp Group;  

- 92.0 percent and 92.4 percent, respectively, of the loan portfolio is deemed as 

non-past-due and non-impaired;  

- 75.2 percent and 76.4 percent, respectively, of available -for -sale-investments and 

held-to-maturity investments have at least an investment grade (BBB- or higher) or 

are debt instruments issued by the BCRP or the Peruvian Government; and  

- 99 .1 percent and 98.9 percent, respectively, of the accounts receivable from 

insurance premiums and leases of investment properties is considered as non -past 

due and non-impaired.  

- In addition, as of December 31, 2016, Intercorp Group holds loans (direct and 

indirect) and investments in fixed income instruments issued by entities related to 

the infrastructure sector that, in recent months, have been exposed to local and 

international events, for an amount of approximately S/1,042,474,000 

(S/144,098,000 in dire ct loans and S/898,376,000 in indirect loans) and 

S/629,213,000, respectively. The performance of these instruments will depend 

on the future development of the a forementioned events, which are out of the 

Group control. However, it is important to mention that none of the instruments 

had a significant negative change in the credit category at the date of this report 

and have guarantees and coverage that significantly reduce the credit risk . 

 

(e) Credit risk management for loan s 

Financial entities classify each client that is part of its loan portfolio into one of five risk 

categories, depending on the degree of risk of non -payment of each debtor. The 

categories used are: (i) normal - A, (ii) with potential problems - B, (iii) substandard - C, (iv) 

doubtful - D and (v) loss - E, which have the following characteristics:  
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Normal (category A): Debtors of commercial loans that fall into this category have  

complied on a timely basis with their obligations and at the time of evaluation they do not  

have any reason for doubt with respect to repayment of interest and principal on the  

agreed dates and there is no reason to believe that this situation will change before the  

next evaluation. To classify a loan in category A, a clear understanding of the use t o be 

made of the funds and the origin of the cash flows to be used by debtor to repay the  loan 

is required. Consumer and small and micro-business loans are classified in category A  if 

payments are made when due or up to 8 days past -due. Mortgage loans are classified as 

category A when payments are made when due or up to 30 days past -due. 

 

With potential problems (category B): Debtors of commercial loans included in this 

category are  those that at the time of the evaluation show certain deficiencies, which, if 

not corrected  on a timely manner, imply risks with respect to the recovery of the loan. 

Certain common  characteristics of loans in th is category include: delays in loan payments 

which are promptly covered, a general lack of information requ ired to analy ze the credit, 

out of date financial information, temporary economic or financial imbalances on the part 

of the  debtor which could affect its ability to repay the loan and market conditions that 

could affect the economic sector in which the debtor particip ates. Consumer and small 

and micro-business loans are classified as category B if payments are between 9 and 30 

days past-due. Mortgage loans are classified in category B if payments are between 31 

and 60 days past-due. 

 

Substandard (category C): Debtors o f commercial loans included in this category show  

serious financial weaknesses, often with operating results or available income insufficient  

to cover their financial obligations on agreed upon terms, with no reasonable short -term  

prospects for strengtheni ng their financial capacity. Debtors showing the same  

deficiencies that determine a classification as category B, obtain a classification as 

category  C if those deficiencies are such that if they are not corrected in the short term, 

they could  impede the r ecovery of principal and interest on the loan on the originally 

agreed terms.  In addition, commercial loans are classified in this category when payments 

are between 61 and 120 days past -due. Consumer and small and micro-business loans are 

classified as category C if payments are between 31 and 60 days past -due. Mortgage 

loans are classified as category C when payments are between 61 and 120 days past -due. 

 

Doubtful (category D): Debtors of commercial loans included in this category present  

characteristics that make doubtful the recovery of the loan. Although the loan recovery is  

doubtful, if there is a reasonable possibility that in the near future the creditworthiness of  

the debtor might improve, it is advisable to include it in this catego ry. These credits are  

distinguished from category E credits by the requirement that the debtor remain s in 

operation, generate cash flows and make payments of the loan, although at a rate lower  

than the one specified in its contractual obligations. In addit ion, commercial loans are  

classified in this category when payments are between 121 and 365 days past -due. 
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Consumer and small and micro-business loans are classified as category D if payments are 

between 61 and 120 days past -due. Mortgage loans are classif ied as category D when 

payments are between 121 and 365 days past -due. 

 

Loss (category E): Commercial loans which are considered unrecoverable or which for any  

¥ª}z¨ ¨zv©¥¤ xv¤¤¥ª wz ~¤x¢«yzy ~¤ ª}z \¨¥«¦Ċ© v©©zª© wv©zy ¥¤ ª}z ¥¨~|~¤v¢¢¯ x¥¤ª¨vxªzy 

terms f all into this category. In addition, commercial loans are classified in this category  

when payments are more than 365 days past -due. Consumer and small and micro -

business loans are classified as category E if payments are more than 120 days past -due. 

Mortg age loans are classified as category E when payments are more than 365 days past -

due. 

 

Financial entities review their loan portfolio continuously in order to maintain an adequate 

identification of the risk and to assign the completeness and accuracy of their 

classifications, according to the current regulations.  

 

All loans considered as impaired (those classified as substandard, doubtful or loss) are  

analyzed by Intercorp  \¨¥«¦Ċ© bv¤v|z£z¤ªA ­}~x} vyy¨z©©z© ~£¦v~¨£z¤ª ¥{ ~ª© ¦¥¨ª{¥¢~¥ 

at two  levels: individual allowance and collective allowance, as follows:  

 

- Individually assessed allowance  

Intercorp Group determines the appropriate allowance for each significant loan 

individually. The criteria considered to determine the measure of an allowance 

comprisz ª}z ©«©ªv~¤vw~¢~ª¯ ¥{ ª}z yzwª¥¨Ċ© w«©~¤z©© ¦¢v¤A ~ª© vw~¢~ª¯ ª¥ ~£¦¨¥¬z ~ª© 

performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected cash flows and the 

expected payout should bankruptcy happens, the availability of other financial 

support, includin g the realizable value of collateral, and the timing of the expected 

cash flows. 

 

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 

reviewed regularly by Intercorp Group in order to reduce any differences between 

loss estimates and actual loss experience.   

 

- Collectively assessed allowance  

The allowances required are assessed collectively in the case of loans and  

obligations that are not individually significant (including consumer, small and 

micro -business loans and mortgage loans) and for individually significant loans, 

where there is not yet objective evidence of individual impairment (included in 

categories  A and B). 
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Collective allowance takes into account the impairment that is likely to be present 

in the portfolio even thoug h there is not yet objective evidence of impairment 

individually. Impairment losses are estimated by taking into consideration the 

following information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic 

conditions, the approximate delay between the tim e a loss is likely to have been 

incurred and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed 

impairment allowance and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. 

Management is responsible for deciding on the length of this period w hich can 

extend for as long as one year. The impairment allowance is reviewed by 

bv¤v|z£z¤ª ª¥ z¤©«¨z x¥¤©~©ªz¤x¯ ­~ª} ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© |z¤z¨v¢ ¦¥¢~x¯C 

 

The methodology includes three estimation scenarios: base, upper threshold and 

lower threshold. These scenarios are generated by modifying some assumptions, 

such as collateral recovery values and adverse effects due to changes in the 

political and economic environments. The process to select the best estimate 

­~ª}~¤ ©v~y ¨v¤|z ~© wv©zy ¥¤ bv¤v|z£z¤ªĊ© wz©ª judgment, complemented by 

}~©ª¥¨~xv¢ ¢¥©© z®¦z¨~z¤xz v¤y ª}z \¨¥«¦Ċ© ©ª¨vªz|¯ =zC|C ¦z¤zª¨vª~¥¤ ~¤ ¤z­ 

segments). 

 

Impairment losses are evaluated on each reporting date as to whether there is any  

objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired. 

 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit (indirect loans) are assessed and a provision is  

estimated for them following a procedure similar to that  of loans.  

 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off  against the related allowance for impaired  

loans. Such loans are written off after all the necessary legal procedures have been  

completed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount  

of the allowance for impaired loans in the consolidated income statements .
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The table below presents the summary of direct loans (without including accrued interest and interest to be accrued) classifi ed in three groups: (i) Neither past -due and 

non-impaired loans, which comprise direct loans tha ª x«¨¨z¤ª¢¯ y¥ ¤¥ª ¦¨z©z¤ª yz¢~¤§«z¤x¯ x}v¨vxªz¨~©ª~x© v¤y v¨z ¨z¢vªzy ª¥ x¢~z¤ª© x¢v©©~{~zy v© ćc¥¨£v¢Ĉ v¤y ć­~ª} 

e¥ªz¤ª~v¢ ¦¨¥w¢z£©ĈP =~~> ev©ª-due but non impaired loans, which comprise past -y«z ¢¥v¤© ¥{ x¢~z¤ª© x¢v©©~{~zy v© ćc¥¨£v¢Ĉ ¥¨ ć­~ª} e¥ªz¤ª~v¢ ¦¨¥w¢z£©ĈP v¤y =~~~> 

impaired loans, those past -y«z ¢¥v¤© x¢v©©~{~zy v© ćh«w©ªv¤yv¨yĈA ćY¥«wª{«¢Ĉ ¥¨ ća¥©©ĈC V¢©¥A ª}z v¢¢¥­v¤xz {¥¨ ¢¥v¤ ¢¥©©z© {¥¨ zvx} ª¯¦z ¥{ ¢¥v¤ ~© ¦¨zsented. 

 

 As of December 31, 2016  _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Loan portfolio classification  
Commercial  

 loans 
Consumer 

 loans 
Mortgage  

Loans 
Small and micro -
business loans  Total  % 

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

 
       

Neither past due nor impaired  

 

  

   Normal 12,294,517  8,377,310  4,457,937  473,104  25,602,868  95  

With potential problems  231,309  83,582  30,182  4,162  349,235  1 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
12,525,826  8,460,892  4,488,119  477,266  25,952,103   

 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

Past due but not impaired        

Normal 126,428  9,641  190,099  32,474  358,642  1 

With potential problems  39,359  301,719  56,682  8,375  406,135  2 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 165,787  311,360  246,781  40,849  764,777   
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  
       

Impaired        

Substandard 35,951  262,046  75,138  6,648  379,783  2 

Doubtful  52,257  403,826  75,807  8,982  540,872  2 

Loss 95,784  276,663  155,262  37,288  564,997  2 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
183,992  942,535  306,207  52,918  1,485,652   

 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
      

Total loan portfolio, gross  12,875,605  9,714,787  5,041,107  571,033  28,202,532  105  
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
      

Minus: Allowance for loan losses  197,293  909,461  60,497  57,194  1,224,445  5 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
      

Total, net  12,678,312  8,805,326  4,980,610  513,839  26,978,087  100  
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  
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 As of December 31, 2015  _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Loan portfolio classification  
Commercial  

 loans 
Consumer 

 loans 
Mortgage  

Loans 
Small and micro -
business loans  Total  % 

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

 
       

Neither past due nor impaired  

 

  

   Normal 12,080,042  7,856,238  4,150,110  462,700  24,549,090  95  

With potential problems  114,559  85,601  27,994  2,544  230,698  1 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
12,194,601  7,941,839  4,178,104  465,244  24,779,788   

 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

Past due but not impaired        

Normal 107,157  12,577  271,233  11,532  402,499  2 

With potential problems  43,978  254,804  55,347  9,122  363,251  1 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 151,135  267,381  326,580  20,654  765,750   
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  
       

Impaired        

Substandard 43,534  218,518  74,580  8,676  345,308  1 

Doubtful  36,089  345,468  62,686  10,437  454,680  2 

Loss 73,765  257,210  124,566  27,916  483,457  2 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
153,388  821,196  261,832  47,029  1,283,445   

 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
      

Total loan portfolio, gross  12,499,124  9,030,416  4,766,516  532,927  26,828,983  104  
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
      

Minus: Allowance for loan losses  173,750  825,766  46,468  50,218  1,096,202  4 
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 
      

Total, net  12,325,374  8,204,650  4,720,048  482,709  25,732,781  100  
 ___________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________  

 

In accordance with IFRS 7, the total loan balance is considered past due when debtors have failed to make a payment when contractually due.  

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, loans amounting to approximately S/707,064,000 and S/713,443,000, respectively, were not im paired and were past due for less 

than 30 d ays. 

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, refinanced loans amount to approximately S/309,770,000 and S/260,106,000, respectively. Pas t due refinanced loans as of those 

dates amount to S/77,567,000 and S/44,012,000, respectively, out of which S/325,000 and S/1,691,000, respectively, are classified as past -due and not-impaired; and  

S/77,242,000 and S/42,321,000, as impaired, respectively.  

 

  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

 

133  

Following is the detail of the gross amount of impaired loans by type of loan, along with the fair value of the related collateral and the amo unts of the 

allowance for loan losses:  

 

 

As of December 31, 2016   _______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Impaired loans  
Commercial  

 loans 
Consumer 

loans 
Mortgage  

 loans 
Small and micro -
business loans  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

      

Impaired loans 183,992  942,535  306,207  52,918  1,485,652  
 

_________ _________ _________ _________ __________ 

      

Fair value of collateral  104,136  41,206  290,896  46,439  482,677  
 

_________ _________ _________ _________ __________ 
      

Allowance for loan losses  123,746  494,553  53,279  41,574  713,152  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ 

 

 

As of December 31, 2015   _______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Impaired loans  
Commercial  

 loans 
Consumer 

loans 
Mortgage  

 loans 
Small and micro -
business loans  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

      

Impaired loans 153,388  821,196  261,832  47,029  1,283,445  
 

_________ _________ _________ _________ __________ 

      

Fair value of collateral  77,619  35,113  248,740  46,401  407,873  
 

_________ _________ _________ _________ __________ 
      

Allowance for loan losses  94,373  421,321  43,813  39,524  599,031  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ __________ 
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(f)  Credit risk management for investments  

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries control the credit risk of their available-for -sale investments and held-to-maturity investments based on 

the risk assessment of issuers. In the case of investments abroad, the assessment takes into account the risk ratings issued by 

international risk rating agencies, as well as the country risk of the issuer, which is as sessed considering its main macroeconomic variables.  

 

The table below presents the credit risk ratings issued by local and international prestigious risk rating agencies of availa ble-for -sale 

investments and held -to-maturity investments:  

 

 
As of December 3 1, 2016  As of December 31, 2015  

 _______________________________________ _______________________________________ 

 
S/(000)  % S/(000)  % 

     

Instruments issued and rated in Peru:      

AAA 836,864  8.3  681,802  8.0  

AA- / AA+  751,516  7.5  571,567  6.7  

A- / A+ 9,037  0.1  13,429  0.2  

BBB- / BBB+ 1,233  - 1,282  - 
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

 1,598,650  15.9  1,268,080  14.9   ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

Instruments issued in Peru and rated abroad:      

A- / A+  1,788,996  17.8  1,394,259  16.3  

BBB- / BBB+ 1,292,492  12.8  1,595,844  18.6  

BB- / BB+ 316,496  3.1  201,595  2.4  

B- / B+ 46,922  0.5  4,153  - 
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

 3,444,906  34.2  3,195,851  37.3  
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

Instruments issued and rated abroad:      

AAA 66,086  0.7  40,932  0.5  

AA- / AA+  186,137  1.8  97,458  1.1  

A- / A+  21,393  0.2  76,506  0.9  

BBB- / BBB+ 860,074  8.5  528,827  6.2  

BB- / BB+ 99,296  1.0  21,452  0.3  

B- / B+ 31,866  0.3  12,621  0.1  
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

 1,264,852  12.5  777,796  9.1  
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

Unrated      

Certificates  of Deposit issued by the BCRP 1,751,749  17.4  1,541,668  18.0  

Mutual funds and investment  funds participations (*)  1,328,063  13.2  1,081,566  12.6  

Others 187,165  1.9  68,221  0.8  

Listed shares      

Peruvian and foreign entities  320,536  3.2  303,344  3.5  

Non listed shares and participations -     

Royalty Pharma 68,264  0.7  229,001  2.7  

Others 1,533  0.0  6,081  0.1  
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

Total 9,965,718  99.0  8,471,608  99.0  
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

Accrued interest  99,589  1.0  88,183  1.0  
 ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 
     

Total  10,065,307  100.0  8,559,791  100.0   ___________ ________ ___________ ________ 

 

(*)  Includes mutual funds and investment funds which do not have risk rating . 
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(g) Concentration of financial instruments exposed to credit risk  

The loans and accounts receivable exposed to credit risk were distributed according to the 

following economic sectors:  

 

 

As of December 31, 

2016  

As of December 31, 

2015  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  

   
Central Reserve Bank of Peru 8,375,826  9,331,705  

Consumer loans 10,334,684  9,714,505  

Mortgage loans 5,046,014  4,768,947  

Financial services (*)  3,923,194  4,492,895  

Manufacturing  3,141,799  2,757,151  

Commerce 2,442,279  1,781,380  

Electricity, gas, water and oil  1,203,572  979,752  

Agriculture  1,017,768  1,122,577  

Leaseholds and real estate activities  978,692  1,088,532  

Construction  789,968  798,105  

Communications, storage and transportation  747,217  753,083  

Mining 388,121  457,358  

Community services  318,597  414,525  

Insurance 297,700  173,956  

Fishing 248,699  120,745  

Education, health and other services  144,103  126,086  

Public administration and defense  10,686  2,703  

Others  1,761,192  1,666,853  
 

___________ ___________ 
   

Total 41,170,111  40,550,858  
 

___________ ___________ 
   

Allowance for loan losses  (1,224,445)  (1,096,202)  

Accrued interest  307,591  303,151  
 

___________ ___________ 
   

Total  40,253,257  39,757,807  
 

___________ ___________ 

 

(*)  It includes mainly the available funds deposited in the vaults of Interbank and in foreign  

banks, see Note 4. 
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The financial instruments exposed to credit risk were distributed according to their geographic area:  

 

 

As of December 31, 2016  As of December 31, 2015   __________________________________________________________________________________________ __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Financial assets at 

fair value      

Financial assets at 

fair value      
 

___________________     ___________________     

 

For trading or 

hedging purposes  

Loans and 

accounts  

receivable  

Available -for -

sale investments  

Held-to -maturity 

investments  Total  

For trading or 

hedging purposes  

Loans and 

accounts  

receivable  

Available -for -

sale investments  

Held-to -maturity 

investments  Total  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

 

 

     

Peru 353,575  38,851,217  6,585,975  598,188  46,388,955  411,698  38,861,611  5,794,859  469,740  45,537,908  

United States of America  127,220  1,369,900  913,669  - 2,410,789  117,555  868,644  775,994  - 1,762,193  

United Mexican State 9,189  444  493,274  - 502,907  10,560  109  208,778  - 219,447  

Panama (*)  - 350,429  - - 350,429  - 503,915 (*)  - - 503,915  

Chile  25  25,176  278,218  - 303,419  - 20,386  197,270  - 217,656  

Brazil  - 2,576  211,148  - 213,724  - 10,865  274,377  - 285,242  

Colombia  675  283  179,643  - 180,601  8,847  273  17,130  - 26,250  

Supranational  - - 120,425  - 120,425  - - 74,604  - 74,604  

Ireland - - 68,264  - 68,264  - - 229,001  - 229,001  

Ecuador 858  32,825  - - 33,683  2,182  32,831  - - 35,013  

Others 18,092  537,261  516,914  - 1,072,267  2,447  252,224  429,855  - 684,526  
 

_________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ _________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Total 509,634  41,170,111  9,367,530  598,188  51,645,463  553,289  40,550,858  8,001,868  469,740  49,575,755  
 

_________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ _________ ___________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Allowance for loan losses      (1,224,445)      (1,096,202)  

Accrued interest      407,180      391,334  
 

    ___________     ___________ 
           

Total      50,828,198      48,870,887  
 

    ___________     ___________ 

 

(*)  Corresponds mainly to the loan portfolio maintained by Inteligo (located in Panama) with Peruvian citizens.  
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(h) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities  

The information contained in the tables below includes financial assets and liabilities that:  

 

- Are offset in the statement s of financial position of the Group; or  

- Are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement 

that covers similar financial instruments , regard less of whether they are offset in 

the consolidated statement s of financial position  or not.  

 

Similar arrangements of Intercorp Group includes derivatives clearing agreements. 

Financial instruments such as loans and deposits are not disclosed in the following tables 

since they are offset in the consolidated statement s of financial position.  

 

The offsetting framework agreement issued by the International Swaps and Derivatives 

V©©¥x~vª~¥¤ ^¤xC =ć^hYVĈ> v¤y ©~£~¢v¨ £v©ªz¨ ¤zªª~¤| v¨¨v¤|z£z¤ª© y¥ ¤¥ª £zzª ª}z 

accounting criteria for offsetting in the statements of financial  position because of such 

agreements were created in order for both parties to have an enforceable offsetting 

right in cases of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of Intercorp Group or the 

counterparties or following other predetermined events. In addition,  the Group and its 

counterparties do not intend to settle such instruments on a net basis or to realize the 

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.  

 

 Intercorp Group receives and grants coll ateral in cash with respect to  transactions  with derivates ; 

see Note 4. 
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Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangement and similar agreements:  

 

 

Gross amounts of 

recognized financial 

assets 

Gross amounts of 

recognized financial 

liabilities and offset in the 

consolidated statements 

of financial position  

Net amounts of financial 

assets presented in the 

consolidated statements 

of financial position  

Related amounts not offset in the consolidated statements 

of financial position  

Net amount  

_________________________________________________ 

Financial instruments 

(including non -cash 

collateral)  Cash collateral received  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

       

As of December 31, 2016        

Description        

Derivatives, note 10(b)  289,301  - 289,301  (21,585)  - 267,716  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
       

Total 289,301  - 289,301  (21,585)  - 267,716  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

       

As of December 31, 2015        

Description        

Derivatives, note 10(b)  421,495  - 421,495  (2,305)  - 419,190  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
       

Total  421,495  - 421,495  (2,305)  - 419,190  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

 

Financial liabilities  subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangement and similar agreements:  

  

 

Gross amounts of 

recognized financial 

assets 

Gross amounts of 

recognized financial 

liabilities and offset in the 

consolidated statements 

of financial position  

Net amounts of financial 

assets presented in the 

consolidated statements 

of financial position  

Related amounts not offset in the consolidated statements 

of financial position  

Net amount  

_________________________________________________ 

Financial instruments 

(including non -cash 

collateral)  Cash collateral received  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

       

As of December 31, 2016        

Description        

Derivatives, note 10(b)  236,137  - 236,137  (21,585)  (192,137)  22,415   _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
       

Total 236,137  - 236,137  (21,585)  (192,137)  22,415  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

       

As of December 31, 2015        

Description        

Derivatives, note 10(b)  384,734  - 384,734  (2,305)  (336,504)  45,925   _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
       

Total  384,734  - 384,734  (2,305)  (336,504)  45,925  
 _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
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32.2 Market risk management  

Market risk is the probability of  loss due to variations in the financial market conditions. The main 

variations to which Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries are exposed to are: exchange rates, 

interest rates and prices. Said variations can affect the value of financial assets and liabili ties of 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries. 

 

Intercorp Group separates its exposure to market risk into two blocks: (i) those that arise  from 

the fluctuation of the value of the trading investment portfolios, due to movements of market 

rates or prices ( ćirading BookĈ) and; (ii) those  that aris e from the changes in the structural 

positions of the portfolios that are not for trading ( ćBanking BookĈ) due to movements in interest 

rates, prices and exchange rates . 

 

(a) Trading Book  

In order to control and monitor the risks arising from the volatility of risk factors involved 

within each instrument, maximum exposure limits by currency, by type of investment, 

Value-at-Risk (VaR) and tolerance to expected maximum loss (Stop Loss), which  are 

controlled on a daily basis, have been established.  

 

The main measurement technique used to measure and control market risk is Value at 

g~©¡ =ćkvgĈ>A ­}~x} ~© v ©ªvª~©ª~xv¢ £zv©«¨z£z¤ª ª}vª §«v¤ª~{~z© ª}z £v®~£«£ ¢¥©© 

expected for a period of time an d a determined significance level under normal market 

conditions. The Group uses the Montecarlo VaR model for a period of one day, with 

exponential volatility and a 99 percent confidence level. The VaR is calculated by risk 

factor: interest rate, price or exchange rate and by type of investment: derivatives, fixed 

income and variable income.  

 

VaR models are designed to measure the market risk within a normal market environment. 

Those models assume that all modifications in risk factors affecting the normal market 

environment will follow a normal distribution. Said distribution is calculated through the 

use of historical data weighted in an exponential manner. Since the VaR is based mainly on 

historical data to provide information and does not clearly predict  future changes and 

modifications in risk factors, the probability of big market movements may be 

underestimated if said changes in risk factors cannot be aligned with the considered 

normal distribution. VaR can also be under or overestimated due to the hy potheses made 

on the risk factors and the relation among these factors with the specific instruments. In 

order to determine the reliability of VaR models, the actual results are regularly 

monitored to prove the validity of the assumptions and parameters us ed in the calculation 

of VaR. 
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Intercorp  Group includes within the VaR calculation the potential loss that may arise from 

the exposure to exchange  rate  risk. This risk is included in the calculation because the 

exchange position is the result of the spot  position plus the position in derivative products. 

Likewise, the total VaR includes the diversification effect that arises as a result of the 

interaction of the various market risk factors to which Intercorp Group is exposed.  

 

The validity of the VaR calc ulation is  verified  through back -testing, which uses historical 

data to ensure that the model adequately estimates the potential losses. Additionally, the 

sensitivity of risk factors is calculated, which shows the potential portfolio losses in the 

event of  certain fluctuations in factors. Said fluctuations include: interest rate shocks, 

exchange rate shocks and price shocks. 

 

kvg ¨z©«¢ª© ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¦¥¨ª{¥¢~¥ w¯ ª¯¦z ¥{ v©©zª v¨z ¦¨z©z¤ªzy wz¢¥­O 

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Equity investments  40,699  27,929  

Debt investments  5,975  3,183  

Derivatives 2,299  5,463  

Diversification effect  (4,522)  (3,343)  
 ________ ________ 
   

Consolidated VaR by type of asset  44,451  33,232  
 ________ ________ 

 

VaR results of Intercorp  Group by type of risk are the following:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Exchange rate risk 2,901  5,354  

Interest rate risk  6,363  3,585  

Price risk 40,064  27,636  

Diversification effect  (4,877)  (3,343)  
 ________ ________ 
   

Consolidated VaR by type of risk  44,451  33,232  
 ________ ________ 
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(b) Banking Book  

The portfolios which are not for trading are exposed to different financial risks, since they 

are sensitive to movements in market rates, which can result in a negative effect on the 

value of the assets compared to their  liabilities and, therefore, in their  net value.  

 

(i) Interest rate risk  

Interest rates fluctuate permanently in the market. These fluctuations affect 

Intercorp Group in two ways: first, through the change in the valuation of assets 

and liabilities; and secondly, affecting the cash flows at repricing. The variation in 

the valuation of assets and liabilities is increasingly sensitive as the term at which 

the asset or liability is repriced is extended. This process consists in the assessment 

of repricing periods. On the other hand, cash flows are affected when the 

instruments reac h maturity, when they are invested or placed at the new interest 

rates effective  in the market.  

 

Repricing gap 

An analysis of the repricing gaps is performed in order to determine the impact of 

the interest rates movements. Said analysis consists in assign ing the balances of 

the operations that will change the interest rate into different time gaps. Based on 

this analysis, the impact of the variation in the valuation of assets and liabilities on 

each gap is calculated. 
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i}z {¥¢¢¥­~¤| ªvw¢z ©«££v¨~°z© ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© z®¦¥©«¨z ª¥ ~¤ªz¨z©ª ¨vªz ¨~©¡C The {~¤v¤x~v¢ ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ª© v¨z ¦¨z©z¤ªzy vª w¥¥¡ ¬v¢«zA x¢v©©~{~zy w¯ ª}z ¨z¦¨~x~¤| ¦z¨~¥y ¥{ ª}z x¥¤ª¨vxªĊ© ~¤ªz¨z©ª ¨vªz 

or maturity date, whichever occurs first:  

 

 

As of December 31, 2016   ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Up to  

1 month  

From 1 to 3  

months  

From 3 to 12 

months  

From 1 to 5  

years  Over 5 years  

Non-interest  

bearing  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

        

Assets  

     

 

 Cash and due from banks 8,603,820  539,322  174,438  100,435  - 2,633,516  12,051,531  

Inter -bank funds 5,002  - - - - - 5,002  

Trading securities  671  - 7,063  - 4,556  208,043  220,333  

Available-for -sale investments 588,257  166,969  1,780,275  2,234,122  2,965,995  1,718,396  9,454,014  

Held-to-maturity investments  - 13,105  - 102,254  495,934  - 611,293  

Loan portfolio, net  3,345,814  3,300,582  6,364,078  10,037,785  4,709,696  (472,277)  27,285,678  

Accounts receivable and other assets, net  48,831  253,745  64,448  125,645  44,524  13,543,814  14,081,007  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Total assets  12,592,395  4,273,723  8,390,302  12,600,241  8,220,705  17,631,492  63,708,858  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

      

 

 Deposits and obligations 17,789,620  2,541,541  3,968,470  528,079  21,866  5,084,275  29,933,851  

Inter -bank funds 332,255  - - - - - 332,255  

Due to banks and correspondents  399,945  401,672  1,633,440  3,355,870  1,157,761  - 6,948,688  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  166,982  122,093  505,273  4,701,565  2,879,600  - 8,375,513  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  64,492  78,023  85,671  136,649  147,528  3,726,997  4,239,360  

Insurance contract liabilities  38,540  75,658  337,857  1,404,829  3,153,629  - 5,010,513  

Equity net - - - - - 8,868,678  8,868,678  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Total liabilities and equity  net  18,791,834  3,218,987  6,530,711  10,126,992  7,360,384  17,679,950  63,708,858  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Off-balance sheet accounts:         

Derivatives held as hedge assets 134,240  335,600  - - - 1,107,480  1,577,320  

Derivatives  held as hedge liabilities  - - - 469,840  - 1,107,480  1,577,320  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

 

134,240  335,600  - (469,840)  - - - 
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Marginal gap  (6,065,199)  1,390,336  1,859,591  2,003,409  860,321  (48,458)  - 
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 
        

Accumulated gap  (6,065,199)  (4,674,863)  (2,815,272)  (811,863)  48,458  - - 
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 
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As of December 31, 2015   ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Up to  

1 month  

From 1 to 3  

months  

From 3 to 12 

months  

From 1 to 5  

years  Over 5 years  

Non-interest  

bearing  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

        

Assets  

       Cash and due from banks 7,240,846  56,298  773,141  2,495,836  - 2,097,070  12,663,191  

Inter -bank funds 245,028  - - - - - 245,028  

Trading securities  - 47,520  3,009  60,859  10,093  10,313  131,794  

Available-for -sale investments 354,050  545,777  928,882  1,977,390  2,515,857  1,758,274  8,080,230  

Held-to-maturity investments  - 9,821  - 83,065  386,675  - 479,561  

Loan portfolio, net  3,118,541  3,239,303  6,171,610  9,491,382  4,477,721  (462,625)  26,035,932  

Accounts receivable and other assets, net  1,021,371  218,650  61,403  160,420  104,798  11,926,924  13,493,566  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Total assets  11,979,836  4,117,369  7,938,045  14,268,952  7,495,144  15,329,956  61,129,302  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

        Deposits and obligations 18,688,566  1,955,564  3,189,960  467,982  1,528  3,978,513  28,282,113  

Due to banks and correspondents  1,351,097  786,796  1,092,793  3,788,339  749,649  - 7,768,674  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  116,714  116,396  374,036  3,056,478  4,735,913  - 8,399,537  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  153,176  2,097,360  238,970  392,886  152,861  1,153,117  4,188,370  

Insurance contract liabilities  28,333  55,162  249,156  1,067,345  3,077,093  - 4,477,089  

Equity net - - - - - 8,013,519  8,013,519  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Total liabilities and equity  net  20,337,886  5,011,278  5,144,915  8,773,030  8,717,044  13,145,149  61,129,302  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Off-balance sheet accounts:  

       Derivatives held as hedge assets - 66,075  - - - 1,023,300  1,089,375  

Derivatives  held as hedge liabilities  - 33,073  33,002  - - 1,023,300  1,089,375  
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

 

- 33,002  (33,002)  - - - - 
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 

Marginal gap  (8,358,050)  (860,907)  2,760,128  5,495,922  (1,221,900)  2,184,807  - 
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 
        

Accumulated gap  (8,358,050)  (9,218,957)  (6,458,829)  (962,907)  (2,184,807)  - - 
 ___________ __________ __________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ 
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Sensitivity to changes in interest rates  

The table below presents the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all 

other variables held constant, in the consolidated income statements and in the consolidated 

statements of changes in equity, before Income Tax and non-controlling interest.  

 

In the case of the consolidated income statements, the calculation reflects the expected variation 

of the financial margin for a period equivalent to one year. In doing so, it takes into account the 

current position of revenues and expe nses, and annualizes the effect of the interest rates 

variations. The figures express the expected change in the value of assets less liabilities for 

various time gaps. Likewise, it includes the effect of the derivative financial instruments that are 

subject to interest rates.  

 

The fluctuations in interest rates are applied equally all through the yield curve, which means 

that it considers a parallel movement of the curve. The effects are considered independently for 

each of the two currencies presented.  

 

The effects of the estimated changes o n the interest rates of financial and insurance entities are 

the following:  

 

  As of December 31, 2016   ______________________________________________________________________ 

Currency  
Changes in 
basis points  

Sensitivity  
in net income  

Sensitivity  
in other net comprehensive 

income 

  
S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

US Dollars +/ -25  + / - 6,065  + / - 24,312  

US Dollars +/ -50  + / - 12,131  + / - 49,885  

US Dollars +75  + 18,196  + 77,980  

US Dollars +100  + 24,261  + 122,513  

Soles  +/ -50  - / +  13,719  - / +  93,510  

Soles +/ -75  - / +  20,577  - / +  147,078  

Soles +/ -100  - / +  27,436  - / +  205,237  

Soles +/ -150  - / +  41,156  - / +  335,586  
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  As of December 31, 2015   ______________________________________________________________________ 

Currency  
Changes in 
basis points  

Sensitivity  
in net income  

Sensitivity  
in other net comprehensive 

income 

  
S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

US Dollars +/ -25  + / - 3,784  + / - 20,838  

US Dollars +/ -50  + / - 7,563  + / - 44,125  

US Dollars +75  + 11,344  + 69,736  

US Dollars +100  + 15,126  + 97,734  

Soles  +/ -50  - / +  2,358  - / +  80,730  

Soles +/ -75  - / +  3,537  - / +  126,266  

Soles +/ -100  - / +  4,716  - / +  175,288  

Soles +/ -150  - / +  7,074  - / + 283,985  

 

The interest rate sensitivities set out in the tables above are illustrative only and are based on 

simplified scenarios. The figures represent the effect of the pro -forma movements in the net 

interest income based on the projected yield curve s xz¤v¨~¥© v¤y ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© x«¨¨z¤ª 

interest rate risk profile. This effect, however, does not incorporate actions that would be taken 

by Management to mitigate the impact of this interest rate risk. In addition, Intercorp Group 

seeks proactively to cha nge the interest rate risk profile to minimize losses and optimize net 

revenues. The projections above also assume that interest rate of all maturities move by the 

same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net interest income of so me 

rates changing while others remain unchanged. The projections make other simplifying 

assumptions too, including that all positions run to maturity.  

 

The interest rates of the real estate and retail businesses are mainly fixed and long -term. Thus, 

Management considers that it is not relevant to show their sensitiveness. Likewise, the loans 

related to these businesses were taken for the development of the specific shopping malls, stores 

and supermarkets. Therefore, in the opinion of Management of Intercorp  Perú and its 

Subsidiaries, loans that are kept at fixed rates will be renewed or not depending on the strategic 

decisions that will be taken for each business in the future.  
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Sensitivity to price variations  

Available-for -sale investments in shares and in mutual and investment funds are not  considered 

as part of the investments for interest rate sensitivity calculation purposes; however, a 

calculation of sensitivity in market prices and the effect on expected unrealized gain or loss in the 

consolidated statements of other comprehensive income, before Income Tax and non-controlling 

interest, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, is presented below:  

 

Market price sensitivity  

Changes in 

market price  2016  2015  

 

% S/(000)  S/(000)  

    

Shares and participations  +/ -10  39,033  53,843  

Shares and participations  +/ -25  97,583  134,607  

Shares and participations  +/ -30  117,100  161,528  

Mutual funds and investment funds 

participations  +/ -10  
132,806  108,157  

Mutual funds and investment funds 

participations  +/ -25  
332,016  270,392  

Mutual funds and investment funds 

participations  +/ -30  
398,419  324,470  
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(ii)  Foreign exchange risk  

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries are exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currency prevailing on its f inancial position and cash flows. Managements of the Subsidiaries set limits on the levels of exposure by 

currency a nd in total and ćovernight Ĉ ¦¥©~ª~¥¤©A ­}~x} v¨z £¥¤~ª¥¨zy yv~¢¯C b¥©ª ¥{ ª}z v©©zª© v¤y ¢~vw~¢~ª~z© ~¤ {¥¨z~|¤ x«¨¨z¤x¯ v¨z ©ªvªzy ~¤ jh Y¥¢¢v¨©C i¨v¤sactions in foreign currency are made at free market exchange rates. 

 

As of December 31, 2016, the weight ed average exchange rate of free market published by the SBS for transactions in US Dollars was S/3.352 per US$1 for buying a nd S/3.360 per US$1 for selling (S/3.408 and S/3.413 as of December 31, 2015, 

respectively).  As of December 31, 2016, the exchange  rate for the accounting of asset and liability accounts in foreign currency set by the SBS was S/3.356 per US$1 (S/3.411 as o f December 31, 2015).  

 

i}z ªvw¢z wz¢¥­ ¦¨z©z¤ª© ª}z yzªv~¢ ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© ¦¥©~ª~¥¤O 

 

 
2016  2015   _______________________________________________________________________ _______________________________________________________________________ 

 

US Dollars Soles Other currencies  Total  US Dollars Soles Other currencies  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

Assets  

       

 

Cash and due from banks 10,504,912  1,273,359  273,260  12,051,531  11,021,785  1,395,470  245,936  12,663,191  

Inter -bank funds - 5,002  - 5,002  - 245,028  - 245,028  

Trading securities  97,732  122,601  - 220,333  87,432  44,362  - 131,794  

Available-for -sale investments 4,806,711  4,638,799  8,504  9,454,014  4,741,259  3,313,359  25,612  8,080,230  

Held-to-maturity investments  - 611,293  - 611,293  - 479,561  - 479,561  

Loan portfolio, net  8,654,635  18,631,043  - 27,285,678  8,828,777  17,207,155  - 26,035,932  

Due from customers on acceptances  16,392  - - 16,392  25,357  - - 25,357  

Accounts receivable and other assets, net  191,004  989,120  3,831  1,183,955  272,407  928,332  9,055  1,209,794  
 

___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 
24,271,386  26,271,217  285,595  50,828,198  24,977,017  23,613,267  280,603  48,870,887  

 
___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

Liabilities  

       

 

Deposits and obligations 15,414,005  14,411,527  108,319  29,933,851  15,649,041  12,418,069  215,003  28,282,113  

Inter -bank funds 332,255  - - 332,255  - - - - 

Due to banks and correspondents  1,667,514  5,281,174  - 6,948,688  1,998,331  5,770,343  - 7,768,674  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  6,795,317  1,580,196  - 8,375,513  7,346,005  1,053,532  - 8,399,537  

Due from customers on acceptances  16,392  - - 16,392  25,357  - - 25,357  

Insurance contract liabilities  1,957,701  3,052,812  - 5,010,513  1,929,909  2,547,180  - 4,477,089  

Accounts payable, provision and other liabilities  482,130  2,827,492  17,402  3,327,024  560,957  2,814,929  33,422  3,409,308  
 

___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

26,665,314  27,153,201  125,721  53,944,236  27,509,600  24,604,053  248,425  52,362,078  
 

___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

Forwards position, net  (149,653)  189,313  (39,660)  - (994,727)  1,050,808  (56,081)  - 

Currency swaps position, net  (9,583)  9,583  - - 1,685,087  (1,685,087)  - - 

Cross currency swaps position, net  (197,528)  197,528  - - (200,765)  200,765  - - 

Options position, net  (6,102)  6,102  - - (18,113)  18,113  - - 

 ćXv¢¢ h¦¨zvy©Ĉ position (*)  1,107,480  (1,107,480)  - - 1,023,300  (1,023,300)  - - 
 

___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

         
Monetary position, net  (1,649,314)  (1,586,938)  120,214  (3,116,038)  (1,037,801)  (2,429,487)  (23,903)  (3,491,191)  
 

___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

(*)  Corresponds to the hedged position (nominal value) of the Call Spreads estimated by Ma nagement as of December 31, 2015 . In this assessment, Management projected that the USD/PEN cash exchange rate upon expiry date of the options 

(June and October 2021) will fluctuate within the minimum and maximum prices established in the options
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As of December 31, 2016, Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries granted indirect loans (contingent 

operations) in foreign c urrency for approximately US$658,719,000, equivalent to 

S/2,210,661,000  (US$788,284,000, equivalent to S/2,688,837,000 as of December 31, 2015); 

see Note 19.  

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries manage the exchange rate risk through the matching of its 

asset and liability operations, overseeing the global exchange position on a daily basis. The global 

exchange position of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries is equivalent to the result of short 

positions minus long positions in currencies other than Soles. The global exchange position 

includes the spot positions and also the derivative positions.  

 

Sensitivity to variations in exchange rate  

Sensitivities for the case of the US Dollar variations are presented below. Given its volume, the 

position in US Dollars is the sole exposure that could cause Intercorp Group a material loss. The 

negative variations represent potential losses while the positive variations represent potential 

profit.  

 

Sensitivity analysis  

Changes in 

exchange rates  2016  2015  

 % S/(000)  S/(000)  

Devaluation      

US Dollar 5 82,466  51,890  

US Dollar 10  164,931  103,780  

US Dollar 15  247,397  155,670  

    

Revaluation     

US Dollar 5 (82,466)  (51,890)  

US Dollar 10  (164,931)  (103,780)  

US Dollar 15  (247,397)  (155,670)  
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32.3 Liquidity risk management  

Liquidity risk consists in Intercorp Perú  v¤y ~ª© h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ ~¤vw~¢~ª¯ ª¥ x¥£¦¢¯ ­~ª} ª}z £vª«¨~ª¯ 

of its obligations, thus incurring in losses that significantly affect its equity position. This risk may 

arise as a result of various eve nts such as: the unexpected decrease of funding sources, the 

inability to rapidly settle assets, unexpected or non -foreseen insurance claims,among others.  

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have determined a set of indicators that are controlled and 

reported daily, which establish the minimum liquidity levels allowed for the short -term and reflect 

several risk aspects such as: concentration, stability, position by currency, main depositors, etc.  

 

Likewise, Intercorp and its Subsidiaries assess the medium -term and long -term liquidity through a 

structural analysis of their funds inflows and outflows in different maturity terms. This process 

allows to know, for each currency, the various funding sourc es, how liquidity needs increase and 

which terms are mismatched. Both for assets and liabilities, assumptions are considered for the 

operations that do not have determined maturity dates, such as revolving loans, savings and 

similar ones, as well as contin gent liabilities, such as non-used letters of credit or lines of credit. 

Based on this information, the necessary decisions to maintain target liquidity levels are made.  

 

In the case of Interbank, liquidity is managed by the Vice -Presidency of Capital Market, which 

chairs the ALCO, where positions, movements, indicators and limits on liquidity management are 

presented. Liquidity risk is supervised by the GIR Committee, defining the risk level that 

Interbank is willing to takes, and the corresponding indicat ors, limits and controls are reviewed. 

The Market Risk Division is in charge of tracking said indicators. Interbank takes short -term 

deposits and transforms them into longer -term loans. Therefore, its exposure to liquidity risk 

increases. Interbank maintai ns a set of deposits that are historically renewed or maintained, and 

which represent a stable funding source.  

 

In the case of Interseguro, it is exposed to requirements other than its cash resources, mainly 

claims resulting from its short -term insurance c ontracts. The Board of Directors establishes limits 

on the minimum proportion of the maturity funds  available to meet these requirements and in a 

minimum level of lines of credit that must be available to cover claims at unexpected claim levels.  

 

As regards long-term insurance contracts, considering the types of products offered and the 

long-term contractual relationship with client (the liquidity risk is not material) the emphasis is on 

enough availability of flow of assets, and the term matching of the l atter with liability obligations 

(mathematical technical reserves), for which there are sufficiency and adequacy indicators . 

 

In the case of Inteligo Bank, the Board of Directors has established liquidity levels as to the 

minimum amount of available funds required to meet such requirements and the minimum level 

of inter -banking facilities and other loan mechanisms that should exist to cover unexpected 

withdrawals. Inteligo Bank holds a short -term asset portfolio, comprised of loans and liquid 

investments to  ensure sufficient liquidity.  
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^¤ªz¢~|¥ Wv¤¡Ċ© {~¤v¤x~v¢ v©©zª© ~¤x¢«yz ¤on-listed equity investments, which generally are not 

liquid. In addition, Inteligo Bank holds investments in closed ( non-listed) and open-ended 

investment funds, which may be subject ª¥ ¨zyz£¦ª~¥¤ ¨z©ª¨~xª~¥¤© ©«x} v© ć©~yz ¦¥x¡zª©Ĉ v¤y  

redemption limits. As a result, Inteligo Bank may not be able to settle some of its investments in 

these instruments in due time in order to meet its liquidity requirements . 

 

In the case of the real es tate and retail segments, Management of said segments focuses its 

efforts on maintaining sufficient cash and availability of funding through an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities, plus the ability to settle transactions, mainly , debt operations . In that 

regard , and though  short and long term financial obligations in significant amounts are 

maintained , Management considers that this situation does not pose a limitation to its operations 

due to the support and financial and managerial backing that Intercorp Group can provide to the 

permanent  monitoring of liquidity  requirements.  
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The following table presents Intercorp Perú Ċ© and its h«w©~y~v¨~z©Ċ cash flows payable undiscounted according to contractual maturities (including the  payment of 

future  interest):  

 

 

As of December 31, 2016   _________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Up to 1  

month  

From 1 to 3  

 months  

From 3 to 12 

months  

From 1 to 5  

years  

Over 5  

years  Total  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

       

Financial liabilities by type        

Deposits and obligations 21,522,616  2,682,476  4,034,946  1,863,977  39,898  30,143,913  

Inter -bank funds 332,255  - - - - 332,255  

Due to banks and correspondents  539,940  494,666  1,709,719  4,279,682  1,245,916  8,269,923  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  76,687  146,864  925,880  6,744,750  3,755,450  11,649,631  

Due from customers on acceptances  11,314  2,779  2,299  - - 16,392  

Insurance contract liabilities  38,540  75,657  337,857  1,404,829  7,111,595  8,968,478  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  813,405  1,965,868  149,225  143,533  18,808  3,090,839  
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
       

Total non -derivative financial liabilities  23,334,757  5,368,310  7,159,926  14,436,771  12,171,667  62,471,431  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

       

Derivative held for trading (*)        

Contractual amounts receivable ( inflow)  292,171  269,707  972,559  3,429,070  934,040  5,897,547  

Contractual amounts payable (outflow)  282,953  260,148  962,323  3,417,194  979,749  5,902,367  
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
       

Total  9,218  9,559  10,236  11,876  (45,709)  (4,820)  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

       

Derivative s held as hedges (**)        

Contractual amounts receivable ( inflow)  - 41  412  1,630  87,644  89,727  

Contractual amounts payable (outflow)  - 44  160  - - 204  
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
       

Total  - (3) 252  1,630  87,644  89,523  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
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   As of December 31, 2015   ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Up to 1  

month  

From 1 to 3  

 months  

From 3 to 12 

months  

From 1 to 5  

years  

Over 5  

years  Total  

 

S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

       

Financial liabilities by type        

Deposits and obligations 21,614,036  2,094,715  3,033,129  1,670,900  1,586  28,414,366  

Due to banks and correspondents  308,137  612,701  2,333,077  4,415,239  1,531,068  9,200,222  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  6,602  87,213  471,184  7,005,092  3,608,498  11,178,589  

Due from customers on acceptances  3,318  21,641  398  - - 25,357  

Insurance contract liabilities  32,215  63,025  286,007  1,288,478  6,612,021  8,281,746  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  489,986  2,007,485  574,759  102,008  87,103  3,261,341  
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
       

Total non -derivative financial liabilities  22,454,294  4,886,780  6,698,554  14,481,717  11,840,276  60,361,621  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

       

Derivative held for trading (*)        

Contractual amounts receivable ( inflow)  1,031,202  476,471  672,544  3,366,071  1,392,013  6,938,301  

Contractual amounts payable (outflow)  1,045,216  479,377  675,525  3,349,353  1,441,081  6,990,552  
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
       

Total  (14,014)  (2,906)  (2,981)  16,718  (49,068)  (52,251)  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

       

Derivative held as hedges (**)        

Contractual amounts receivable ( inflow)  - - - - 95,190  95,190  

Contractual amounts payable (outflow)  - 529  227  - - 756  
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
       

Total  - (529)  (227)  - 95,190  94,434  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

(*)  Includes contracts whose future flows agreed to be exchanged are settled on a non -delivery basis and on a full -delivery basis.  

 (**)  Only includes contracts whose future flows agreed to be exchanged are settled on a non -delivery basis.  

 

The table below shows the contractual maturity of contingent credits (indirect loans) granted by Intercorp Group as of the dates of the consolidated statements of financial position:  

 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Up to 1 month  936,846  1,357,477  

From 1 to 3 months  1,181,865  1,108,825  

From 3 to 12 months  2,100,567  2,137,548  

From 1 to 5 years  168,627  284,486  

Over 5 years 423  - 
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  4,388,328  4,888,336  
 __________ __________ 

 

The Group expects that not all of the contingent loans or commitments will be drawn before the maturity date of the commitments.
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32.4 Insurance risk management  

The risk under an insurance contract, in any of its various forms, i s the possibility that the 

insured event occurs and, therefore, uncertainty is realized in the amount of the resulting claim. 

Given the nature of the insurance contract, this risk is random and, therefore, unpredictable.  

 

Regarding a portfolio of insurance  contracts where the theory of large numbers and probabilities 

for pricing and provisions is applied, the main risk faced by the insurance business of Intercorp 

Perú and its Subsidiaries, managed by Interseguro, is that claims and/or payments of benefits 

covered by the policies exceed the book value of insurance liabilities. This could happen to the 

extent that the frequency and/or severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. The 

factors that are considered to perform the assessment of insura nce risks are the following:  

 

- Frequency and severity of claims;  

- Sources of uncertainty in the calculation of the payment of future claims;  

- Mortality tables for different coverage plans in the life insurance segment;  

- Changes in market rates of inves tments that directly affect the discount rates to calculate 

mathematical reserves; and  

- Specific requirements established by the SBS according to insurance plans.  

 

On the other hand, Interseguro has contracts of automatic reinsurance coverage that protect  it 

from losses due to frequency and severity. The objective of this reinsurance negotiation is that 

the total net insurance losses do not affect the equity and liquidity of Interseguro in any year. 

^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© ¦¥¢~x¯ ~© ª¥ ©~|¤ x¥¤ª¨vxª© ­~ª} x¥£¦v¤~z© with international rating dete rmined by 

the rules of the SBS. 

 

Life insurance contracts   

Interseguro has developed its insurance underwriting strategy  in order  to diversify the type of 

insurance risks accepted. Factors that aggravate the insurance risk include lack of risk 

diversification in terms of type and amount of risk and geographic location. The underwriting 

strategy aims to ensure that underwriting risks  are well diversified in terms of type and amount 

of risk. Underwriting limits serve to implement the selection criteria for appropriate risk . As of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, most of the insurance contracts entered into by Interseguro are 

located in the city of Lima.  

 

The sufficiency of reserves is a principle of insurance management. Technical reserves for claims 

v¤y ¦¨z£~«£© v¨z z©ª~£vªzy w¯ ^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© vxª«v¨~z© v¤y ¨z¬~z­zy w¯ ~¤yz¦z¤yz¤ª z®¦z¨ª© 

when deemed necessary. 
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^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© bv¤v|z£z¤ª x¥nstantly monitors trends in claims, which allows it to perform 

estimates of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) that are supported by recent information.  

 

On the other hand, Interseguro is exposed to the risk that mortality and morbidity  rates 

associated with its clients  do not reflect the actual mortality and morbidity  and may cause the 

premium calculated for the coverage offered to be insufficient to cover claims. For this reason, 

Interseguro performs a careful risk selection or subscription when issu ing policies, which allows it 

to classify the degree of risk presented by a proposed insured, analyzing characteristics such as 

gender, smoking condition , health condition , among others.  

 

In the particular case of annuities, the risk assumed by Interseguro  is that the real life expectancy 

of the insured population is greater than that estimated when determining income, which would 

mean a deficit of reserves to comply with the payment of pensions.  

 

On the other hand, insurance products do not have particular ly significant terms or clauses that 

could have a significant impact or represent significant uncertainties upon ^¤ªz¨©z|«¨¥Ċ© xv©} 

flows.  

 

32.5 Real estate risk management  

Through SBS Resolution No.2840 -GEFG ćgz|«¢vª~¥¤s on Management of  Real Estate Risk in 

^¤©«¨v¤xz X¥£¦v¤~z©ĈA yvªzy bv¯ FFA GEFGA ~¤©«¨v¤xz x¥£¦v¤~z© v¨z ¨z§«~¨zy ª¥ v¦¦¨¥¦¨~vªz¢¯ 

identify  measure, control and report the level of real estate risk that they face. Likewise, for both 

regulated and non -regulated entities by t he SBS, the real estate risk is defined as the possibility 

of losses from changes or volatility of market prices of real properties. See note 7. 

 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries have identified the following risks associated to the real estate 

investments portfolio:  

 

- The cost to develop a project may increase if there are delays in the planning process. 

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries receive services from advisors who are experts in the 

requirements of specific planning on the project location in o rder to reduce risks that 

might arise in the planning process.  

 

- A major lessee may become insolvent causing a significant loss in rental income and a 

reduction in the value of the associated property. To reduce this risk, Intercorp Perú  and 

its Subsidiaries assess the financial position of all the prospective lessees and decide 

about the appropriate level of safety required, such as lease deposits or guarantees.  

 

- The fair values of the investment property portfolio could be affected by the cash flows 

generated by the tenants and/or lessees, as well as by the economic conditions of Per u 

and future expectations . 
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32.6 Capital management  

Intercorp  Group manages in an active manner  a capital base in order to cover the risks inherent 

to its activities. Capital adequacy of Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries is monitored by using 

regulations and ratios established by the SBS ; see Note 17(f).  

 

32.7 Operational risk management  

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, f raud or external 

events. When internal controls fail, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal 

or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss.  Intercorp  Group cannot expect to eliminate 

all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to 

potential risks, Intercorp  Group is able to manage these risks. Controls include mainly the 

segregation of duties, access, authoriz ation and reconciliation procedures, staff training and 

assessment processes, including the revision by Internal Audit.  
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33. Fair value  

(a) Financial instruments measured at their  fair value hierarchy  

 The following table presents an analysis of the financial instruments that are measured at fair value, including the level of  hierarchy  of their fair value. The amounts are based on the 

balances presented in the consolidated statements of financial position:  

 

 

As of December 31, 2016  As of December 31, 2015   _______________________________________________________________ _______________________________________________________________ 

 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  

 
S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  

         

Financial assets  

        Trading securities  58,600  160,565  1,168  220,333  73,881  57,913  - 131,794  

Available-for -sale investments          

Debt instruments  4,683,257  2,965,877  - 7,649,134  4,104,933  2,276,943  - 6,381,876  

Royalty Pharma - - 68,264  68,264  - - 229,001  229,001  

Mutual funds and investment funds  participations  167,431  720,142  440,490  1,328,063  420,243  307,051  354,272  1,081,566  

Shares of local and foreign private sector entities and others  314,865  7,204  - 322,069  303,219  6,206  - 309,425  

Derivatives receivable  - 289,301  - 289,301  - 421,495  - 421,495  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 

5,224,153  4,143,089  509,922  9,877,164  4,902,276  3,069,608  583,273  8,555,157  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Accrued interest     86,484     78,362  
    __________    __________ 
         

    9,963,648     8,633,519  
    __________    __________ 

Financial liabilities          

Derivatives payable  - 236,137  - 236,137  - 384,734  - 384,734  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
         

 

- 236,137  - 236,137  - 384,734  - 384,734  
 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

 

Financial assets included in Level 1 are those measured on the basis of information that is available in the market, to the e xtent that their quoted prices reflect an active and liquid 

market and they  are available in any centralized trading mechanism, age nt, price supplier or regulatory entity.  

 

Financial instruments included in Level 2 are valued with the market prices of other instruments having similar characteristics or with financial valuation models based on information 

of variables observable in the market (interest rate curves, price vectors, etc.).  

 

Financial assets included in Level 3 are valued by using assumptions and data that do not correspond to prices of operations traded in the market. Fair value is estimated using a 

discounted cash flo w (DCF) model.  The valuation requires Management to make certain assumptions about the model variables and data , including forecasts on cash flows, discount 

rate, credit risk and volatility.  
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The table below presents a description of significant unobserv able data used in the  valuation:  

 

 Valuation  

Technique Significant unobservable inputs  Valuation  

Changes in basis 

points  

Sensitivity of 

inputs at  fair value  

     S/(000)  

      Royalty Pharma DCF Method Sales forecast Average sector analysis,estimates  +/ -1,000  +/ -10,686  

  WACC 8.0% +500  -19,612  

    -500  +29,365  

Mutual funds and investment funds participations  DCF Method Discount rate  Depends on the credit risk  +500  -2,923  

    -500  +3,779  

  WACC 9.0% - 15.9% +500  -12,631  

    -500  +10,688  

 
Income approach 

Ratio Price / Average Sales/ 

EBITDA 

Depends on the sector of the Company  

+/ -500  +/ -8,571  

 Comparable multiples  Ratio Price / Sales 
Depends on the sector of the Company  +/ -1,000  +/ -772  

 Market value Price 
Depends on the sector of the Company  +/ -500  +/ -656  

 Equity Value  Depends on the credit risk  +/ -500  +/ -536  

 

The tables below include a reconciliation of fair value measurement of financial instruments classified by Intercorp Group as Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy:  

 

 Available -for -sale investments   _____________________________________________ 

 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  
   

Balance as of January 1  583,273  427,011  

Purchases 186,696  226,962  

Sales (226,821)  (90,624)  

Valuation recognized in the consolidated statements of other 

comprehensive income (33,226)  19,924  
 __________ __________ 
   

Balance as of December 31  509,922  583,273  
 __________ __________ 

 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the unrealized gain on Level 3 financial instruments amounts to S/53,495,000 and S/131,452,000, and the unrealized loss amounts to 

S/9,250,000 and S/3,436,000, respectively . During 2016 and 2015, there were no transfers of financial instruments from Level 3 to Level 1 or to Level 2.  
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(b) Financial instruments not meas ured at fair value  

The table below presents the comparison between the book values v¤y {v~¨ ¬v¢«z© ¥{ ª}z \¨¥«¦Ċ© {~¤v¤x~v¢ ~¤©ª¨«£z¤ª© ª}vª v¨z ¤¥ª £zv©«¨zy vª {v~¨ ¬v¢«zA ¦¨z©z¤ªzy w¯ ¢z¬z¢ ¥{ {v~¨ ¬v¢«z 

hierarchy:  

    
 As of December 31, 2016  As of December 31, 2015  
 _____________________________________________________________________________________ _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Fair 

value 

Book 

value Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

Fair 

value 

Book 

value 

 S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  S/(000)  
           

Assets            

Cash and due from banks - 12,051,531  - 12,051,531  12,051,531  - 12,663,191  - 12,663,191  12,663,191  

Inter -bank funds - 5,002  - 5,002  5,002  - 245,028  - 245,028  245,028  

Held-to-maturity investments  204,275  401,024  - 605,299  611,293  - 440,645  - 440,645  479,561  

Loans, net - 28,166,459  - 28,166,459  27,285,678  - 26,614,163  - 26,614,163  26,035,932  

Due from customers on  acceptances - 16,392  - 16,392  16,392  - 25,357  - 25,357  25,357  

Accounts receivable and other assets, net  - 894,654  - 894,654  894,654  - 788,299  - 788,299  788,299  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
           

Total  204,275  41,535,062  - 41,739,337  40,864,550  - 40,776,683  - 40,776,683  40,237,368  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

           

Liabilities            

Deposits and obligations - 29,936,964  - 29,936,964  29,933,851  - 28,273,921  - 28,273,921  28,282,113  

Inter -bank funds - 332,255  - 332,255  332,255  - - - - - 

Due to banks and correspondents  - 7,271,094  - 7,271,094  6,948,688  - 7,961,144  - 7,961,144  7,768,674  

Bonds, notes and other obligations  4,113,938  4,685,298  - 8,799,236  8,375,513  4,125,385  4,923,821  - 9,049,206  8,399,537  

Due from customers on acceptances  - 16,392  - 16,392  16,392  - 25,357  - 25,357  25,357  

Insurance contract liabilities  - 5,010,513  - 5,010,513  5,010,513  - 4,477,089  - 4,477,089  4,477,089  

Accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities  - 3,090,887  - 3,090,887  3,090,887  - 3,024,574  - 3,024,574  3,024,574  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 
           

Total  4,113,938  50,343,403  - 54,457,341  53,708,099  4,125,385  48,685,906  - 52,811,291  51,977,344  
 ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________ 

 

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values depend on the terms and risk characteristics of each financial instrument 

and they include the following:  

 

(i) Long-term fixed -rate and variable -rate loans are assessed by the Group based on parameters such as interest rates, specific country risk factors, individual creditworthiness of the cu stomer and the risk characteristics of the 

financed project. Based on thi s evaluation, provisions  are taken into account for the expected losses of these loans. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the book value of loans, net of provisions , were not significantly 

different from their calculated fair values.  

 

(ii)  Instruments whic h fair value approximate s their book value - For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a shor t term maturity (less than 3  months) it is assumed that the book values approximate to 

their fair values. This assumption is also ap plied to demand deposits, saving s accounts without a specific maturity and variable -rate financial instruments.  

 

(iii)  Fixed-rate financial instruments - The fair value of fixed rate financial  assets and liabilities at amortized cost is determined  by comparing market interest rates when they were first recognized with current market rates 

offered for similar financial instruments for the remaining term to maturity. The fair value of fixed interest rate  deposits is based on discounted cash flows using market  interest rates for financial instruments with similar 

credit risk and maturity. For quoted debt issued the fair value is determined  based on quoted market prices. When quot ations are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on the yield curve of the adequate  

interest rate for the remaining term to maturity.  



Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in 

Spanish ą Note 37  

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  (continued)  

 

 

159  

34 . Fiduciary activities and management of funds  

Intercorp Perú  and its Subsidiaries provide  custody, trust, corporate administration, investment 

management and consulting services to third parties, on which instructions are executed on behalf of 

clients and no responsibility is assumed for such decisions. These assets are not included in these 

consolidated financial statements.  

 

As of December 31, 201 6 and 2015,  the managed value of the financial assets managed is as follows:  

 

Year 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

Investment funds  11,638,129  10,684,729  

Mutual funds  3,511,240  2,927,113  
 ___________ ___________ 
   

Total  15,149,369  13,611,842  
 ___________ ___________ 

 

35. Commitments  

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, Supermercados Peruanos and Tiendas Peruanas  have entered into 

lease contracts with third parties for the premises of the stores where they develop their operations. 

The commitment s assumed correspond to the monthly rent, fixed or variable, whichever is higher.  

 

The total unaudited amount of the com mitments assumed until 2052, calculated on the basis of the 

fixed rent al before consolidation adjustments, will be paid as follows:  

 

Year 2016  2015  

 S/(000)  S/(000)  

   

2016 ą 2020  393,133  403,903  

2021 ą 2025  316,653  342,400  

2026 ą 2031  325,669  371,454  

2032 ą 2036  226,384  271,016  

2037 ą 2052  284,628  468,412  
 __________ __________ 
   

Total  1,546,467  1,857,185  
 __________ __________ 

 

36 . Subsequent events  

^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© bv¤v|z£z¤ª ~© x«¨¨z¤ª¢¯ v©©z©©~¤| ª}z ~£¦vxª ¥{ ª}z z{fects produced by the climate 

events in Peru y«¨~¤| ª}z {~¨©ª §«v¨ªz¨ ¥{ GEFLC ^¤ ¥¦~¤~¥¤ ¥{ ^¤ªz¨x¥¨¦ \¨¥«¦Ċ© bv¤v|z£z¤ªA v¤¯ ~£¦vxª 

would not be material with regard to the consolidated financial statements . 

 

37 . Additional explanation for the English translation  

The accompanying financial statements are presented on the basis of the IFRS. In the event of any 

discrepancy, the Spanish language version prevails.  
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